

# **IP Address Manager**

Version 2024.4



Last Updated: Tuesday, October 15, 2024



© 2024 SolarWinds Worldwide, LLC. All rights reserved.

This document may not be reproduced by any means nor modified, decompiled, disassembled, published or distributed, in whole or in part, or translated to any electronic medium or other means without the prior written consent of SolarWinds. All right, title, and interest in and to the software, services, and documentation are and shall remain the exclusive property of SolarWinds, its affiliates, and/or its respective licensors.

SOLARWINDS DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, CONDITIONS, OR OTHER TERMS, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE, ON THE DOCUMENTATION, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION NONINFRINGEMENT, ACCURACY, COMPLETENESS, OR USEFULNESS OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN. IN NO EVENT SHALL SOLARWINDS, ITS SUPPLIERS, NOR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES, WHETHER ARISING IN TORT, CONTRACT OR ANY OTHER LEGAL THEORY, EVEN IF SOLARWINDS HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

The SolarWinds, SolarWinds & Design, Orion, and THWACK trademarks are the exclusive property of SolarWinds Worldwide, LLC or its affiliates, are registered with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, and may be registered or pending registration in other countries. All other SolarWinds trademarks, service marks, and logos may be common law marks or are registered or pending registration. All other trademarks mentioned herein are used for identification purposes only and are trademarks of (and may be registered trademarks) of their respective companies.

## **Table of Contents**

Introduction	7
How IPAM works	
IPAM concepts and terminology	9
Configure IPAM	
Define system settings for IPAM	14
Configure subnet scan settings manually	
The IPAM Scan Job Status page	
Neighbor scanning in IPAM	
Populate UDT User and Switch Ports in the IPAM IP Address View	
Manage credentials	
User role delegation in IPAM	
Custom properties	
IPAM groups	
Add Additional Polling Engines to IPAM	
Display or change polling engine assignments in IPAM	
Add IP addresses to IPAM	
Discover devices using Active Directory domain controllers	
Add discovered devices to SolarWinds IPAM	
Import IP addresses	41
Add IPv6 addresses to IPAM	
Assign a subnet to an orphan IP address in IPAM	
Learn more about organizing IPv6 address spaces in IPAM	
Manage Subnets and IP Addresses page	
IP Address View	
Network View	51
Chart View	
Manage IP addresses	
Search for IP addresses in IPAM	
Edit IP Address page	55

Set an IP address status to Available, Used, Transient, or Reserved in IPAM	
Create a range of IP addresses in a subnet	
Organize an IP address space into IPAM subnets	
IP address conflicts	
Remove monitored IP addresses from a subnet	
Overlapping IP addresses and hierarchy groups in IPAM	64
Adding IPv6 addresses to IPAM	
IP address requests	
The new IP Request form access settings	
Request an IP Address using the IP Request link	73
Request an IP address with IPAM access	74
Process IP address requests	
The IPAM - All Created IP Requests report	77
IP Request Settings	
Request an IP address with IPAM access	
Manage subnets in IPAM	81
Add IPv4 subnets and IP addresses	81
Create subnets	
Edit subnets	
Bulk Add Subnets	
Export subnets	
IPAM Subnet Allocation wizard	
Manage supernets in IPAM	
Create supernets	
Edit supernets	
DHCP and DNS Management views	
Switch between versions	
The IPAM DHCP and DNS Management view	
The IPAM DHCP & DNS Management (Legacy) view	
Monitor and manage DHCP servers	
Requirements for monitoring Cisco and ASA servers	
Manage and monitor ISC DHCP servers	

Add, edit, or remove a DHCP server to IPAM	
DHCP Impersonation	
Edit a DHCP Server	
Create or edit a scope on a DHCP server	
Set up and monitor Windows DHCP server failover	
Reserve an IP Address on a Windows DHCP server	
Troubleshooting DHCP and DNS connections in IPAM	
ARP table	
Monitor and Manage DNS servers in IPAM	
ISC DNS server settings in IPAM	
Add a DNS server	
DNS server WMI permissions	
BIND permissions	
IPAM DNS records	
DNS Records Mismatch	
Edit a DNS server	
Remove DNS servers in IPAM	
Add a DNS zone	
Edit a DNS zone	
DNS secondary zones and zone transfers	
Monitor the Infoblox environment	
Requirements	
Known limitations	
Integrate IPAM with VMware	
Integrate IPAM with VMware vRealize Orchestrator	
Integrate IPAM with VMware vRealize Automation	
Amazon Route 53 and Azure DNS monitoring	
Add a Cloud account with DNS scanning in IPAM	
Manage IPAM settings for a cloud account	
Add new Cloud DNS zones to IPAM	
Monitoring Cloud DNS zones and records in IPAM	
Monitor cloud instances and VMs	

Use the SWIS API to perform IPAM operations	
Get started with the API	177
IPAM status icons	



## Introduction

This is the Administrator Guide for IPAM IP Address Manager 2024.4. It forms part of the IPAM documentation set, and should be consulted after you have installed or upgraded IPAM and worked your way through the <u>IPAM Getting Started Guide</u>.

For instructions on installing and upgrading IPAM and other IPAM products, see the <u>Solar Winds</u><u>Installer</u>.

Complete IPAM documentation in both online and PDF format can be found in the IPAM Documentation area of the Solar Winds Customer Success Center.

A video overview of IPAM can be found here: <u>Manage Change and Avoid Costly Errors with</u> <u>SolarWinds IP Address Manager.</u>

## How IPAM works

IPAM provides <u>integrated DNS, DHCP and IP address management</u>, allowing you to monitor your entire IP address space from a single dashboard.

IPAM uses ICMP, SNMP and neighborhood scanning to collect details from the devices on your network, and uses this information to track and display <u>IP address usage</u>, and automatically mark IP addresses that are no longer in use. Additionally, WMI calls to DHCP and DNS servers are made to retrieve lease and scope details. You can make DHCP reservations and DNS entries for IP reservations all at once from a single screen. Data is stored for tracking and auditing purposes in the database. All statistics are accessible using the SolarWinds Web Console.

SOLARWINDS

## **IPAM concepts and terminology**

The following sections define networking concepts and terminology as used within IPAM. Some IPAM terms correspond specifically to status icons. See <u>IPAM status icons</u> for more information about the icons.

Available All addresses in defined groups, subnets, and supernets are, by default, considered Available until they are otherwise assigned unless they are typically reserved, as in the case of the network address (*nnn.nnn.nnn.*0) and broadcast address (*nnn.nnn.nnn.*255). In IPAM, available IP addresses are indicated with a gray IP icon. See IPAM status icons for more information.



Classless
 CIDR is the standard, scalable method for both designating and organizing IP
 addresses using variable length subnet masking to optimize packet routing efficiency
 over the Internet. In the CIDR standard, IP address blocks are represented using an IP
 address with a suffix, as in 214.100.48.00/20, where the suffix, /20, indicates the
 number of leading bits in the binary form of the IP address corresponding to the
 intended subnet.

The following examples show equivalent representations of the same subnet:

11010110.01100100.00111001.11010101 = 214.100.57.213/32 11010110.01100100.00111001.11010000 = 214.100.57.208/28 11010110.01100100.00111001.00000000 = 214.100.57.00/24 11010110.01100100.00110000.00000000 = 214.100.48.00/20

Using CIDR, network administrators have a great amount of flexibility in terms of defining the size of available IP address allocations. The basic formula for determining the size of a CIDR subnet is  $s=2^{(n-32)}$ , where S = the number of available IP addresses and n = the CIDR suffix. The following table displays the correlation between the CIDR suffix (/n) and the number of available IP addresses, or hosts, for multiple, different CIDR suffixes.

CIDR Suffix (/n)	Available IP Addresses (S)	CIDR Suffix (/n)	Available IP Addresses (S)
/31	2	/22	1022 = S - 2
/30	2 = S - 2	/20	4094 = S - 2
/28	14 = S - 2	/18	16382 = S - 2
/26	62 = S - 2	/16	65534 = S - 2
/24	254 = S - 2	/12	1048574 = S - 2

(i) In subnets defined to contain more than 2 IP addresses, typically the smallest address identifies the subnet to the rest of the network and the largest address is designated as the broadcast address for all addresses contained within the subnet.

	As a simple example case of CIDR notation with respect to subnets, both 214.100.50.20 and 214.100.61.45 are in the subnet 214.100.00.00/16 because they both share the same sixteen leading bits, represented by the decimal digits 214.100. These two IP addresses also exist in an even smaller subnet, 214.100.48.0/20, as revealed when the two addresses are expressed in binary, as follows, where the twenty leading bits are identical: 11010110.01100100.00110010.00000100 = 214.100.50.04
	11010110.01100100.00111101.00101101 = 214.100.81.43
Group	In SolarWinds IPAM, groups serve as containers for the subnets, supernets, and even other groups you define to organize and manage your network. See <u>IPAM groups</u> for more information about creating and using groups in SolarWinds IPAM.
Reserved	<ul> <li>In a subnet two IP addresses are reserved and cannot be assigned:</li> <li>The network address</li> <li>The broadcast address</li> <li>Other IP addresses can be reserved for special use in IPAM so they will not be assigned, either by an administrator or DHCP, to other devices.</li> <li>In SolarWinds IPAM, reserved IP addresses are indicated with a purple IP icon. See IPAM status icons for more information.</li> </ul>
Static IP Address	A static IP address is an IP address assigned to a network device by an administrator. This is less efficient than using dynamic IP addresses as this permanently ties up the address even if it isn't being used. Certain types of servers, such as DHCP and DNS servers, always require static IP addresses.
Dynamic IP Address	A temporary IP address automatically assigned by a DHCP server to a network device when it is first detected. The IP address is released when the device is no longer detected.



Subnet A subnet is any logical or physical subdivision of a network consisting of a collection of IP addresses for which some number of the leading address bits, commonly called an IP address routing prefix, are identical.

For example, as a simple case, both 214.100.50.20 and 214.100.61.45 are in the subnet 214.100.00.00/16, as they both share the same sixteen leading bits, represented by the decimal digits 214.100. Less obviously, these two IP addresses exist in an even smaller subnet, 214.100.48.00/20, as revealed when the two addresses are expressed in binary, as follows, where the twenty leading bits are identical:

214.100.50.04 = 11010110.01100100.00110010.00000100

214.100.61.45 = 11010110.01100100.00111101.00101101

11010110.01100100.00110000.00000000 = 214.100.48.00/20

Organizing your network using well-defined subnets can greatly increase the efficiency and minimize the bandwidth load on your network. At a basic level, assigning IP addresses to devices on your network in such a way that highly interactive devices reside within smaller or closer subnets reduces the amount of network traffic that must be routed over longer network distances. See <u>Manage</u> <u>subnets in IPAM</u> for more information about creating and managing subnets in SolarWinds IPAM.

**Supernet** A supernet is an element of network organization consisting of contiguous CIDR blocks, or subnets. In networks with well-defined subnets, network administrators are able to consolidate and limit IP traffic with supernets to optimize routing efficiency across a network. As an example, given the following two subnets, 222.22.12.0/24 and 222.22.10.0/24, 222.22.0.0/20 is a supernet, as shown in the following expansions:

222.22.12.0/24 = 11011110.00010110.00001100.00000000

222.22.10.0/24 = 11011110.00010110.00001010.00000000

222.22.0.0/20= 11011110.00010110.00000000.00000000



**Transient** IPAM uses the term Transient to describe IP addresses that are dynamically assigned to devices. IP addresses designated as Transient may be assigned to any of the following types of devices:

- Devices that power on and off regularly, such as laptops or some user workstations
- Devices that enter and exit the network frequently, such as laptops on a wireless network
- Any device on a DHCP-enabled network

 Transient scan intervals can be configured on a per subnet basis from the Edit Subnet window.

In IPAM, Transient IP addresses are indicated with a cyan colored IP icon. See <u>IPAM</u> <u>status icons</u> for more information.

**Used** The Used label is provided to indicate any IP address that is currently assigned and not otherwise available. See <u>IPAM status icons</u> for more information.

## **Configure IPAM**

This section includes the following topics:

- Define system settings for IPAM
- <u>Configure subnet scan settings manually</u>
- The IPAM Scan Job Status page
- Populate UDT User and Switch Ports in the IPAM IP Address View
- Manage credentials
  - Add or edit SNMP credentials
  - Add or edit Windows credentials
  - Add or edit Cisco and ASA credentials
  - Add BIND credentials
  - Add or edit ISC credentials
  - Infoblox credentials
- User role delegation in IPAM
  - Roles and privileges in IPAM
  - Add user accounts
  - Custom roles
- <u>Custom properties</u>
- IPAM groups
- Add Additional Polling Engines to IPAM
- Display or change polling engine assignments in IPAM

## **Define system settings for IPAM**

After you have installed and configured IPAM, you can edit the system settings to set variables to address your specific needs.

- 1. Click Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings.
- 2. Click System Settings in the Settings section.



3. Edit settings as required.



General Settings	6		
Enable Duplicated Subnets	Enable this option to be able to create subnets that duplicate or overlap an existing subnet. If you have this setting enabled, IPAM will merge the status from multiple DHCP server scopes into one subnet (rather than having different subnets for each server's scope).		
	For example, if an MSP has customers on duplicate internal addresses, you could create the duplicate space and give the subnet a different name.		
Enable New User Interface	Check this box to use the new layout for the <u>DHCP &amp; DNS Management</u> view. This is enabled by default.		
Thresholds			
Critical Level	Define the Critical threshold for IP address space percentage usage in subnets and supernets. Subnets or supernets will be flagged with a red icon if at or above the critical threshold.		
Warning Level	Define the Warning threshold for IP address space percentage usage in subnets and supernets. Subnets or supernets with a yellow icon if between the warning and critical levels.		
Configuration Defaults			
Subnet scan enabled	When unchecked, the subnet scanning will be disabled in default.		
Scan interval	The default interval between scans.		
Automatically add IP addresses	Check to automatically add IP addresses when subnets are created.		
CIDR	The default CIDR value.		
Visual settings			
Tree sort by address	Disable will sort items in tree branch by 'Display Name' (rather than Address).		
Tree max items	Maximum number of shown items per tree branch on Subnet Management page.		



Network view items	The page size for Network view grid (Group view).		
IP Address view items	The page size for IP Address view grid.		
Personal settings			
Parent change notification message	Enable this option to display a notification message whenever you edit a parent account's specific custom roles.		
ISC and BIND Settings			
No preserve timestamps	Enable this option if you do not want to preserve timestamps for configuration backup.		

4. Click Save.

## Configure subnet scan settings manually

IPAM uses SNMP and ICMP to scan and determine the status of your monitored network. You can select how IPAM automatically scans your network for changes.

- 1. Click Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings > Manage Subnet Scan Settings.
- 2. Enter the transient period, or select Unlimited Duration.

IPAM continuously scans all managed IP addresses on your network. If a device fails to respond to any SNMP or ICMP requests for the duration entered here, IPAM will change the status of the unresponsive IP address from Used to Available. Any associated custom attribute is overwritten. If Unlimited Duration is selected, unresponsive devices will retain the status of Used until manually updated.

- 3. (i) You can assign transient scan intervals for individual subnets using Edit Subnet Properties on the Manage Subnets and IP Addresses page.
- 4. ICMP is used by default to scan your network subnets for changes. To configure ICMP:
  - a. Enter the number of pings per address.
  - b. Enter the delay between pings, and the ping timeout, in milliseconds, for ICMP requests on your network.



- 5. To configure SNMP to scan your network subnets:
  - a. Select Enable SNMP Scanning in the SNMP Scanning section.
  - Select Enable SNMP neighbor scanning. <u>Neighbor Scanning</u> will attempt to retrieve the status of a device that is not responding to ICMP by scanning the ARP table of a neighbor router to determine what IP addresses are active.
  - c. Enter the number of SNMP retries.
  - d. Enter the SNMP Timeout, in milliseconds, for SNMP requests on your network.
- 6. Click Save.
- You can disable scanning on a per subnet basis. See <u>Edit subnets</u> for more information about editing individual subnet properties.

## The IPAM Scan Job Status page

The Scan Job Status page displays all subnet scans currently in progress or scheduled for completion. Subnet scans are listed according to the Database Column property for each scanned subnet.

(1) The page also lists all DNS Zone Transfers.

#### View and edit subnet scans

- (i) In addition to displaying subnet scan jobs, the Scan Job Status page also shows DNS Zone Transfers.
  - 1. Click Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings.
  - 2. In the Subnet Scans section, click View scan job status. The Scan Job Status page provides the status of any jobs scheduled for scanning manually or automatically.

The information for each subnet scan includes:

Status	Shows the time when the next scan of the corresponding subnet begins. If a scan is in progress, Status displays the time elapsed since the scan started.
Scan trigger	Shows whether automated or manually scheduled



Scan Type This can be Subnet Scan or DNS Zone transfer.

Last Shows the date and time when the corresponding subnet was last scanned. Discovery

- 3. The time to the next refresh is shown in the upper right of the screen,
- 4. To edit, click Edit at the end of a scan row.
  - If you click Edit for a Subnet scan, the Edit Subnet Properties window is displayed.
  - If you click Edit for a DNS Zone Transfer, the Edit a DNS zone page is displayed.
- 5. Make any required edits, and click Save.

## Neighbor scanning in IPAM

Neighbor scanning attempts to retrieve the status of a device that is not responding to ICMP. It scans the ARP table of a neighbor router to determine what IP addresses are active.

- Neighbor scanning is disabled by default, as it can increase router CPU usage, and therefore should only be enabled when needed.
  - 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Address Management > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
  - 2. Select a subnet containing the device or devices that are not responding.
  - 3. Click Edit.
  - 4. Scroll to the bottom of the Edit Subnet Properties Window.
  - 5. Uncheck the Disable Neighbor Scanning checkbox.

Additional options are displayed.

- 6. Enter the Neighbor IP Address and select a Scan Interval.
- 7. Click Test to verify connection.
- 8. Click Save.

#### How Neighbor scanning works

IPAM first checks if the device is capable of SNMP and supports an ARP table.



To check whether SNMP is available, IPAM uses these OIDs:

OidSysContact "1.3.6.1.2.1.1.4.0" iso.org.dod.internet.mgmt.mib-2.system.sysContact.0

• To check whether the ARP table is available, it uses:

OidIPNetToMediaTable "1.3.6.1.2.1.4.22" iso.org.dod.internet.mgmt.mib-2.ip.ipNetToMediaTable

The IPNetToMediaTable is pulled for client information. If the device supports this table, then IPAM can use this information.

## Populate UDT User and Switch Ports in the IPAM IP Address View

Integration with SolarWinds User Device Tracker (UDT) adds User and Switch Ports columns to your IP Address view and provides end-to-end IP address to user-device mapping. IPAM detects if UDT is installed and automatically adds the columns.

- 1. Click My Dashboards > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Select a subnet.

The UDT Users and UDT (Switch) Ports columns are the last two columns displayed in IP Address view. Scroll right if they are not displayed.

Manage Subnets & IP Addresses				
	IP ADDRESS VIEW CHA	RT VIEW		
🕀 ADD 🗸   🖉 EDIT   💼 DELETE	(+) ADD IP RANGE   🖉 EDIT	R VIEW DETAILS   Filter: Y ALL	SELECT IP RANGE   🙆 SCAI	4
Display Name		Caratura Andreas (ID-6)	MAC Verder	
a 😑 IP Networks	10 149 21 23	Liced Address (IPV0)	00-50-56-8 WWWare Inc	DEMO LARIWAL
Discovered Subnets		0300		<u>DEMOLEADIWA</u>
EAST	<u>c</u> 10.149.21.24	Available		
🔺 🚖 LOSA	10.149.21.25	Available		25400211 Margarelle
🔏 LOSA0021: Users - 1stFL	10.149.21.26	Used	00-27-10-3 <sup>inte</sup> Intel Corpor	DEMO.LAB\Sus 🕒 LOSA-FS728TP (e10), 🌑 LOSA-FS728TP (Unk)
Re LOSA0040: Servers	10.149.21.27	Used	00-11-43-F Dell Inc	DEMO.LAB\Cari   LOSA-FS728TP (e10),  LOSA-FS728TP (Unk)
Re LOSA0300: External Access	10,149,21,28	Available		154002h Usera - La Karana Karana Karana
NEWY	<b>10 149 21 29</b>	Available		
WEST			contract The s	
WEST0040: Servers	10.149.21.30	Used	6C-70-9F-E MaApple	DEMO.LAB\Bar DISA-F5728TP (e10), LOSA-F5728TP (Unk)
Networks v6	10.149.21.31	Available		3540021:13emi-1- No Never
D 🗀 Lviv	10.149.21.32	Available		3540321: Unext-1- No. No. Never
Austin	10.149.21.33	Available		2540021: University No. No. No.
▷ 🛅 Krakow	10.149.21.34	Used	F8-16-54-3 intel Corpor	DEMOLAB\Phil 🛑 LOSA-ES728TP (e10) 🛑 LOSA-ES728TP (Unk)
▷ 🛄 Brno	10 140 21 25	Urad	00 40 52 1 STAR TECHN	
HQWireless	10.149.21.35		DO-40-52-1 STAR TECHN	DEMIC.LABIGER COSA-F37281P (ETU), COSA-F37281P (UNK)
	10.149.21.36	Used	CC-B2-55-5 🗳 D-Link Inter	DEMO.LAB\Catl  LOSA-FS728TP (e10),  LOSA-FS728TP (Unk)
	10.149.21.37	Available		2540021i Useri - 1- No November 1
	10.149.21.38	Used	54-E6-FC-5 🕈 TP-LINK TEC	DEMO.LAB\Lou 🕒 LOSA-FS728TP (e10), 🌑 LOSA-FS728TP (Unk)



- 3. If data for a device is being collected in UDT, these columns are populated, otherwise they will be empty.
  - Click on an entry in the UDT Users column to display the <u>UDT Device Tracker User Details</u> page for the user.
  - Clicking on the unbracketed part of entry in the UDT Switch (Port) column to display the <u>NPM</u> Node Details page for the associated node.
  - Clicking on an bracketed part of entry in the UDT Switch (Port) column, to display the <u>UDT Device Tracker Port Details</u> page for the ports on the node if direct and known.

See <u>IP Address Conflicts</u> for more information about using UDT and IPAM for troubleshooting issues.

### Manage credentials

IPAM uses a variety of credentials to access information from different devices throughout your environment. The credentials must already be set up on the devices with the appropriate access level - for example for Windows DHCP servers it must be one of the three following groups: DHCP Users, DHCP Administrators or local Administrators.

#### Windows credentials

Windows Management Instrumentation (WMI) is are used throughout the IPAM (in products such as NPM, SAM and IPAM) to poll performance and management information from Windows-based network devices, applications, and components.

#### SNMP credentials

SNMP credentials are used to scan subnets and IP addresses. IPAM uses SNMP to poll device OIDs to obtain MAC addresses.

#### Scan credentials

DHCP and DNS server credentials can be set up either via the Add DHCP and Add DNS server pages when you are adding the servers, or created in advance using the Credentials for Scope scans page in IPAM Settings.

#### DHCP server credentials

IPAM scans the DHCP servers in your environment for scopes and subnets and therefore needs the appropriate credential for each DHCP server it scans.



	HCP Server	Credentials
--	------------	-------------

Windows	For Windows computers running DHCP, a credential consists of user name and password.
CISCO	For Cisco devices running DHCP, a credential consists of user name and password, plus an optional enable level and enable mode password.
ASA	For Cisco Adaptive Security Appliance (ASA) devices running DHCP, a credential consists of user name and password, plus an optional enable level and enable mode password.
ISC	For Internet System Consortium (ISC) devices running DHCP, a credential consists of user name and password.
Infoblox	For the Infoblox environment, a credential consists of user name and password.

#### DNS server credentials

IPAM scans the DNS servers in your environment for DNS zones, settings and DNS zone transfers.

DNS Server Credentials	
Inherit credentials from SolarWinds node	This enables you to use the same credential as used for the parent node.
WMI	For Microsoft DNS servers, a WMI credential consists of user name and password.
BIND	For BIND servers, a credential consists of user name and password.
Infoblox	For the Infoblox environment, a credential consists of user name and password.

#### Add or edit SNMP credentials

You can store SNMP credentials to be used for scanning SNMP devices on your network. SolarWinds IPAM attempts SNMP communication using the stored credentials in the order provided.



- 1. Click Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings > SNMP Credentials.
- 2. Either:
  - To add a new credential, click Add
  - To edit an existing credential, select the credential then click Edit.
- 3. Enter a display name for the credential.
- 4. Select the SNMP version of the credential. This can be SNMP v1, SNMP v2c, or SNMP v3.

#### (i) IPAM uses SNMPv2c by default.

- For SNMP v1:
  - a. Enter the SNMP Port and read only credential string. The defaults are 161 and "public".
- For SNMP v2c:
  - a. If you do not want IPAM to use SNMPv1 if an SNMPv2c request fails, check the Use SNMP v2 only checkbox.
  - b. Enter the SNMP Port and read only credential string. The defaults are 161 and "public".
- For SNMPv3:
  - a. Enter the SNMP Port. The default is 161.
  - b. Enter the User Name and Context string.
  - c. Select the Authentication method, if used: this can be None, MD5 or SHA1
  - d. Enter the Authentication password or key if used.
  - e. Select the Privacy/Encryption method, if used: this can be None, DES56, AES128, AES192, or AES256.
  - f. Enter the Privacy/Encryption password or key if used.
- 5. Click Save.



😴 SOLARWINDS

#### Add or edit Windows credentials

The Windows account specified within IPAM must be on the DHCP server and one of the three following groups: DHCP Users, DHCP Administrators or local Administrators. IPAM impersonates the specified account on the local computer to gain access. If the IPAM computer is not within the same Windows domain as the DHCP server, the IPAM computer must have the same identical account and password. All credentials are sent in clear text, so you should only update credentials through a browser while locally logged into the IPAM server or over an HTTPS connection.

(1) The Windows account must have the interactive log in rights enabled for IPAM to log in.

- 1. Click Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings.
- 2. Under Manage Credentials, select Credentials for scope scans.
- 3. Either:
  - To add a new credential, click Add New and select Windows.
  - To edit an existing credential, select the credential then click Edit.
- 4. Enter a display name for this credential.
- 5. Enter a user name, and a password for this credential.
- 6. Click Save.

#### Add or edit Cisco and ASA credentials

IPAM uses CLI (command-line interface) commands and Telnet or SSH protocols to gather data from CISCO and ASA devices. Verify that your DHCP servers have configurable connection types (SSH or Telnet), ports, and a user name and password.

(1) If you change passwords on managed devices, ensure that you also change them in the IPAM credentials list.

- 1. Click Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings > Credentials for Scope scans.
- 2. Either:
  - To add a new credential, click Add New and select CISCO or ASA.
  - To edit an existing credential, select the credential then click Edit.
- 3. Enter a name for this credential, the user name, and password.

(i) The user name / password is for the user account you use to log in to the device through CLI to perform system configurations.

#### 4. Select the Enable Level.

SOLARWINDS

- The enable level must have privileges to execute configure terminal commands as well as to be able to configure IP SLA operations. For information on configuring network devices, please see your manufacturer's documentation.
- 5. Enter the Enable Password for this level.
- 6. Select the Protocol: Telnet or SSH.
- 7. Enter the Port.
- 8. Click Save.

#### Add BIND credentials

IPAM supports Linux-based BIND DNS Server monitoring and management. IPAM supports BIND version 8 and higher, although it is recommended you use BIND 9 as this supports commands for checking configuration syntax, which IPAM is able to use for configuration change validation during management operations. The BIND account specified within IPAM must be on the DHCP server and be DHCP users, DHCP administrators, or local administrators. If IPAM is not in the same BIND domain as the DHCP server, IPAM **must** have the identical account.

You can store BIND credentials for SolarWinds IPAM to access and scan your DHCP network devices. You can update credentials locally from the IPAM server or over an HTTPS connection.

(i) The BIND account must have the interactive log in rights enabled for IPAM to log in.

- 1. Click Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings > Credentials for Scope scans.
- 2. Either:
  - To add a new credential, click Add New and select Windows.
  - To edit an existing credential, select the credential then click Edit.
- 3. Enter a name for this credential, a user name, and a password for the credential.
- 4. Click Save.

#### Add or edit ISC credentials

IPAM supports ISC devices. You can store credentials to monitor your ISC Devices.

IPAM uses CLI (command-line interface) commands and Telnet or SSH protocols to gather data from ISC devices. Verify that your ISC DHCP servers have configurable connection types (SSH or Telnet), ports, and a user name and password.



- (i) If you change passwords on managed devices, ensure that you also change them in the IPAM credentials list.
  - 1. Click Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings > Credentials for Scope scans.
  - 2. Either:
    - To add a new credential, click Add New and select ISC.
    - To edit an existing credential, select the credential then click Edit.
  - 3. Enter a name for this credential, the user name, and password.

(i) The user name and password is the same user account you use to log in to the device through CLI to perform system configurations.

- 4. Select the Protocol: Telnet or SSH.
- 5. Enter the Port.
- 6. Click Save.

For a full list of ISC minimum requirements see <u>Manage and monitor ISC DHCP servers</u> and <u>ISC DNS</u> server settings in IPAM.

#### Infoblox credentials

IPAM 4.8 and later supports the monitoring of DNS, DHCP and IP information coming from your Infoblox environment.

IPAM uses a REST based Web API to gather data from the Infoblox environment.

(i) Since Infoblox monitoring is read-only certain IPAM operations are unavailable. For further information see <u>Monitor the Infoblox environment</u>.

- 1. Click Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings > Credentials for Scope scans.
- 2. Either:
  - To add a new credential, click Add New and select Infoblox.
  - To edit an existing credential, select the credential then click Edit.
- 3. Enter a display name for the credential.
- 4. Enter a name for this credential, a user name, and a password for the credential.
- 5. Click Save.



## User role delegation in IPAM

Role definitions enable you to restrict user access in IPAM and maintain security for your IP addresses without limiting the ability to delegate network management activities.

This section includes the following topics:

- Roles and privileges
- Add user accounts

### Roles and privileges in IPAM

When you add a user account in IPAM, you assign the user a role. The role determines the user's privileges.

parent. Custo	omized roles are not changed.
Role	Privileges
Administrator	The Administrator user role has read and write access, can initiate scans to all subnets, manage credentials, custom fields, and IPAM settings and has full access to DHCP management and DNS monitoring.
	Only administrators can perform certain actions, such as:
	<ul> <li>SNMP credentials management</li> <li>Custom fields management</li> <li>Subnet scan settings configuration</li> <li>Directly configure custom roles in the Subnet Edit dialog</li> </ul>
Power User	Power Users have the same privileges granted to Operators, with the addition of the following:
	<ul> <li>Drag-and-drop reorganization of network components in the Manage Subnets and IP Addresses view.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Supernet and group properties management, including the ability to edit supernet and group properties and custom fields on portions of the network made available by the Administrator.</li> <li>Initiate scans</li> </ul>

() If subnets are moved to create hierarchy changes, inherited roles are inherited from the new



Operator	Operators have the same privileges granted to Read Only users with the addition of the following:
	<ul> <li>Addition and deletion of IP address ranges from portions of the network made available by the site administrator</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Subnet status selection on the Manage Subnets &amp; IP Addresses page</li> <li>IP address property and custom field management, including the ability to edit IP address properties on portions of the network made available by the site administrator</li> </ul>
Read Only	This role has read-only access to DHCP servers, scopes, leases, reservations and DNS servers, and zones.
	This role restricts all access, including access to all DHCP management and DNS monitoring, to the following:
	<ul> <li>All IPAM Web Console widgets, including search and Top XX widgets</li> <li>All IP address and network component properties and custom fields on the Manage Subnets and IP Addresses page</li> <li>The Chart view on the Manage Subnets &amp; IP Addresses page</li> </ul>
Custom	A Custom Role is customized on a per subnet basis and specifies which privileges a user has. You can also overwrite the inherited permissions on child objects. The child objects inherit the same permissions as the parent.

### Add user accounts

You must add a user account for each person who needs to log in to IPAM. Each user is assigned a <u>role</u>, which determines the user's permissions.

- 1. Click Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings > Manage Roles & Permissions.
- 2. Click Add New Account.



3. Choose an account type, and click Next.



- Enter the credentials, and click Next.
   For information on creating accounts for IPAM products, see <u>Managing web accounts</u>.
- 5. Define the general settings for SolarWinds Account Limitations and Menu Bar views.
- 6. Expand the IP Address Manager Settings near the bottom of the page.

IP /	ADDRESS MANAGER SETTIN	GS	
	IPAM Summary View	IP Address Manager 🔻	This view is the target of the "IP Address Management" link in the page header.
	IPAM Address Details View	IPAM IP Address Details - IP Address Details 🔻	This view shows IP Address details.
	IPAM DHCP Server View	DHCP Server Details V	This view shows DHCP Server details.
IPAM Roles & Permissions 🛛 🔘 🏶 Admin		🔵 🏶 Admin	Read/write access and can initiate scans to all subnets, manage credentials, custom fields, and IPAM settings. Full access to DHCP & DNS management.
		🔘 ★ Power User	Read/write access and can initiate scans to all subnets. Full access to DHCP & DNS management.
		○ 🥆 Operator	Read/write access to all subnets. Access to manage DHCP reservations.
		lead Only	Read only access to all subnets. Read only access to DHCP Servers, Scopes, Leases, Reservations and DNS Servers, Zones, Records.
		🔍 🖉 Hide	Restrict all access. Restrict access to all DHCP & DNS management.
		◎ 🕇 Custom	Define user role on a per subnet basis. DHCP and DNS depends on the Global Account setting.

- 7. Select the role and click Submit.
- 8. For information on creating a custom role, see Custom Roles.

#### **Custom roles**

The following section covers how to create an IPAM custom role. These roles can be customized down to a per subnet basis.



The visibility of supernets and subnets depends on the role. The availability of operations is also affected by the role. You can overwrite the inherited permissions on child objects. The child objects inherit the same or higher permissions as the parent.

#### Define a custom role

\_\_\_\_\_

- 1. From the Role and Permissions selection box, select Custom, and click Edit.
- 2. Select a group or subnet, and choose a role. The Inherited column tells you if the role becomes inherited with other subnets.

(i) For multiple selections, press the Ctrl key while selecting the group or subnet.								
🜟 POWER USER   🔭 OPERATOR	1 READ-ONLY	HIDE   💼 CLEAR CUST	OMIZED ROLE					
🔲 Display Name	Address	CIDR	Mask	Inherited				
IP Networks	<ol> <li>Read Only</li> </ol>				Ø No			
Discovered Subnets	쑺 Power Use	r			No			
🔲 8 <u>4</u> 10.1	<ol> <li>Read Only</li> </ol>	10.	24	255.255.255.0	🛛 Yes			
🔲 🛛 👂 🎘 🛛 GP	<ol> <li>Read Only</li> </ol>	A000:0000:0000:0000::	48		Yes			

3. You can set permissions for particular subnets by selecting the subnet and then selecting a user role. The permission on the child object must be the same or higher than the parent object. After submitting, a message displays confirming the creation of the new role.

◉ 犬 Custom		Define user role on a per subnet basis. DHCP and DNS depends on the Global Accour				
21 Power User role(s), 5 Read-Only role(s) ar	e defined.	EDIT				

To customize either the Network view or the IP Address view, click a column header and drag it to the preferred location. Your view personalization is saved immediately, and it is retained for the next time you use SolarWinds IPAM. From the menu, you can select which widgets to add, and resize the columns to fit your needs.

IP	ADDR	ESS VIEW	CHART VIEW							
⊕ #	ADD IP	RANGE	n Edit   🗟 VIEW (	)ET	AILS   Filter: 🍸 ALL 🗸	SELE	ECT II	P RANGE   @	SCAN	- IP SET
		Address	Status		Address (IPv6)	MAC	•	Vendor		Scope Nam
	IP	10.	Reserv	ed				A Sort Asc	ending	
	IP	10.	Used					ZA↓ Sort Des	scending	ç i
	IP	10.1	Used					Add/Rer	nove Co	lumns 🕨
	IP	10.1	Used							N/A



## **Custom properties**

Custom Properties are used throughout the IPAM, enabling you to set up user-defined fields such as country, building, room, asset tag, or serial number, that you can associate with monitored network objects from nodes to IP addresses.

Any custom fields create in earlier versions of IPAM will be automatically converted to custom properties.

(i) For more information on Custom properties, and its use throughout the IPAM, see <u>Custom</u> <u>properties</u> in the IPAM Administrator Guide.

## **IPAM groups**

You can create groups in SolarWinds IPAM to help organize your network. The drag-and-drop user interface on the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses makes it easy to create groups containing any number of other groups, supernets, and subnets.

In the example below, a large network is spread over multiple offices, each with its own sales, marketing, and development departments.

Manage Subnets & IP Addresses					
		ip ade	RESS VIEW	CHART VIEW	
⊕ ADD▼   🖉 EDIT   前 DELETE	Œ	) ADD	IP RANGE   🖉	edit   🗟 View De	TAILS
Display Name			Address	Statue	Ada
IP Networks			Address	Status	Aut
🔺 🚖 Branch Office 1		IP	10.10.10.0	Reserved	
4 🔄 Development		IP	10.10.10.1	Available	
8 10.10.10.0 /24		IP	10.10.10.2	Available	
4 😑 Marketing		IP	10.10.10.3	Available	
8 10.10.11.0 /24			10 10 10 4	Available	
Sales			10.10.10.4	Available	
🔺 🛅 Branch Office 2		IP	10.10.10.5	Available	
Development		IP	10.10.10.6	Available	
Sales		IP	10.10.10.7	Available	
▷ 🚞 Branch Office 3		IP	10.10.10.8	Available	
		IP	10.10.10.9	Available	
		IP	10.10.10.10	Available	
		IP	10.10.10.25	5 Reserved	

Each branch office unit has its own assigned IP addresses or subnet. You can group all the various network components related to each department of each branch office into its own group.



#### Create groups

- 1. Click My Dashboards > IP Address Manager > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Click Add > Group.
- 3. Enter a name for the group.
- 4. (Optional) Add a description and custom properties for the group.
- 5. Click Save.

You can now drag and drop other groups, subnets, and supernets into your group to organize your network.

💮 Groups can be edited by selecting the group in step 2 and clicking Edit.

## **Add Additional Polling Engines to IPAM**

IPAM supports Additional Polling Engines (APEs). If you have a large number of subnets, Additional Polling Engines can reduce the time it takes to scan your network. This topic documents how to install Additional Polling Engines.

(i) To learn how to change the polling engine assigned to scan a specific subnet, as well as how to look up the polling engine monitoring a DNS server or DHCP server instance that IPAM manages, see Display or change polling engine assignments in IPAM.

#### Step 1: Download the Poller installer

1. Open the SolarWinds Web Console and choose Settings > All Settings.

The Main Settings & Administration page opens.

- 2. Scroll down to the Details section.
- 3. Click Polling Engines.

The Polling Engines page opens.

4. Click the DOWNLOAD INSTALLER NOW link in the top-right corner, and save the SolarWinds-Orion-Installer.exe file to your system.



#### Step 2: Run the Additional Polling Engine installer

1. Double-click the SolarWinds-Orion-Installer.exe file.

The installer opens.

2. Use the wizard to complete the installation.

## Display or change polling engine assignments in IPAM

This section documents how to change the polling engine assigned to scan a specific subnet, as well as how to look up the polling engine monitoring a DNS server or DHCP server instance that IPAM manages. If you have a large number of subnets, Additional Polling Engines (APEs) can reduce the time it takes to scan your network. Use the SolarWinds Web Console to assign a polling engine to scan individual subnets.

(1) To learn how to install Additional Polling Engines, see Add Additional Polling Engines to IPAM.

Complete these steps to change the polling engine assigned to automatic scanning.

1. Open the SolarWinds Web Console and choose My Dashboards > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.

The Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page opens.

- 2. Select a subnet.
- 3. Click Edit.

The Edit Subnet Properties dialog box opens. The Polling Engine is displayed.



solarwinds 🐔 MY DASHBOARDS 👻 ALERT	5 & ACTIV	/ity - Reports -	SETTINGS	۲						
Manage Subnets & IP Addresses										
	NETV	NORK VIEW CHART	VEW							
🕀 ADD •   🧷 EDIT   🔮 DELETE	/2 ED	T I DISCOVER SUBN	ETS   D IMPOR	T- D	EXPORT 0 RELETE					
Display Name								10.00.00		
a 😁 IP Networks		Display Name	Address	LIDH	Mask Last Discovery	Location VLAN D Descri	poon IP: 10 Usage	IPt Lotal	JP: Used	IP: Available
Discovered Subnets	111	Discovered Subnets	E .	0			0.00%	0	0	D
🖧 Morden		Morden	2,110.20.0	24	255.255.255.0		0.78%	256	0	254
A RedDeer		RedDeer	2.0 (5.10.0	24	EDIT SUBNET PROPERTIES			2	28	226
de MedicineHat	E 4	MedicineHat	24 .0.15.0	24	Ebit Sobile Tritor Etties					254
die Victoria	0 4	Victoria	37 .0.10.0	24	- DNS Server Details				þ	254
- Vancuver		Vancuver	3600.10.0	24	2 Divis Server Details				60	214
See NatarTerri		Okanagan	58.10.10.0	24	DNS Server Node:	No DNS Server		~	0	254
- Se NazarTest?	THE A	Alle5.45.0	/T 15450	24	DNS Server Zone:	Please select DNS Server		~		25.6
.8 NazarTest3	00 0	Manufactory	100146010	24				_		252
A NazarTest4		Nazarieszi	192.108.1.0	24	1					232
A 45.45.45.0		NazarTesz2	192.168.2.0	24	2 * Automatic Scanning				Б	246
		NazarTest3	192.168.3.0	24	2	Disable Automatic Scanning			p	254
	1 A	NazarTest4	192.168.4.0	24	2	Update but not erase manually ent	ered data		þ	254
					Scan Interval:	4 Hours				
					Polling Engine:	EV2016SERVER (Primary)				
						CHANGE POLLING ENGINE				
					4				•	
							SAVE	CANCEL		

4. Scroll down to the Automatic Scanning section.

EDIT SUBNET PROPERTIES	3	? 🛛					
<ul> <li>Automatic Scanning</li> </ul>		Ŷ					
And the st	<ul> <li>Disable Automatic Scanning</li> <li>Update but not erase manually entered data</li> </ul>	1					
Scan Interval:	4 Hours						
Polling Engine:	PRODMGMT-98 (Primary)						
	CHANGE POLLING ENGINE						
Neighbor Scanning What is neighbor scanning?							
<ul> <li>Transient Period</li> </ul>							
Default duration	inherit value from Subnet Scan Settings	~					
		SAVE CANCEL					

5. Click Change Polling Engine.

The Select a New Polling Engine dialog box opens.

EDIT	ຮບ	BNET	PROPERTIES					? ×
~ /	Aut	omat	tic Scanning					^
				Disable Aut	omatic Scannir	ng		
		SELE	CT A NEW POL	LING ENGINE			×	
Sca	an		Name 🔺	Status	Туре	Assigned Object	s	
Pol	llin	0	PRODMGM	Active	Primary	9	^	
		0	ProdPoller1	Down	Additional	1		
~ 1	NIC	0	ProdPoller2	Active	Additional	1	~	
			Page 1 of	10000	l.	Displaying polling engir	nes 1 - 3 of 3	
					CHANGE	POLLING ENGINE	CANCEL	
	Tra	nsier	nt Period					
۲	Def	ault du	ration	inherit value	from Subnet So	can Settings		
<								>
							SAVE CAN	CEL

6. Select a polling engine and then click Change Polling Engine.

The new polling engine is listed in the Automatic Scanning section.

EDIT SUBNET	PROPERTIES			? 🛛
<ul> <li>Automat</li> </ul>	ic Scanning			^
		Disable Automatic Scannin Update but not erase manu	ng ually entered data	
Scan Interval:		4 Hours	~	
Polling Engine	e:	ProdPoller2 (Additional)	CHANGE POLLING ENGINE	
<ul> <li>Neighbo</li> <li>Transien</li> </ul>	r Scanning <u>w</u> t Period	hat is neighbor scanning?	9	
Default dur	ation	inherit value from <u>Subnet Sc</u>	<u>on Settings</u>	~
			SA	/E CANCEL



7. Click Save to close the Edit Subnet Properties dialog box.
# Add IP addresses to IPAM

IP addresses need to be added to IPAM before they can be monitored. The following options are available for adding IP addresses to IPAM:

Discover devices using Active Directory domain controllers	
Add discovered devices to SolarWinds IPAM	
Import IP addresses	
Add IPv6 addresses to IPAM	
Assign a subnet to an orphan IP address in IPAM	
Learn more about organizing IPv6 address spaces in IPAM	40

A range of IP addresses can be added to any defined subnet. This is usually done when you want to monitor specific addresses within a large subnet. For smaller subnets containing 4096 or fewer IP addresses (/21, or 255.255.248.0 and higher mask), SolarWinds IPAM automatically monitors all included IP addresses.

 IPAM automatically monitors all IP addresses in subnets defined with 4096 IP addresses (/21 or 255.255.248.0 mask) or fewer. You can manage IP addresses in larger subnets with these ranges.

To add IP addresses for monitoring, add a parent subnet into any of the following:

- An existing group
- A supernet
- A subnet to a group that SolarWinds IPAM is monitoring

See <u>Create subnets</u> for more information about adding subnets.

Use the <u>Subnet Allocation wizard</u> to directly define subnets and allocate included IP addresses.

You can also add IPv6 sites and addresses for planning purposes. See <u>IPv6 Addresses</u> for more information.

# **Discover devices using Active Directory domain controllers**

You can query your Active Directory Domain Controller to add nodes quickly and efficiently. Your SolarWinds server can use the devices specified in Active Directory instead of scanning every IP address in the subnet.



- 1. Navigate to Settings > Network Discovery.
  - (1) If a discovery has already been run, the Network Sonar Discovery page is displayed. Click Add New Discovery.
- 2. Click Start.
- 3. On the Network Sonar Wizard Network Selection, click Add Active Directory Controller to query.

The Add Active Directory DC pop-up is displayed.

•			O	
DOMAIN CONTROLLER D	ETAILS		ORGANIZATIONAL	UNITS
u can import nodes into Orion by qu nit the objects imported to specific O	erying your Active Dire rganizational Units (Ol	ectory Domain Co Us).	ntrollers for registered	d devices. You can also
Active Directory Domain Contro	oller:			
Demo.lab				
IP address or hostname (should be [	DNS resolvable)			
Credentials:				
Select Existing I Add New				
Credential Name:				
Orion (Demo.Lab)				
User Name:				
DEMOLAB\Orion				
Enter Domain\Username or Usernar »What privileges do I need?	me@Domain. This use	r must have perm	ission to view comput	ers in the domain.
Password:				
TEST CREDENTIALS Test su	ucceeded			

4. Enter an IP address or host name in the Active Directory Domain Controller field.



- Use an existing credential or select Add New credential and enter the credential name, user name, and password.
- 6. Click Test Credentials. If valid, click Next.
- 7. Select the organizational units (OUs) you want to scan for nodes, and click Finish.

(i) By default, all OUs are selected, but only servers will be added. Add workstations by clearing the Import servers only check box below the OUs.

8. On the Network Sonar Wizard - Network tab, click Next.

In this example, nine devices were found.

ACTIVE DIRECTORY (i)						
Host name / IP address	Organizational Unit		Device Type	Device Count	Name	
Demo.lab	Domain Controllers	Edit	Servers Only	9	Orion (Demo.L	m
+ Add Active Directory Don	nain Controller to query					

- 9. Continue the Network Discovery by clicking Next to each tab until the Discovery Scheduling tab is displayed.
- 10. Click Discover.

The discovery is run.

11. Click Next to each tab to select the required devices, ports and volumes to import.

## Add discovered devices to SolarWinds IPAM

After the wizard has discovered the devices on your network, the Results screen opens, enabling you to import network elements into the SolarWinds database. Discovered elements do not count against your license count; only elements that are imported into the SolarWinds database count against your license.

When you manually run discovery, the system automatically selects all network elements to be monitored. You must clear the check boxes for elements you do not want monitored.

If you are discovering your network for the first time, SolarWinds recommends that you start by monitoring a small number of devices.

After discovering your network, use the wizard to select the devices you want to monitor.





1. Ensure that only the device types you want to monitor are selected, and click Next.

Netv	Network Sonar Results Wizard						
DEVIC	es Ports		$\rangle$				
<b>Devi</b> Selec	t the device typ	<b>Import</b> es to monitor.					
	Count	Device Type					
	1	Windows 2016 Server					
	7	Windows 2012 R2 Server					
		NEXT	CANCEL				

2. If the Ports tab is displayed, select the ports to monitor, and click Next.

(1) The Ports tab is only available if you have <u>User Device Tracker (UDT)</u> installed.

3. Ensure the volume types you want to monitor are selected, and click Next.

SolarWinds recommends that you do not monitor compact disks or removable disks.

Net	Network Sonar Results Wizard							
DEVIC								
<b>Volu</b> Selec	t <b>me Type</b> tt the volum	e <b>s to</b> ne typ	Import bes to mo	nitor.				
	Count		Volume Ty	/pe				
	8		RAM					
	8		Virtual Me	mory				
	16	٥	Fixed Disk					
	3	٢	Compact I	Disk				
				BACK	NEXT	CANCEL		



#### 4. Review the list of elements to be imported, and click Import.

	Polling IP Address	Name	Machine Type	Volumes	Polling Method	UDT Port Cou
0	10.1.40.7	EASTADDS01V	Windows 2012 R2 Server	RAM, Virtual Memory, Fixed Disk (2)	WMI	0
9	10.1.40.8	EASTADDS02V	Windows 2012 R2 Server	RAM, Virtual Memory, Fixed Disk (2)	WMI	0
0	10.1.100.7	NOCEADDS01V	Windows 2012 R2 Server	RAM, Virtual Memory, Fixed Disk (2)	WMI	0
	10.1.100.8	NOCEADDS02V	Windows 2016 Server	RAM, Virtual Memory, Fixed Disk (2)	WMI	0
	10.21.40.7	NEWYADDS01V	Windows 2012 R2 Server	RAM, Virtual Memory, Fixed Disk (2)	WMI	0
	10.129.40.7	WESTADDS01V	Windows 2012 R2 Server	RAM, Virtual Memory, Fixed Disk (2)	WMI	0
	10.129.40.8	WESTADDS02V	Windows 2012 R2 Server	RAM, Virtual Memory, Fixed Disk (2)	WMI	0
9	10.149.40.7	LOSAADDS01V	Windows 2012 R2 Server	RAM, Virtual Memory, Fixed Disk (2)	WMI	0

- 5. When the import completes, on the Results panel, click Finish.
- 6. Click My Dashboards > IPAM Summary to begin exploring your network.

## **Import IP addresses**

IPAM provides two methods to easily import IP addresses and subnet data into your network, either by importing from spreadsheets as described in this topic, or <u>bulk adding by entering Subnet/CIDR</u> prefixes.

With the IPAM 2019.4 and newer releases, you can import and export IPv6 addresses.

For exporting IP Addresses, see Export Subnets.

#### Import from spreadsheet

The IPAM Import wizard enables you to easily import IP addresses, and subnet and network data that is held on spreadsheets. You can import IP4 and IP6 groups, supernets, and IPV6 global prefixes, and the hierarchy structure of your network.

(i) Imported data respects user delegation permissions.

All imported spreadsheets require a header row with unique column names. These do not need to match the IPAM field names as you can associate each column with the field into which it is imported. Any columns that do not have corresponding fields in IPAM can be added as custom fields.

A subnet spreadsheet contains an IP address on each row. Only the IP Address is mandatory.



	A	В	С	D	E	F	
1	IP Address	MAC Address	Hostname	DHCP Client Name	System Name	Description	
2	10.0.0.0						
3	10.0.0.1						
4	10.0.0.2	00:0A:E6:3E:FD:E1	UBUNTU-01.ImportSample		Ubuntu-01	Linux Ubuntu-01	
5	10.0.0.3	00:0A:E6:3E:FD:E2	Windows.ImportSample		DVB	Hardware: Intel64 Family 6 Model 94	
6	10.0.0.4						
7	10.0.0.5						
8	10.0.0.6	00:0A:E6:3E:FD:E5					-
	4 - F	IPNode 🕂			:	•	•

For a structure spreadsheet, only the Type of each object needs to be provided. This can be Group, Supernet, Subnet, IPv6Subnet, GlobalPrefix, PrefixAggregate, etc.

	1 2		3	4	5	
1	Address/CIDR	Address	CIDR	Туре	Display Name	
2	10.0.0/26	10.0.0.0	26	Subnet	Imported Subnet	
3	10.0.0/24 10.0.0		24	Group	Imported Folder	
4	10.0.0/24	0.0.0/24 10.0.0.0 24		Supernet	Imported Supernet	
5	1000:0000:0000:0000/64	1000:0000:0000:0000	64	IPv6Subnet	Imported IPv6 Subnet	
6	1000:0000:0000:0000/52	1000:0000:0000:0000	52	PrefixAggregate	Imported IPv6 Site	
7	1000:0000:0000:0000/48	1000:0000:0000:0000	48	GlobalPrefix	Imported GlobalPrefix	-
	< → subnets	+		÷ •	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	]

Subnet or Structure spreadsheets can be imported as individual .csv, .xls, or .xlsx files.

To import a structure spreadsheet with associated subnet spreadsheets, save the subnet spreadsheets in a subdirectory called Subnets and create a zip file containing all the files as shown below.



You can choose whether to import data into new and existing IP subnets, preserving the hierarchies in the structure spreadsheet, or into an imported subnet folder with a flat file structure to be organized later.

1. Navigate to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.

Manage Subnets & IP Addresses					
	NETWORK VIEW	CHART VIEW			
🕀 ADD 🗸   🖉 EDIT   🎰 DELETE		VER SUBNETS   [	🗎 IMPORT 🕶 🖹 EXPORT 🕶		
Display Name	Diselau Nama Ada 🖻 Import from filo				
IP Networks     Display Name     Add		_ lm			
	No groups or supern	ets have previous	Add Subnets		

2. Click Import > Import from file.

The Preparing to import a spreadsheet page is displayed. This page enables you to download example spreadsheets that can help you create your own spreadsheets.

3. Click Next to proceed.

(i) You can avoid showing the Preparing to import a spreadsheet page every time by checking the Don't show this again box.

- 4. Click Browse.
- 5. Navigate to the required file, and click Open.
- 6. Select the type of import, and click Next:

IP Addresses: Select this if you have a single spreadsheet list of IP addresses,

<u>Structure only</u>: Select to import a spread containing the structure for your IP addresses

<u>Structure and IP Addresses</u>: Select of you have zipped the structure spreadsheet with associated IP address spreadsheets in a sub-directory (see above).

#### Import IP Addresses

1. The IP Address column matching page is displayed, showing the IPAM IP address fields and what the wizard has determined to be the corresponding columns in the spreadsheet. If these are not correct or you do not want to import anything for a field, use the drop-down menu to select an alternative field.

Select [Do not import] for fields that do not have a corresponding column in the spreadsheet.

The only mandatory field for this import is the IP Address.

2. Click Next.



3. The Subnet Column matching page is displayed, showing the IPAM subnet fields and what the wizard has determined to be the corresponding columns in the spreadsheet. If these are not correct, or you do not want to import anything for a field, use the drop-down menu to select an alternative field.

Select [Do not import] for fields that do not have a corresponding column in the spreadsheet.

There are no mandatory fields for subnet information.

- 4. Select the option for where you want the imported subnets to go, and click Next:
  - IPAM will automatically create subnet hierarchy in selected location based on import
  - IPAM will import subnets into the "Imported Subnet" folder (flat file structure)
- 5. If your spreadsheet contains additional columns to those IPAM uses by default, these can be imported as custom properties. Click Add Custom Property to import a column, or Add All to import all columns.
- 6. Click Next.
- 7. The spreadsheet contents are validated. If errors are found, you are given the option to go back and fix these errors, import only the valid entries, or completely cancel the import.
- 8. Click Next.
- 9. On the Confirm choices page, click Import.

The Import Summary page is displayed. Go to Complete the Import to continue.

#### Import only the Structure

 The Subnet column matching page is displayed, showing the IPAM Subnet fields and what the wizard has determined to be the corresponding columns in the spreadsheet. If these are not correct or you do not want to import anything for a field, use the drop-down menu to select an alternative field.

Select [Do not import] for fields that do not have a corresponding column in the spreadsheet.

The only mandatory field is the Type.

- 2. Select option for where you want the imported subnets to go, and click Next:
  - IPAM will automatically create subnet hierarchy in selected location based on import file (hierarchy preserved)
  - IPAM will import subnets into the "Imported Subnet" folder (flat file structure)
- 3. If your spreadsheet contains additional columns to those IPAM uses by default, these can be imported as custom properties. Click Add Custom Property to import a column, or Add All to import all custom text fields.



- 4. Click Next.
- 5. The spreadsheet contents are validated. If errors are found, you are given the option to go back and fix the errors, import only the valid entries or cancel.
- 6. On the Confirm choices page, click Import.

The Import Summary page is displayed. Go to Complete the Import to continue.

#### Import Structure and IP Address

1. The Subnet column matching page is displayed, showing the IPAM Subnet fields and what the wizard has determined to be the corresponding columns in the spreadsheet. If these are not correct or you do not want to import anything for a field, use the drop-down menu to select an alternative field.

Select [Do not import] for fields that do not have a corresponding column in the spreadsheet.

The only mandatory field is the Type.

- 2. Select the option for where you want the imported subnets to go, and click Next:
  - IPAM will automatically create subnet hierarchy in selected location based on import file (hierarchy preserved)
  - IPAM will import subnets into the "Imported Subnet" folder (flat file structure).
- 3. If your spreadsheet contains additional columns to those IPAM uses by default, these can be imported as custom properties. Click Add Custom Property to import a column, or Add All to import all custom text fields.
- 4. The spreadsheet contents are validated. If errors are found, you are given the option to go back and fix the errors, import only the valid entries or cancel.
- 5. Click Next.
- 6. The IP Address column matching page is displayed, showing the IPAM IP Address fields and what the wizard has determined to be the corresponding columns in the spreadsheet. If these are not correct or you do not want to import anything for a field, use the drop-down menu to select an alternative field.

Select [Do not import] for fields that do not have a corresponding column in the spreadsheet.

The only mandatory field is the IP Address.

- 7. Click Next.
- 8. On the Confirm choices page, click Import.

The Import Summary is displayed.



#### Complete the import

The number of IP addresses that have been imported but have not been assigned to a parent subnet is displayed.

1. Click Next.

If any IP addresses have been imported but have not been assigned to a subnet, the Assign Subnets to Ophaned IPs page is displayed.

(i) A warning banner will be displayed at the top of the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page until all orphan IP addresses are assigned to subnets.

- 2. Select the IP Addresses you want to assign to specific subnet.
  - Select an IP Address and click Assign Subnet to create a subnet and assign subnets to this.
    - If you select an IPv4 address, all unassigned IPv4 addresses will be assigned to this subnet.
    - If you select an IPv6 address, all unassigned IPv6 addresses will be assigned to this subnet.

You can hit Save to accept the default name and values and edit later, or set up any Subnet information here.

• Click Assign IPs to Existing Subnets to add addresses to subnets that have already been created.

The Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page is displayed showing the results of this import.

# Add IPv6 addresses to IPAM

Adding IPv6 addresses to your network consists of the following three steps: create an IPv6 global prefix, create an IPv6 subnet, and then assign IPv6 addresses to this subnet.

(1) Monitoring of IPv6 addresses is not available on Infoblox servers.

#### IPv6 addresses

An IPv6 address is represented by eight groups of four hexadecimal digits, each group representing 16 bits. Groups are separated by colons (:). For example:

10fa:6604:8136:05a2:73b0:0000:0000:0001

Representation can be simplified as follows:

Leading zeroes in a group may be omitted:



#### 10fa:6604:8136:5a2:73b0:0:0:1

One or more consecutive groups containing zeros may be replaced by a single empty group, using two colons (::):

```
10fa:6604:8136:5a2:73b0::1
```

## Create an IPv6 global prefix

An IPv6 address global prefix is a combination of an IPv6 prefix (address) and a prefix length. The prefix takes the form ipv6-prefix/prefix-length and represents a block of address space (or a network). The ipv6-prefix variable follows general IPv6 addressing rules.

The /prefix-length variable is a decimal value that indicates the number of contiguous, higher-order bits of the address that make up the network portion of the address.

For example, 10fa: 6604: 8136: 5a2: 73b0:: / 64 is a possible IPv6 prefix.

- 1. Click My Dashboards > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Select a directory folder from the left menu tree, and then click Add > IPv6 Global Prefix.
- 3. Provide a name and description.
- 4. Enter the global prefix address.
- 5. Click Save.

(i) After an IPv6 global prefix has been created and addresses have been assigned, you cannot edit the prefix. To change an IPv6 global prefix, you **must** delete the prefix and create a new one. If you have only created a prefix, you can click Edit to edit the prefix before you add addresses.

#### Create an IPv6 subnet

- 1. Click My Dashboards > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Select the IPv6 site under which you want to add the subnet.
- 3. Click Add IPv6 Subnet.
- 4. Enter a name, description, and IPv6 subnet address.
- 5. Click Save.



#### Assign IPv6 addresses

- 1. Click My Dashboards > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Expand the IPv6 site and select the a subnet to which you want to assign addresses.
- 3. Click Add IP Address.
- 4. Enter the IPv6 address, select a status, and add any further information.
- 5. Click Save.

# Assign a subnet to an orphan IP address in IPAM

After you <u>import IP addresses</u> from a spreadsheet, it is possible that one or more IP addresses may have been imported without being assigned to a managed subnet. In order to properly manage your network, SolarWinds IPAM requires that all IP addresses are assigned to a managed subnet, even if the managed subnet contains only a single IP address.

If SolarWinds IPAM is unable to locate a configured subnet for each imported IP address, a warning banner is displayed.

The following procedure assigns parent subnets to orphaned IP addresses to enable their management by SolarWinds IPAM.

If you try to manage more IP addresses than your current license limit, IPAM adds as many IP addresses as it can. The remaining addresses are added as orphaned IP addresses.

- 1. Click Assign parent subnets to orphaned IPs in the warning banner.
- 2. Select a single orphaned IP address.
- 3. Click Assign Subnet.
- 4. If you do not want to use the default subnet name, enter a subnet name for the parent subnet. The default subnet name is made by connecting the subnet address and the CIDR prefix length.
- 5. If you do not want to use the default subnet address and CIDR prefix length provided by SolarWinds IPAM, enter a new subnet address and CIDR prefix length for the parent subnet.

 SolarWinds IPAM suggests both a subnet address and a CIDR prefix length based on the orphaned IP address.

- 6. The Description, VLAN ID, and Location for the new parent subnet fields are optional.
- 7. Enter the Scan Interval.



- 8. If you do not want SolarWinds IPAM to automatically scan your parent subnet for changes, select Disable Automatic Scanning.
- 9. Click Save.

# Learn more about organizing IPv6 address spaces in IPAM

IPAM provides the ability to add IPv6 Sites and Subnets for planning purposes. IPv6 addresses can then be grouped to assist with network organization. To leverage the amount of addresses available, as well as the organizational features inherent with the implementation, you should create a logical address plan.

For example, you could designate two nibbles (a nibble is 4 bits or 1 hex character) for your country code. This will give you 2^8, or 256, possibilities for unique countries. Next, designate another nibble for state or location. Finally, designate bits for site, building, and floor.

Create an IPv6 Global site called SolarWinds v6 Lab.



Then add Sites,

N	etwoi	RK VIEW	CHART \	/IEW			
Ø	EDIT	© DISCO	VER IPS	🗎 IMPO	RTŦ	🖹 EXPORT	💼 DELETE
		Display N	ame	Addre	ess		CIDR
		Texas		2001:	DB8:	2012881	52
		<u>Chennai</u>		2001:	DB8:	20120815	52

#### Then add a building and floors.

N	etwoi	RK VIEW	CHART V	/IEW					
0	EDIT	DISCO	Ver IPs   [	🗎 імро	ORT -	🖹 EXPOR	RT   🛱	DELET	=
		Display N	ame	Addr	ess			CIDR	Ma
	<b>@</b>	Floor 1 - E	ing	2001	:DB8:	201.08	÷	64	fff
	<b>a</b>	Floor 2 - S	upport	2001	:DB8:	201.038	C	64	fff



# Manage Subnets and IP Addresses page

The Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page is the primary management interface for IPAM. The page is divided into two panes:

- The left pane provides a network tree representing the organization of your network into supernets, subnets, and groups.
- the right pane provides one of the following three views, depending on the type of network organization selected in the organization pane:
  - IP Address view
  - Network view
  - Chart view

See <u>Manage subnets in IPAM</u> for information about organizing your network with subnets.

See <u>Manage supernets in IPAM</u> for information about organizing your network with supernets.

See <u>IPAM groups</u> for information about organizing your network with groups.

The following sections describe the information is available on each Manage Subnets & IP Addresses view.

The columns in the IP Address View and Network views can be hidden or displayed by moving the cursor over any column heading, clicking on the down arrow that then appears, selecting Add/Remove Columns, and selecting or deselecting the appropriate item. You can also drag and drop the columns into the order required. These changes will be retained for your login.

# **IP Address View**

The IP Address View displays whenever a subnet is selected, either in the Network View on the right, or in the network organization pane on the left of the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page. This view provides a list of all IP addresses that are within the selected subnet. This view can be filtered by selecting the DHCP Managed menu.

IP ADDRESS VIEW	CHART VIEW
🕀 ADD IP RANGE   🖉	EDIT   🗟 VIEW DETAILS



See <u>IPAM status icons</u> for more information about IP address icons<u>IPAM status icons</u> Each IP address is listed with a selection of IP address properties. With the exception of Last Update, which is reported by IPAM as the result of a network scan, values for displayed IP address properties are set using the Edit IP Address window. See <u>Add IP addresses to IPAM</u> for more information about editing IP address properties.

# **Network View**

The Network View displays whenever a group or supernet is selected in the network organization pane on the left of the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page. If a group is selected, the view provides a list of all other groups, supernets, and subnets that are defined within the selected group. If a supernet is selected, the view provides a list of all subnets that are defined within the selected supernet. The Network tab also provides the ability to edit a single IP address and delete and import subnets by bulk.



The status of displayed network components is designated using colored icons.

See <u>IPAM status icons</u> for more information about network component icons.

With the exception of Last Discovery, which is reported by IPAM as the result of a <u>network scan</u>, values for displayed network component properties are set using the appropriate Edit Network Component Properties window. See <u>IPAM groups</u> for more information about editing group properties.

See <u>Edit subnets</u> for more information about editing subnet properties.

See Edit supernets for more information about editing supernet properties.

By default, only the first 150 items are displayed in each tree branch on the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page. To change this, go to <u>System Settings</u> and change the Tree max items value as appropriate.



# **Chart View**

The Chart View provides a concise, visual report of your IP address allocation for any network component selected in the network organization pane. It is on the right pane of the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page. A pie chart displays the designated status of your monitored IP addresses. An availability report displays both the percentage of all possible IP addresses in the selected group, subnet, or supernet that are present for monitoring and the percentage of present IP addresses that are available for assignment.

See IPAM status icons for more information about IP address states in IPAM.

# Manage IP addresses

This section includes the following topics:

- Search for IP addresses in IPAM
  - IP Address Search
- Edit IP Address page
  - Edit or remove multiple IP address properties in IPAM
- Set an IP address status to Available, Used, Transient, or Reserved in IPAM
- Create a range of IP addresses in a subnet
- Organize an IP address space into IPAM subnets
- IP address conflicts
- <u>Remove monitored IP addresses from a subnet</u>
- Overlapping IP addresses and hierarchy groups in IPAM
- Adding IPv6 addresses to IPAM

# Search for IP addresses in IPAM

Use the Search for IP Address widget to search multiple fields within your SolarWinds database for addresses managed with IPAM.

- 1. Click My Dashboards > IP Addresses > IPAM Summary.
- 2. On the Search for IP Address widget, select the field or fields to search in. You can select a single field, multiple fields or All Fields. The defaults are Alias, Hostname, IP Address, Dual Stack IPv6 Address and System Name.

Search for IP Address		EDIT HELP
Find:	Search in:	
	All Fields	SEARCH

From IPAM 4.8, you can also search IPAM using the Search IPAM field in the upper right of the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses screen.



3. Enter a string or IP address to search for, and click Search.

(i) Wildcards (\*,?) are permitted, as shown in the following examples:

- Cisco\*
- 10.15.\*.\*
- W?ndows
- Server-\*
- \*.SolarWinds.com

The <u>IP Address Search page</u> is displayed, listing the IP addresses that match your criteria.

4. Click a subnet or address to open the Manage Subnet & IP Addresses page with that subnet or IP address selected. From the IP Address view, you can click View Details to see the details page, or edit properties and set the status of the selected subnet or IP address.

#### **IP Address Search**

The IP Address Search pages provides the results of your IP search. The information for each IP address displayed will depend on its status.

You can choose to display only current IP address results or include historic results from any period over the last year.

- Click an IP or subnet address to display the <u>Manage Subnets & IP Addresses</u> page, showing the subnet with the IP address selected.
- Select a result and click Manage IP Address to display the <u>Manage Subnets & IP Addresses</u> page, showing the subnet with the IP address selected.
- Select a result and click View Details to display the IPAM IP Address Details page for this IP address.
- Select a result, click View Assignment History, and select:
  - IP Address Assignment History to display the IP Address History widget for this IP address.
  - MAC Assignment History to display the MAC Assignment History for the MAC address widget.
  - Hostname Assignment History to display the Hostname Assignment History widget for the hostname.

# **Edit IP Address page**

😴 SOLARWINDS

IPAM maintains a wide array of information about the devices to which IP addresses are assigned, some of which is obtained when devices are polled, while other properties can be entered as required. You can Edit IP address properties directly from the IP Address view on the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page, or from the IP Address Details widget on the IP Address Details page.

The following procedure shows how to edits the properties of an IP address within a defined subnet.

- (i) If a defined subnet contains more than 4,096 IP addresses (lower than /20 or a 255.255.240.0 mask), IPAM only displays IP addresses in previously added ranges. For larger subnets, you must add IP address ranges for monitoring before IPAM can display addresses that may be managed.
  - 1. Navigate to My Dashboard > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.

Manage Subnets & I	P /	Addı	resses							Search IPAN	1	⑦ Help
<b>«</b>	N	IETWO	RK VIEW CHART	VIEW								
🕀 ADD 🗸   🖉 EDIT   🍵 DELE	0	EDIT	DISCOVER SUBNE	ETS   🗎 IMPORT	- 🖹 E	XPORT   💼 DELETE						
Display Name			Display Name	Address	CIDR	Polling Engine	Mask	Description	IP: % Usage	e IP: Total	IP: Used	IP: Available
Discovered Subnets			Discovered Subnets		0				1.17%	256	1	253
EAST			EAST		0			Subnets in	5.54%	3392	128	3204
LOSA		$\square$	LOSA		0				3.30%	576	10	557
NEWY			NEWY		0				4.33%	832	12	796
WEST			WEST		0			IP Subnets	4.45%	2337	56	2233
Networks v6		50	WEST0040: Servers	10.129.40.0	24	EC2AMAZ-LUU95T4 (Primary)	255.255.255.0	VLAN0040	0.00%	0	0	0
		۲	Networks v6	2001:0000:1	48				0.00%	0	0	0

- 2. Expand the groups if necessary and click the subnet containing the IP address to edit.
- 3. Select the IP address to be edited in the right IP Address view pane, and click Edit.



4. The Edit IP Address page is displayed.

IP ADDRESS	VIEW CHART VIEW				
+ ADD IP R	DIT IP ADDRESS				?⊻,
A	Subnet:	10.1.22.0 / 24			<b>^</b>
V P 1	IPv4 Address:	10.1.22.1			
1	Status:	Used	~		
		Remove Reservation on DH	ICP Server		
	Туре:	Static	×		
	Node Alias:				
Image: 1	Hostname:				
I	DHCP Client Name:				
🔲 📭 1	IPv6 Address:				
🔲 📭 1	Scanning:	On, allow system info to be ove	erwritten		
🔲 📭 1	MAC Address:	C4-71-FE-71-F2-FF			
🔲 📭 1	Comment:				
	<ul> <li>DNS Record Details</li> </ul>				
	DNS Server Node:	No DNS Server	$\sim$		
Image: 1	DNS Server Zone:	Please select DNS Server	$\sim$		
🔲 💌 1	DNS Records				
🔲 💌 1	(+) ADD DNS RECORD				
🔲 📭 1	Record Name	Туре	Data	DNS Server	DNS Zone
🔲 📭 1	No DNS records found for the	selected IP Address.			-
🔲 📭 1	•				•
1				SAV	E CANCEL

- 5. Edit the IP Address information as required.
  - The status field can also be set from the Network View using the <u>Set Status</u> drop-down.
  - Type Static or Dynamic:
    - Static addresses will allow values to be overwritten.
    - Dynamic values will be overwritten (updated by the scanning engine)
  - IPv6 Address, as used for dual stack devices.

(1) A dual-stack device is a device with network interfaces that can originate and understand both IPv4 and IPv6 packets.

- You can choose a DNS Server Zone to be associated with a subnet. This selected DNS zone acts like a filter, therefore DNS records not from the selected zone are shown as gray.
- DNS details will be overwritten if forward lookup does not resolve.



- If you have defined custom properties for IP addresses, or want to add them, they can be added and edited from here.
- The DHCP Details and SNMP Details sections will be populated if the device associated with this IP address has been successfully polled. These fields are read-only.
- 6. Click Save when complete.

### Edit or remove multiple IP address properties in IPAM

You can edit the properties of multiple IP addresses, enabling you to enter the same information for a range of addresses at once.

#### Edit multiple IP ranges

- 1. Click My Dashboard > IP Address Manager > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Select the subnet you want to edit.
- 3. Click Select IP Range.
- 4. Enter the starting and ending IP addresses for the range.

(1) You can only edit IP addresses of the same status.

- 5. Click Select + Edit to edit the properties.
  - You can also select multiple IP addresses using the checkboxes and click Edit. This is useful if you want to select a non-contiguous range.
- 6. Edit or enter the properties you want the selected IP Addresses to have.

The properties that can be edited depend on the status type of the selected IP Addresses.

- 7. Click Save.
- (1) System Information is overwritten if scanning is enabled. Select Off to turn off automatic scanning from the Scanning menu.

#### Remove multiple IP ranges

- 1. Click IP Address Manager > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Select the subnet you want to edit.
- 3. Click Select IP Range.
- 4. Enter the starting and ending IP addresses for the range.

- 5. Click Select + Remove.
- 6. Click Yes to confirm.

# Set an IP address status to Available, Used, Transient, or Reserved in IPAM

The status of any monitored IP address within a defined subnet may be set from the IP Address view on the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page.

Manage Subnets & IP Addresses									
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	IP ADD	RESS VIEW CH	IART VIEW						
(+) ADD -   🖉 EDIT   🛗 DELETE		P RANGE   🖉 EDIT	🛛 🖹 🕅 VIEW DE	TAILS   Filter: 🍸 ALL	🗸   📀 SE	ELECT IP R	ANGE	💿 SCAN 🔻 🛛 🗉	SET STATUS -
Display Name		Address	Status	Address (IDv6)	MAC	Vendor	Scor	P Available	Hostname
4 🔄 IP Networks		Address	50003	///////////////////////////////////////	NU/NC	Vendor	Scot		nosciance
8 10.199.24.0 /24		10.199.24.0	Reserved				N/A	😬 Used	
	V P	10.199.24.1	Used				N/A	P Transient	
		10.199.24.2	Used				N/A	Reserved	
		10.199.24.3	Used				N/A		

 If a subnet contains more than 4,096 IP addresses (lower than /20 or 255.255.240.0 mask), IPAM only displays IP addresses in previously added ranges. For larger subnets, you must add IP address ranges for monitoring before IPAM can display addresses that may be managed.

- 1. Click My Dashboards > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Click the subnet.
- 3. Select the IP addresses to be modified.
- 4. Click Set Status and then select Available, Reserved, Transient or Used
  - Available: IP addresses currently unassigned to any network device.
  - Reserved: IP addresses typically located in blocks both at the beginning and at the end of any selected subnet. Reserved addresses may not be assigned to any network device.

See <u>Reserve an IP Address</u> for instructions on how to reserve an IP address.

- Transient: IP addresses typically associated with mobile devices that do not necessarily maintain continuous connection to the network.
- Used: IP addresses currently assigned to a network device. As such, they may not be assigned to any other network device without first terminating their current assignment.



Intere is a fifth status icon: API Blocked. You cannot manually set an IP address status to API Blocked. This indicated an IP address is being modified by the IPAM API.

# Create a range of IP addresses in a subnet

It can be useful to deal with IP addresses in terms of a defined IP address range within a subnet (for example,10.199.24.211 to 10.199.24.220 in a 10.199.24.0 / 24 subnet), especially when you have large subnets.

The following procedure adds a range of IP addresses within a defined subnet.

- (i) By default, IPAM displays all IP addresses in a subnet if the selected subnet contains 4,096 or fewer IP addresses (/20 or 255.255.240.0 and higher mask). For smaller subnets, it is not necessary to add IP address ranges for monitoring unless you have previously deleted the addresses in the range you want to add.
  - 1. Click IP Address Manager > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
  - 2. In the network tree pane on the left, click the subnet to which you want to add your new IP address range.
  - 3. Click Add IP Range.

IP ADD	RESS VIEW	CHART VIEW					
	P RANGE   🖉	edit   🗟 view de	ETAILS   Filter: 🍸 ALL 🗸	SELECT I	P RANGE   🙆 SC	AN 👻   🕩 SET STATUS	s+   E
	Address	Status	Address (IPv6)	MAC	Vendor	Scope Name	He
	10.199.24.20	0 Available				N/A	
	10.199.24.20	)1 Available	ADD IP ADDRESS	RANGE		1	×
	10.199.24.20	)2 Available	Starting IP Address:	10.199.24.2	11		
IP IP	10.199.24.20	)3 Available	Ending IP Address:	10,199,24,2	20		
E IP	10.199.24.20	)4 Available	Parent Address:	10,199,24,0	- 10 199 24 255		
	10.199.24.20	)5 Available					
	10.199.24.22	9 Available	4				•
	10.199.24.23	0 Available					
	10.122.24.23	Axailable				SAVE CANCEL	·

4. Enter the starting IP address and the ending IP address of your IP address range.

 IP address ranges cannot be defined outside the subnet indicated in the Parent Address field.

5. Click Save.



# Organize an IP address space into IPAM subnets

Adding subnets to an existing or new supernet makes it easier to manage your network. Use the Subnet Allocation wizard to organize your managed IP address space into subnets.

- Use the <u>real-time subnet calculator</u> to quickly determine the most efficient way to subdivide any supernet.
  - 1. Click My Dashboards > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
  - 2. Click Add > Subnet Allocation Wizard.
  - 3. Enter the address of the supernet to divide in the Supernet Address field.
  - 4. Select a CIDR prefix length.
  - 5. Select a subnet size.
    - Typically, in subnets defined to contain more than two IP addresses, the first and last addresses are reserved as the network address (to identify the subnet to the network) and the broadcast address (to communicate with all addresses within the subnet). As a result, the number of available IP addresses is always two fewer than the number actually contained within a given subnet.
  - 6. To only see allocated subnets, clear Show subnets not already allocated.
  - 7. Click Refresh to display a list of subnets that can be allocated based on your criteria.
  - 8. Select the subnets you want to manage, and click Next.
  - 9. (Optional) Enter a description, VLAN ID, and location for the subnets.
- 10. Select Disable Automatic Scanning to automatically scan the subnets for changes.
- 11. Click Done.

# **IP address conflicts**

IPAM actively scans your network and if any duplicate static IP assignments or duplicate IP provisioning from a DHCP server are detected an event is triggered in the IP Address Conflicts widget on the IP Address Summary page. IPAM also detects if there is more than one MAC address using the same IP address within the same network. IPAM looks for differences in MAC addresses, from two distinct simultaneous scans for a single IP address, within a subnet.

The event information displays the IP address, conflict type, subnet, and MAC addresses that are in conflict, as shown below.



IP Address Conflicts					Q HELP
IP ADDRESS	TYPE	SUBNET	TIME OF CONFLICT ▼	ASSIGNED MAC	CONFLICTING MAC
10.129.21.12	•	ക്ല WEST0021: Users-1stFl	7 Oct 2018	A8-96-8A-49-CD-29	00-21-27-04-CB-BB
		UDT Node / Access Point:	0402104111	WEST-3850-CORE	WEST-3850-CORE
		UDT Node Port / SSID :		Gi2/0/20	Gi3/0/20
10.196.3.37	•••	6 EAST0300: External Access     7 Oct 2018     04:50:504M		ine A0-36-9F-4C-9B-0A	50-C7-BF-AF-DA-D8
		UDT Node / Access Point:		EAST-4506E-CORE	EAST-4506E-CORE
		UDT Node Port / SSID :		🔤 Gi3/8	Gi4/17

Here, two devices on the WEST0021 subnet (and two on the EAST0300 subnet) are in conflict.

Move the cursor over the Type icon to show the conflict type (for example, Scope overlap, Dynamic + Static)

() If UDT is installed additional information is displayed, showing node and node port details.

Click on an IP address to show the IPAM IP Address Details page. The IP Address Conflict Details widget shown below is displayed.

IP Address Conflic	t Details	IP Address Conflict Details								
10.129.21.12 ha	is a conflict									
CONFLICT STATUS: Active										
CONFLICT TYPE:	P Scope Overlap									
CONFLICT DETECTED:	1 day(s) ago (7 Oct 2018 (	)4:52:04 AM)								
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Release and renew the IP address on one of the endpoints. See more Recommended Actions										
	ASSIGNED DEVICE	CONFL	ICTING DEVICE							
IP ASSIGNMENT:	Dynamic	Dynam	ic							
MAC:	A8-96-8A-49-CD-29	00-21-	27-04-CB-BB							
SCOPE:	📰 WEST0021: Users	-1stFl 🛛 🗟 V	VEST0021: Users-1stFl							
	on 🔵 WESTADDS01v	on 🔵	WESTADDS02v							
UDT MOST RECENT HOSTNAME:	Clark4-nb.demo.lab	wcox9-	nb.demo.lab							
UDT NODE PORT/SSID:	Gi2/0/20		Gi3/0/20							
UDT Last 10 History	y Events									
TIME 🗸	MAC ADDRESS/USER NAME	NODE PORT/SSID	NODE/ACCESS POINT							
10/7/2018 4:52:04 AM	00:21:27:04:CB:BB	Gi3/0/20	WEST-3850- CORE							
10/6/2018 5:52:04 AM	DEMO.LAB\Aaron.Clark logged on									
10/6/2018 4:52:04 AM	A8:96:8A:49:CD:29	Gi2/0/20	WEST-3850- CORE							

Recommended action is displayed. Click See more Recommended Actions to display further actions.



See the table below for further information about the different kinds of IP Address conflict and how to remedy these.

(1) If UDT is installed, this widget will show the last ten events for this IP address enabling you to track down the cause and responsibility for the conflict.

## IP address conflict scenarios

IPAM automatically detects IP conflicts by scanning servers and devices, and alerts you when conflicts are found. IPAM alerts for the following IP address conflict scenarios.

(i) During subnet scans, MAC addresses obtained from SNMP, SNMP neighbor, and IPAM reservations are called Static entries and those obtained from DHCP servers are called Dynamic entries.

#### The different kinds of IP address conflicts are:

Туре		Description	Remedy	
Static and Static	SNMP versus SNMP Neighbor	There is a conflict in the MAC addresses retrieved from the ARP table of the configured device and from the SNMP OIDs during the subnet scan for an IP address.	<ol> <li>Try to r connect assigned machin and cha address current within t subnet.</li> </ol>	emotely at to one of the ed or conflicting hes using RDP ange the IP s to one that's free in IPAM the same
	IPAM reservation versus SNMP/SNMP neighbor	There are situations where you reserve an IP address under a subnet in IPAM that contains a MAC address for an internal reference. This type of conflict occurs when there is a difference in MAC addressees from either SNMP OIDs, or neighbor devices with reserved	<ol> <li>If device via WiF and blo MAC ac change the dev</li> <li>You match</li> </ol>	e(s) connected i, connect to AP ock conflicting ddress and e IP locally on rice.
		MAC addresses in IPAM.	port on one of conflict change the dev	a switch for assigned or ting MAC and Plocally on vice.



Туре		Description	Rem	nedy
Static and Dynamic	SNMP versus DHCP	INP versus There is a difference in the MAC addresses fetched from an SNMP OID and DHCP leases from a DHCP server, for an IP address during a subnet scan.		Try to remotely connect to the machine with static IP via RDP and change the IP address from "static" to "obtained via DHCP server".
	SNMP Neighbor versus DHCP	There is a difference in the MAC addresses retrieved from the ARP table of the configured device and from DHCP leases from the DHCP server.	2.	If device(s) connected via WiFi, connect to AP and block static IP address and change IP locally on the device.
	IPAM reservation versus DHCP	There are situations where you reserve an IP address under a subnet in IPAM that contains a MAC address for an internal reference. This type of conflict occurs when there is a difference in MAC addressees from DHCP leases with reserved MAC addresses in IPAM.	3.	You may shut down a port on a switch for one of statically assigned IP & MAC and change IP locally on the device. In a case DHCP assigns wrong IP, try to update DHCP firmware.



Туре		Description	Remedy
Dynamic and Dynamic	DHCP versus DHCP	A range of IP addresses within a subnet may be managed by two DHCP servers. This conflict occurs when there is a difference in MAC addresses retrieved from the two DHCP servers' lease information.	<ol> <li>Try to remotely connect via RDP to one of machines in conflict and change IP address to static to free IP in a subnet. Then re-size DHCP scopes so they are not overlapping</li> </ol>
	DHCP versus DHCP (scope overlap)	A range of IP addresses within a subnet may be managed by two DHCP servers. There are cases when a part of an IP address range under one DHCP server is managed by another DHCP server. In both instances, there is an overlap in scopes between two DHCP servers. This is considered a conflict.	<ul> <li>and reset static IP to dynamic on the device.</li> <li>2. Shut down a port on a switch for conflicting IP and e-size DHCP scopes so they are not overlapping. Then enable blocked port again.</li> </ul>

## **Remove monitored IP addresses from a subnet**

- 1. Click My Dashboards > IP Address Manager > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Click the subnet from which you want to delete a range of IP addresses.
- 3. Click Select IP Range.
- 4. Enter the start and end IP addresses.
- 5. Click Select + Remove.
- 6. Click Yes to confirm the deletion, and click Save.

## **Overlapping IP addresses and hierarchy groups in IPAM**

An overlapping IP address occurs when an IP address is assigned to more than one device on a network. This can happen if you have identical subnets in different locations monitored by different DHCP servers on the same network. To avoid IP conflicts when subnets are automatically discovered, you can designate an hierarchy group to which all discovered subnets are assigned when you add a DHCP Server.

DHCP Server Scan Settings	
Scan DHCP Server for new scopes and leases every Automatically add new scopes and subnets	4 Hours 🗸
Hierarchy group name	New Hierarchy group name 🗸
	Lviv

If a hierarchy group name is not selected, all discovered subnets for a DHCP Server go to the IP Networks hierarchy group.

IP conflicts are only detected if they occur in the bounds of the same hierarchy group.

Manage Subnets & IP Addresses									
	«	N	etwo	RK VIEW	CHART	VIEW			
🕀 ADD -   🖉 EDIT   📾 DELETE		0	EDIT	© DISCO	OVER SUBN	ETS		T• ₿I	EXF
Display Name				Disalari				CIDD	
a 😑 IP Networks				Display in	vame	Addr	ess	CIDR	
APAC			3 <b>1</b> 0	VoIP Tul:	sa	10.3.	3.0	24	2
Discovered Subnets			80	VoIP Brn	10	10.11	0.4.0	24	2
EMEA			80	VoIP Aus	stin2	10.11	0.33.0	24	2
Imported Subnet			8	VoIP Cor	·k	10.11	0.44.0	24	2
North America			8			10.11	0.04.0	24	
South America			0	VOIP SIN	gapore	10.11	0.64.0	24	4
VoIP Subnets			3 <b>1</b> 0	VoIP Aus	<u>stin1</u>	10.19	9.11.0	24	2
🔺 🚖 Lviv									
APAC									
Discovered Subnets									
EMEA									
🔺 😁 Austin									
APAC									
Discovered Subnets									
EMEA									
Imported Subnet									
North America									

Subnets cannot be moved between hierarchy groups.



# Adding IPv6 addresses to IPAM

IPAM lets you add IPv6 (Internet Protocol version 6) sites to subnets to be monitored. Use the Discover IPs functionality to automatically add existing IP addresses to subnets.

IPv6 addresses can be grouped to assist with network organization. To leverage the amount of addresses available, as well as the organizational features inherent with the implementation, create a logical address plan. For example, designate two nibbles (a nibble is 4 bits or 1 hex character) for your country code. This is 2^8, or 256, possibilities for unique countries. Next, designate another nibble for state or location. Finally, designate bits for site, building, and floor.

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Click Add and select IPv6 Global Prefix.
- 3. Create an IPv6 Global site. For this you require a name and a global prefix address.

Manage Subnets & IP Addresses							
·	NETWO	RK VIEW	CHART VI	EW			
🕀 ADD 🗸   🖉 EDIT   🏦 DELETE	🖉 EDIT	© DISCO	VER SUBNET	rs   🖹 Impor	रा + 🖹 ह	XPORT	窗 DELETE
Display Name		Display N		Address	CIDR	Mack	Last Discover
🔺 🔄 IP Networks		Display N	anne	Address	CIDIN	WIDSK	Last Discovery
▷ 🌐 Networks IPv6		<u>Networks</u>	<u>IPv6</u>	2001:DB8::	48		

- 4. Select this site, click Add, and select IPv6 Site.
- 5. Add your IPv6 sites.





6. Add a building and floors.

NE	TWOF	RK VIEW	CHART	VIEW					
Ø E	EDIT	© DISCO	VER IPS	🗎 IMPO	ORT -	🖹 EXF	Port   🍵	DELET	E
		Display N	ame	Addr	ess			CIDR	Ma
	<b>a</b>	Floor 1 - E	ing	2001	:DB8:	2016	395	64	fff
	<b>a</b>	Floor 2 - S	upport	2001	:DB8:	2010	198	64	fffi

#### IPv6 scanning

IPAM IPv6 address discovery uses Neighborhood Discovery Protocol (NDP). Information is obtained from routers based on the following MIBs and OIDs:

- IPv6 MIB, OID 1.3.6.1.2.1.55.1.12.1.2 (ipv6NetToMediaTablePhysicalAddress)
- IP MIB, OID 1.3.6.1.2.1.4.35 (ipNetToPhysicalTable)
- ipv6NetToMediaValid 1.3.6.1.2.1.55.1.12.1.6
- Cisco proprietary CISCO-IETF-IP-MIB, OID 1.3.6.1.4.1.9.10.86.1.1.3 (clnetNetToMediaTable)

(1) For troubleshooting, verify with these device OIDs.

1. Click Discover IPs to access this functionality from the IPv6 subnet(s) or IPv6 Global prefix menus.

NETWO	RK VIEW	CHART	VIEW					
🖉 EDIT	© DISCO	/ER IPS	🖹 ІМРС	ORT -	🖹 EXPORT	<b></b>	DELET	E
	Display Na	ame	Addr	ess			CIDR	Ma
	Floor 1 - E	ng	2001	:DB8:	201.088		64	fff
	<u>Floor 2 - S</u>	<u>upport</u>	2001	:DB8:	201.288		64	fff



2. Select the routers to scan.

DISCOVER IPV6 ADDRESSES
Scan routers in your network for IPv6 Addresses existing in selected subnets, sites and prefixes.
Routers to scan
Enter one IP address or hostname per line. Both IPv4 and IPv6 (full notation or without zeroes) addresses are accepted
10.2004 2008
DISCOVER CANCEL

The discovery populates all discovered IPs under their IPv6 subnet(s) in the selection. All found IPs that do not belong to a selected subnet are discarded. IPAM uses your SNMP credentials to access the selected routers.

# **IP address requests**

SOLARWINDS

The IP Request feature in IPAM allows anyone within your network to request IP addresses and gives the IPAM administrator a convenient method to review and assign IPs as requested. With the 2020.2.6 release IPAM provides additional options for administrators to work with the IP Request process. This new implementation covers the previous use cases and adds further security and workflow options.

All IPAM administrators should review these <u>new options</u> and adapt the one that best fits their needs.

If you are upgrading from previous versions:

- This change to the IP request process removes the previous method of providing a username/password combination for the IP Address Request form.
- If you were using that method, your network will no longer have access to the IP Address Request form until you <u>select one of the three options</u>.

See:

- The new IP Request form access settings
  - IP Request Access: Restricted
  - IP Request Access: Users with access token
  - IP Request Access: All users
- Request an IP Address using the IP Request link
- <u>Request an IP address with IPAM access</u>
- Process IP address requests
- <u>The IPAM All Created IP Requests report</u>
- IP Request Settings

# The new IP Request form access settings

The new options can be found at the head of the IP Request page.

1. From the SolarWinds web console menu, select Settings > All Settings.

The Main Settings & Administration page is displayed.

2. In the Product Specific Settings section, click IPAM Settings.

The IP Address Manager Settings page is displayed.

Admin IP Ad	dress Manager Settings     ds IP Address Manager; v2020 2.6	;		
	Manage Subnets & IP Address Add, remove, and edit subnets, sup	sses pernets, and IP addresses.		Cetting Learn mo
	» Manage Subnets & IP Addresses » IP Request Settings	» Subnet allocation wizard	» Add Subnets & IP Addresses	» Getting s » Importin » Adding S
P	DHCP & DNS Management Add, remove, and edit DHCP and D	NS servers, scopes, and zones.		Settings Set global
	<ul> <li>» Manage DHCP servers</li> <li>» Manage DNS servers</li> </ul>	» Manage scopes » Manage zones	» Add DHCP server » Add DNS server	» Maintena

3. In the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses section, click IP Request Settings.

The IP Request Settings page is displayed with the IP Request form access settings at the top.

IP Request Settings
IP Request form access settings
<ul> <li>Restricted Only registered Orion users can access the IP Request form.</li> <li>Enabled for users with access token Users can access the IP Request form using this link.</li> </ul>
O Enabled for anyone Users can accesses the IP Request form using a publicly available link.

### Summary of options

You have three options for how you want to work with the IP request process. Click on the option name for further information:

Option	Description
Restricted	If this option is selected, only users with IPAM accounts (and who are logged into this account) can access the IP Address Request form. This is done through My Dashboards > IP Addresses > Request IP Address.



n
to
tc

#### IP Request Access: Users with access token

IP Request Settings		
IP Request form access settings		
Only registered Orion users can access the IP Request form.		
• Enabled for users with access token Users can access the IP Request form using this link.		
http://emails.com/apps/iprequest/56BBE3De	COPY LINK	GENERATE NEW LINK
O Enabled for anyone Users can accesses the IP Request form using a publicly avai	lable link.	

With this option, the IP Request form is presented as a separate public application accessible to people in your network who have been given the page's URL and access token. An SolarWinds account is not required to access this feature.

This feature provide extra security by enabling you to regenerate a new access token at any time. This is especially useful if you are periodically changing access credentials in your network, or in response to a particular security event.

SolarWinds web console users are still able to access the private request form via the SolarWinds web console menu.



Users with permission to view subnet options in the IP request form should access it via the SolarWinds web console menu rather than using the link as subnets are not displayed when the IP Request form is accessed through the link.

#### IP Request Access: All users

Enabled for anyone

IP Request Settings
IP Request form access settings
O Restricted Only registered Orion users can access the IP Request form.
O Enabled for users with access token Users can access the IP Request form using this link.
<b>Enabled for anyone</b> Users can accesses the IP Request form using a publicly available link.
http://

This option provides a separate public application similar to the previous option but the difference is the link structure ends with a static "/apps/iprequest". It is not possible to change this link or update it. Team members in your network can bookmark this link and know it will always work as long as the "enabled for anyone" option is selected.

SolarWinds web console users are still able to access the private request form via the SolarWinds web console menu.

(i) Users with permission to view subnet options in the IP request form should access it via the SolarWinds web console menu rather than using the link as subnets are not displayed when the IP Request form is accessed through the link.


#### **IP Request Access: Restricted**

IP Request Settings
IP Request form access settings
<ul> <li>Restricted</li> <li>Only registered Orion users can access the IP Request form.</li> </ul>
O Enabled for users with access token Users can access the IP Request form using this link.
O Enabled for anyone Users can accesses the IP Request form using a publicly available link.

When you upgrade or install IPAM, this will be the default option as it provides the most security of the three options.

To request IP addresses, a team member will need to have a login for the SolarWinds web console and will need to be logged in.

If a user is not logged in, they will be redirected to the IPAM login page.

Users with any IPAM role will have access to the IP request page, but some parts of the IP Request form may be restricted and not shown (for example, where subnets are displayed), depending upon their IPAM permissions.

## Request an IP Address using the IP Request link

When a user without an IPAM login requires one or more IP addresses, they should use the following procedure:

(1) The user will need an IP Request link. This will either be static or will end with an access token depending on the security option in force.

For example:

- https://amadeupcompanyinaustin.com/apps/iprequest-ifitisastaticlink
- https://amadeupcompanyinaustin.com/apps/iprequest/ABCD9999-if an access token is required

The user should contact their IPAM administrator if they do not have this link or it does not work.

1. Enter the IP Request link in the address bar of the browser.

The IP Address Request page is displayed.

IP Address Request	
Request	st Details Confirmation
Request Details	
How many IP addresses do you need?	
1 🗸 🖍	
Additional Comments? (i.e. department/location/ other) Optional	
20	
Your Contact Info	
First Name	
Last Name	
Phone Optional	
Email	
	REQUEST ADDRESS(ES) CANCEL

- 2. Select the number of IP addresses required.
- 3. (Optional) Enter any comments regarding this request.
- 4. Enter contact information, and click Request Address(es).

(i) All fields except those marked as Optional must be completed.

When the user clicks Request Address(es) a conformation message is displayed, telling them their request has been sent to the administrator and they will be contacted shortly.

Within the IPAM, an alert is created and displayed on the All Active Alerts page in the SolarWinds Web Console. For information on processing the request, see <u>Process IP request alerts</u>.

## **Request an IP address with IPAM access**

If you have access to the SolarWinds Web Console, you can request IP addresses as described below.

(i) The pages and fields displayed depend upon your IPAM permissions. The screenshots shown below are for a user with full access.



1. From the SolarWinds Web Console, go to My Dashboard > IP Addresses > Request IP Address.

P Address Request		
Request Details	Subnet Selector Available IP Address(es) Confirmation	
Request Details		
How many IP addresses do you need?		
1 ~ ^		
Would you like to select a subnet for your IP Address(es)?		
No • Yes (selection occurs on next step)		
Additional Comments? (i.e. department/location/ other)		
Your Contact Info		
First Name		
John		
Last Name		
Bin2		
Phone Optional		
Email		
jo@bin2.com		
	NEXT	CANCEL

- 2. Enter the number of IP addresses required.
- 3. If you want to select the subnet for your IP address(es), Click Yes. This option is only available if your IPAM role provides the appropriate permissions.
- 4. (Optional) Enter any comments you want to accompany this request.
- 5. Enter your contact information.

() All fields except those marked as Optional must be completed.

- 6. Click Next.
  - If you selected No in Step 3, a message is displayed confirming your request, and an alert is displayed on the Active alerts page.
  - If you selected Yes in Step 3, the Subnet Selector page is displayed.

Only subnets where there are sufficient IP addresses for the request are displayed.



IP Address Request			
	⊘ Request Details — ● Subnet Selector	Available IP Address(es)	Confirmation
<ul> <li>✓ FILTER THE RESULTS</li> <li>▶ CIDR (2)</li> </ul>	≪ ↑ Address ∨		Search Q
Subnet Type (1)	RegresionScope2 10.10.88.0/24	<b>99</b> Available IPs	
	<b>10.150.16.0 /23</b> 10.150.16.0/23	<b>213</b> Available IPs	
	< 1 > 1-2 of 2		
< BACK			NEXT CANCEL

- 7. Select the subnet to use, and click Next.
- 8. The Available IP Address(es) page is displayed. The first available IP addresses in the selected subnet are displayed.
- 9. If appropriate, enter the host names and MAC addresses for the reserved IP addresses.
- 10. Click Reserve Address(es).

A confirmation message is displayed to say that the request has been sent to the administrator.

An alert is created, that will be displayed on the All Active Alerts page in the SolarWinds Web Console.

For information on processing the request, see Process IP request alerts.

### **Process IP address requests**

When someone requests IP addresses, an alert appears in the Active Alerts widget on the SolarWinds Summary view.





Click the alert title to open the Active Alert Details page.

This page shows information specifically for this alert. The Requester Details widget shows contact details, including those created in the <u>Requester Details fields</u>, for the person who made the request.

The alert should be acknowledged by clicking Acknowledge in the alert Status Overview widget. For more information on SolarWinds alerts, see <u>Use alerts to monitor your environment with the IPAM</u>.

Use the IP Address Request widget to process the request:

- 1. If the request does not specify a subnet, or you want to allocate IP addresses from a different subnet:
  - a. Click Select Subnet in the IP Address Request(s) widget.
  - b. Select the subnet on which you want to allocate IP addresses for this request. Only subnets containing sufficient addresses are displayed.
- 2. To deny individual IP address requests, click the Status icon to show .
- 3. To add or change the Hostname or MAC Address or enter a value for a custom property assigned to the IP address, click the pencil icon and edit the appropriate fields on the pop-up window.
- 4. Click Process Request.
- 5. Enter any relevant comment to be emailed to the requester.
- 6. Click Reserve IPAM Only.

The IP addresses are now reserved in IPAM and can be seen on the IP Address View of the <u>Manage</u> <u>Subnets & IP Addresses</u> page.

#### To deny an entire IP request

Click Deny Request. You can optionally include a comment to be emailed to the requester.

## The IPAM - All Created IP Requests report

A report showing all IP requests is available. This shows request date, number of addresses, the name of the user who made the request, and other details.

- 1. Go to Reports > All Reports.
- 2. Select IPAM Reports > IPAM All Created IP Requests.

## **IP Request Settings**

😴 SOLARWINDS

This page enables you to add administrators to be notified when IPs are requested, set up content in the request and notification emails, and add additional mandatory and optional fields to the IP request page.

- 1. Navigate to Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings > IPAM Request Settings.
- 2. Edit the settings are required.

IP Request form access settings	The settings, enable the administrator to set the security option for IP requests. For information, see <u>The IP Request form access settings</u> .
Requester Details fields	(i) These fields are displayed in addition to the mandatory First Name, Last Name, Phone and Email in the Your Contact Info section on the requester's IP Address Request page.
	a. Click Add New field, enter the field name and click Add.
	b. Check the Required box if this field must be completed by the requester.
Basic fields settings	Check the Required boxes if you want requesters who select a subnet to supply a Host Name and/or MAC address for each IP request.
Custom Properties	Custom properties set up for IPAM Nodes are displayed here. You can specify whether these properties are required or optional. You can also add, delete or edit custom properties by clicking Manage Custom Properties. See <u>Custom</u> properties in the IPAM for more information on Custom Properties.
Notification	These fields enable you to specify:
Settings	<ul> <li>The email addresses for administrators to be notified when IP addresses are requested</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>The signature text for the email notification sent to the administrator when a request is made</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>The signature text for emails sent to the requester when a request is processed or denied</li> </ul>
Subnet Settings	Here you can specify whether scopes are to be included in subnet lists.

3. Click Save Changes.



## **Request an IP address with IPAM access**

1. From the SolarWinds Web Console, go to My Dashboard > IP Addresses > Request IP Address.

IP Address Request
Request Details Subnet Selector Available IP Address(es) Confirmation
Request Details
1     V
Would you like to select a subnet for your IP Address(es)?         No       Yes (selection occurs on next step)
Additional Comments? (i.e. department/location/ other) Optional
Your Contact Info
First Name
John
Last Name
Bin2
Phone Optional
Email
jo@bin2.com
NEXT CANCEL

- 2. Enter the number of IP addresses required.
- 3. If you want to select the subnet for your IP address(es), Click Yes.
- 4. (Optional) Enter any comments you want to accompany this request.
- 5. Enter your contact information.

(1) All fields except those marked as Optional must be completed.

- 6. Click Next.
  - If you selected No in Step 3, a message is displayed confirming your request, and an alert is displayed on the Active alerts page.
  - If you selected Yes in Step 3, the Subnet Selector page is displayed.

Only subnets where there are sufficient IP addresses for the request are displayed.



IP Address Request				
	Subnet Selector	Available IP Address(es)	Confirmation	
<ul> <li>ℱ FILTER THE RESULTS</li> <li>▶ CIDR (2)</li> </ul>	≪ Address ✓		Search	Q
Subnet Type (1)	RegresionScope2 10.10.88.0/24	<b>99</b> Available IPs		
	<b>10.150.16.0 /23</b> 10.150.16.0/23	<b>213</b> Available IPs		
	< 1 > 1-2 of 2			
< BACK			NEXT	CANCEL

- 7. Select the subnet to use, and click Next.
- 8. The Available IP Address(es) page is displayed. The first available IP addresses in the selected subnet are displayed.
- 9. If appropriate, enter the host names and MAC addresses for the reserved IP addresses.
- 10. Click Reserve Address(es).

A confirmation message is displayed to say that the request has been sent to the administrator.

An alert is created, that will be displayed on the All Active Alerts page in the SolarWinds Web Console.

For information on processing the request, see Process IP request alerts.

# Manage subnets in IPAM

Subnet creation and management are primary functions of IPAM.

SolarWinds recommends a maximum of around 125,000 subnets to avoid performance degradation. Using CIDR = 24, this allows for a total of around three million IP addresses.

This section includes the following topics:

- Add IPv4 subnets and IP addresses
- <u>Create subnets</u>
- Edit subnets
- Bulk Add Subnets
- Export subnets
- IPAM Subnet Allocation wizard

## Add IPv4 subnets and IP addresses

The Subnet Discovery wizard scans selected routers for IPv4 subnets and their IP Addresses and imports them into IPAM. The wizard eliminates the need for manual entry or the importing of IP Address spreadsheets.

- 1. Go to Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings > Add Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Select Discover routers & poll subnets and IP addresses from them, and click Next.

The Subnet Discover wizard is displayed.

Subnet discovery				
Specify nodes	SNMP credential	s Discovery settings	Review and import	
Specify nodes Scan selected routers for IPv4 subnets and their I Available routers ✓ Default gateway - 10. Scans routers that can be discovered from a default gate ✓ Add routers to scan manually (advanced) Choose a selection method O Select a monitored SNMP nodes O Add nodes by IP address	P Addresses. In case you way	want to scan routers that a	re not monitored nodes er	nter their IP Addresses below.
FILTERS : « Community Contact FIP Version Location Machine Type Polling Engine Polling Method RWCommunity SNMP Version Status		ame AUS cur ENG	Search Pollin 10. 10.	Q g IP Address
<ul> <li>Onmanage window</li> <li>Vendor</li> </ul>	< 1 >			1-3 of 3 10 🗸
			Ca	ncel Next >

- 3. Select the nodes to scan. You can:
  - Accept the Default Gateway (Checked by default).
  - Select from the list of monitored SNMP nodes.
  - Manually add routers. To scan routers that are not monitored nodes, click Add nodes by IP Address, and add their IP addresses in the text box.

Click Next.

4. If you need to add new credentials, click Add Credential, or click an existing credential. Click Next. For information on adding credentials, see <u>Add SNMP credentials</u>.



5. Adjust the Discovery Settings sliders for Hop Count and SNMP Timeouts. IPAM scans the default gateway and any other selected routers within the range of hops you determine. Click Discover subnets. The Discovering subnets progress bar is displayed.

Discovering subnets		
	Overall progress	67%
	Current step	14%
Scanning for Routers:	10.	
Routers scanned:	0	
Subnets discovered:	0	
	Cancel	Close

6. Select the IP addresses you want to import on the Subnet Discovery Review and Import page. Click Import.

#### How IPAM discovers IP addresses

IPAM uses device routing tables to poll the subnets.

The following OIDs are used during discovery and device polling:

Name	OID
IpForwarding	1.3.6.1.2.1.4.1
IpRouteDest	1.3.6.1.2.1.4.21.1.1
IpRouteMask	1.3.6.1.2.1.4.21.1.11.
IpCidrRouteDest	1.3.6.1.2.1.4.24.4.1.1.
IpCidrRouteMask	1.3.6.1.2.1.4.24.4.1.2
ipRouteType	1.3.6.1.2.1.4.21.1.8
NexthopAddress	1.3.6.1.2.1.4.21.1.7



## **Create subnets**

Create subnets within selected subnets, supernets, and groups directly from the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page.

- (1) You can also add multiple subnets using the **Bulk Add Subnets**.
  - 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
  - 2. Select the network, group, or supernet to which you want to add a subnet.
  - 3. Click Add > Subnet.
  - 4. (i) Click Add > Subnet Allocation wizard instead to create subnets within a designated supernet based on subnet size. See <u>IPAM Subnet Allocation Wizard</u> for more information.
  - 5. Enter a subnet name. If you leave this field empty, IPAM automatically generates a name based on the subnet address and CIDR prefix length provided.
  - 6. Provide a subnet address and a CIDR prefix length for the subnet.

(i) See <u>IPAM concepts and terminology</u> for more information about CIDR and subnet addressing.

- 7. (Optional) provide a description, VLAN ID, or location for the subnet.
- 8. If you have defined custom properties for subnets, or want to create them, you can do so here.
- 9. If you do not want IPAM to automatically scan this subnet for changes, select Disable Automatic Scanning.
- 10. Select the scan interval, or use the default period of 4 hours.
- 11. For information on using neighbor scanning to retrieve information on currently unresponsive devices within this subnet, see Neighbor scanning in IPAM
- 12. For information on setting a transient period for IP addresses in this subnet, see <u>Configure</u> <u>subnet scan settings manually</u>.
- 13. After you have configured the subnet, click Save.

You can drag and drop subnets into other groups and supernets to organize your network.

You cannot move subnets between Hierarchy groups.



## Edit subnets

Use the Edit Subnet Properties box to edit the properties of a subnet, add custom information, add custom URLs, disable automatic scanning, change the scan interval, and customize user roles for the subnet.

(1) The Edit Subnet properties box can also be accessed from the Scan Job Status window.

- 1. Click My Dashboards > IP Address Manager > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Click the subnet you want to edit.
- 3. Click Properties.
- 4. Edit the subnet name and the CIDR prefix length for your subnet.
- 5. Edit the description, VLAN ID, or location for your subnet.
- 6. Edit the custom fields, server details, automatic scanning, transient period and account roles for this subnet if required.
- 7. Click Save after you have configured your subnet.

## **Bulk Add Subnets**

The Bulk Add Subnets page enables you to manually enter a list of multiple subnets in one action.

- 1. Go to My Dashboards >IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & Addresses.
- 2. Select Import > Bulk Add Subnets.

Bulk Add Subnets					
Insert Subnet/CIDR prefixe For example: 208.128.0.0/	es in the box below and cl 24	ick Parse And Show	Results Below		
IP Address Allocation Spa	ace				
100.0.0/24 101.0.0.0/24					
PARSE AND SHOW RESU	LTS BELOW Only su	ubnets which do not o	overlap with existing s	subnets are listed.	
2 subnet(s) parsed sucessf	fully.				
Subnet Start	Subnet End	CIDR	Subnet Mask		
100.0.0	100.0.255	24	255.255.255.0		
101.0.0.0	101.0.0.255	24	255.255.255.0		
				NEXT	CANCEL

- 3. Enter the subnet/CIDRs into the IP Address Allocation Space.
- 4. Click Parse and show results below.

The subnets are parsed, verified and listed showing the subnet start, send and mask.



5. Select the subnets to be added and click Next.

Bulk Add Subnet	S	
Subnet Settings		
▶ 1 Selected Subnets		
Move new subnets int	o the smallest appropriate supernet	
Subnet Properties		
Description:		
eg.: Roll-out note, allocati	on purpose, expected use date	
VLAN ID:		
Location:		
Automatic Scanning		
	Disable Automatic Scanning	
	Update but not erase manually entered data	
Scan Interval:	240	Minutes
	BACK	DONE CANCEL

- 6. (Optional) Enter subnet details.
- 7. Click Done.
- 8. The Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page is redisplayed showing the subnets that were added.

## **Export subnets**

You can export details of your entire IPAM network or selected objects within the network as spreadsheets. You can also choose to export just the structure.

(1) Due to limitations with the .xls format, it is only possible to export Excel files where:

- IPAM 2020.2.1 and later: CIDR = 13 and higher (up to 524,288 addresses)
- IPAM 2020.2 and earlier: CIDR = 17 and higher (up to 32,768 addresses)



- 1. Navigate to the Manage Subnets & IP Addresses page.
- 2. Select the objects to be exported. If you do not select anything, the entire network will be exported.

Manage Subnets & IP	Addresses						
	IP ADDRESS VIEW	CHART VIEW					
🕀 ADD 🗸   🖉 EDIT   🏛 DELETE	ADD IP RANGE	🖉 EDIT   🖹 VIEW DETAILS	Filter: 🍸 ALL -	SELECT IP R	ANGE   💿 SCAN 🗸   [	IP SET STATUS -	🗎 IMPORT 🗕 EXPORT 🗸
Display Name	Address	Status Address (IPv6	i) MAC	Vendor	Scope Name	Hostname	🗎 Export All
3 10.0.0.0 / 24	🔲 📭 10.0.0.0	Reserved			N/A		Export structure only
	🔲 💌 10.0.0.1	Available			N/A		4
	🔲 💌 10.0.0.2	Used	00:0A:E6:3	Microsoft Cor	N/A	UBUNTU-01.Ir	npo
	🔲 💌 10.0.0.3	Used	00:0A:E6:3	Micro-Star INT	N/A	Windows.Imp	ortS
	🔲 💌 10.0.0.4	Used			N/A		

3. Click Export All.

(1) To export only the structure, click Export structure only, and skip step 6 below.

- 4. Select the columns you want to export as the structure spreadsheet, and click Next. The first six columns (Id, Address, CIDR, Type, Display Name, and Parent Id) are mandatory.
- Select the columns you want to export as the subnet spreadsheet(s), and click Next.
   Only the IP Address column is mandatory.
- 6. Select whether you want to export the data as .xls or .csv files, and click Export.
- 7. Enter a name for the zip file to be created or accept the default, and click Save.

The zip file will consist of a structure spreadsheet and a sub-directory of subnet spreadsheets.

## **IPAM Subnet Allocation wizard**

The Subnet Allocation Wizard provides a method to specify supernet and subnet sizes that can automatically be allocated.

- For an example of using the wizard to create subnets, see Create subnets.
- For an example of using the wizard to organize an IP address space into IPAM subnets, see Organize an IP address space into subnets.

# Manage supernets in IPAM

Supernets are useful organizational tools for managing your network, and help bind multiple networks or subnets into one network with a single CIDR prefix, decreasing the size of routing tables and saving valuable memory and CPU cycles on routers.

The routing prefix of a supernet is aggregated from the prefixes of given networks or subnets and it must be smaller or the same as smallest component network prefix. Many supernet calculators are available online such as the <u>Supernet Calculator</u> (external link).

Create supernets	89
Edit supernets	

## **Create supernets**

Create a supernet for organizing your network components.

- 1. Click IP Address Manager > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Select the network, supernet, or group to which you want to add the supernet.
- 3. Click Add > Supernet.
- 4. Enter a name for your subnet.
- 5. Enter the supernet address and CIDR prefix length.
- 6. (Optional) provide a description for the supernet.
- 7. If you have defined custom properties, provide values.
- 8. After you have configured the supernet, click Save.

You can drag and drop the supernet into other groups and supernets to organize your network as required.

## **Edit supernets**

To edit the properties of a supernet:

- 1. Click My Dashboards > IP Address Manager > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Click the supernet you want to edit.

- 3. Click Properties.
- 4. Enter the supernet name and the CIDR prefix length.
- 5. (Optional) Enter a description for your supernet.
- 6. If you have defined custom properties for supernets, edit the values.
- 7. After you have configured your supernet, click Save.



# **DHCP and DNS Management views**

The 2020.2 release of the IPAM IP Address Manager introduces an updated DHCP & DNS Management view, enabling dynamic filtering, improved workflows, and cleaner, refreshed layouts.

Internet Explorer is not supported by the new DHCP & DNS Management view. SolarWinds recommends using a different browser (such as Chrome or Firefox) for the best user experience.

DHCP & DNS m	anagement													
DHCP SERVERS	DHCP SCOPES	5	DNS SERVE	RS DNS ZONES										
FILTERS		«	(+) Add	Add Search Q										
Location			•	DHCP server name	Туре	IP address	Failover	Location	VLAN ID	Num. scopes	% IPs used	Total IPs	Used IPs	Available IPs
Server Type		1		big ENG-AUS-NET-849	ISC	10.199.72.85				1492	0.00%	849520	30	849490
		1	< 1	>									1	-1 of 1 25 🗸
<ul> <li>Status</li> </ul>														
🔲 Up		1												
VLAN ID														
None		1												



## <sup>1</sup> Switch between versions

The new version of the DHCP & DNS Management view is displayed by default.

If you prefer to use the previous version of the DHCP & DNS Management view, you can easily toggle between the new and legacy views.

- 1. From the navigation menu, go to Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings.
- 2. In the Settings section on the left, click System Settings.
- 3. On the System Settings page, uncheck the Enable New User Interface box to use the legacy version. To return to the new version at any time, check this box.

Admin 🕨 IPAM Settings 🕨	
System Settings	
General Settings	
Enable Duplicated Subnets	When disabled, it is not allowed to create a subnet that is a c Also, will merge the status from multiple DHCP server scope
	Lise new Liser Interface for DHCP&DNS management

See also:

## The IPAM DHCP and DNS Management view

With the 2020.2 release of IPAM, an improved, updated version of the DHCP & DNS Management page is displayed by default.

This page allows you to navigate through various tabs to <u>manage your DHCP servers and scopes</u>, and <u>DNS servers and zones</u>.

DHCP & DNS ma	nagement														
DHCP SERVERS	DHCP SCOPES	5	DNS SERVE	RS DNS ZONES											
FILTERS		<b>«</b>	(+) Add									Search		Q	1
<ul> <li>Location</li> </ul>			-	DHCP server name	Туре	IP address	Failover	Location	VLAN ID	Num. scopes	% IPs used	Total IPs	Used IPs	Available IPs	
None		1		big ENG-AUS-NET-849	ISC	10.199.72.85				1492	0.00%	849520	30	849490	
		1	< 1	>									1	-1 of 1 25 🗸	
<ul> <li>Status</li> </ul>															
🗖 Up		1													
VLAN ID															
None		1													

The DHCP & DNS Management page is divided into two panes.



The left pane provides filters (depending on the selected tab) that enable you to narrow down the items displayed. Expand each filter to show the categories within the filter type. Categories for which no items are displayed are hidden.

The right pane provides one of four views, selected by clicking the links on the menu bar:

- DHCP Servers
- DHCP Scopes
- DNS Servers
- DNS Zones

The columns displayed for these views can be edited by clicking the **method** icon next to the search box. Select the columns to be displayed (and uncheck those to be hidden), and click Update Columns.

#### DHCP Servers

The DHCP Servers view displays a list of DHCP Servers currently being monitored in IPAM. These can be filtered by Location, Server Type, Status, and VLAN ID in the left column.



Click on a server name to display the DHCP Server Details page.

Click Add to open the Add DHCP Server page for this server.

If you select a server, additional options are displayed:

DHCP SERVERS	DHCP SCOPES	DNS SERVE	RS DN	IS ZONES			
FILTERS	*	🕀 Add	🖉 Edit	🔊 Scan	() G	iraph Vie	w 前 Delete
<ul> <li>Location</li> </ul>		<ul> <li></li> </ul>	DHCP se	erver name		Туре	IP address
None	1		Provide the second seco	G-AUS-NET-8	849	ISC	10.199.72.85
• Server Type							

For information on DHCP servers, see Monitor and manage DHCP servers.



### **DHCP** Scopes

The DHCP Scopes view displays a list of DHCP scopes currently being monitored in IPAM. These can be filtered by CIDR, Enabled, Status, Failover, Location, Server name, Status and VLAN ID. Click on a scope name to display the <u>IP Address view</u> for this scope. Click on a Server name to display to display the DHCP Server Details page for the server.

DHCP & DNS mana	agement															
DHCP SERVERS	DHCP SCOPES	DNS SERVE	ERS DNS ZONES													
FILTERS	«	( Add												Sea	arch	Q 🖬
► CIDR		•	Scope name	Server name	Failover	Addresses served	Address	Mask/CIDR	Enabled	Location	VLAN ID	% IPs used	Total IPs	Used IPs	Available IPs	Shared network
Enabled     Eniloyer			10.192.112.0 / 255.255.240.0	big-AUS-NET-849		*******	10.192.112.0	255.255.240.0/20	Yes			0.00%	3904	0	3904	
<ul> <li>Location</li> </ul>				PING-AUS-NET-849		******	10.192.144.0	255.255.240.0/20	Yes			0.00%	3904	0	3904	
<ul> <li>Server Name</li> </ul>			8 10.192.160.0 / 255.255.240.0	Seng-AUS-NET-849		*******	10.192.160.0	255.255.240.0/20	Yes			0.00%	3904	0	3904	
ENG-AUS-NE	ET-849 151			Seng-Aus-Net-849		******	10.192.192.0	255.255.240.0/20	Yes			0.00%	3904	0	3904	
Shared Network     Status	c			Seng-Aus-Net-849		******	10.192.224.0	255.255.240.0/20	Yes			0.00%	3904	0	3904	
VLAN ID			l0.192.240.0 / 255.255.240.0	Seng-AUS-NET-849		*****	10.192.240.0	255.255.240.0/20	Yes			0.00%	3416	0	3416	

Click Add to open the Add DHCP Scope page for this server.

If you select a scope, additional options are displayed.

🕂 Add	🖉 Edit 🛛 🕒 Graph view	ر المركز Address leases	Delete N	Nore 🗸
	Scope name	Server name	Failover	Addresses served
	lertScopeTest	ENG-AUS-NET-815		
	location C&C Generals	BING-AUS-NET-815	Load Balance	•

For information on DHCP scopes, see Create or edit a scope on a DHCP server.

#### **DNS Servers**

The DNS Servers view displays a list of DNS Servers currently being monitored in IPAM. These can be filtered by Location, Server Type, Status and VLAD ID. Click on the server name to open the DNS Zones tab showing the DNS zones for this server.

DHCP SERVERS	DHCP SCOPES	DNS SERV	ERS DNS ZONES									
FILTERS	*	(+) Add								Search		Q 📧
Location		•	DNS server name	Туре	IP address	Prefer zone transfer	Last update	Num. zones	Location	VLAN ID	Description	
None None	1		b ENG-AUS-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85	No	3/23/20, 11:58 AM	8				
Bind	1	< 1	>								1-1 of 1	25 🗸
<ul> <li>Status</li> </ul>												
Up Up	1											
VLAN ID												
None None	1											

Click Add to open the Add DNS server page.

If you select a server, the following additional options are displayed.



DNS SERVE	RS DNS ZONES
(+) Add	🖉 Edit 🛞 Scan  🏦 Delete
<ul> <li></li> </ul>	DNS server name
	ING-AUS-NET-849

For details on adding, editing and using DNS servers, see Monitor and Manage DNS servers.

### **DNS** Zones

The DNS zones view displays a list of DNS zones currently being monitored in IPAM. These can be filtered by Lookup Type, Server Name, Location, Server Type, Status and Zone Type.

DHCP SERVERS DHCP SC	DHCP SERVERS DHCP SCOPES DNS SERVERS DNS SERVERS												
FILTERS	«	🕀 Add										Search	Q 🖬
<ul> <li>Lookup Type</li> </ul>		•	Zone name	View name	Zone status	Zone type	Lookup type	DNS server	Server type	IP address	Prefer zone transfer	Last zone transfer time	Dynamic update
Forward     Reverse	4		🐌 0.in-addr.arpa		Up	Primary	Reverse	Seng-AUS-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85	No	3/23/20, 11:58 AM	No update
<ul> <li>Server Name</li> </ul>			1.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0		Up	Primary	Reverse	long-aus-net-849	Bind	10.199.72.85	No	3/23/20, 11:58 AM	No update
ENG-AUS-NET-849	8	0	🐻 1.0.0.127.in-addr.arpa		Up	Primary	Reverse	Seng-Aus-Net-849	Bind	10.199.72.85	No	3/23/20, 11:58 AM	No update
<ul> <li>Server Type</li> </ul>			a. 1.11.10.in-addr.arpa		Up	Primary	Reverse	long-aus-net-849	Bind	10.199.72.85	No	3/23/20, 11:58 AM	No update
Bind	8		🐌 hi.local		Up	Primary	Forward	long-AUS-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85	No	3/23/20, 11:58 AM	No update
Up	8		BAM1594test		Up	Stub	Forward	Seng-AUS-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85	No		No update
<ul> <li>Zone Type</li> </ul>			🐌 localhost		Up	Primary	Forward	long-aus-net-849	Bind	10.199.72.85	No	3/23/20, 11:58 AM	No update
Primary	7		a localhost.localdomain		Up	Primary	Forward	Seng-Aus-Net-849	Bind	10.199.72.85	No	3/23/20, 12:58 PM	No update
L Stub	1	< 1	>										1-8 of 8 25 👻

Click Add to open the Add a DNS zone.

If you select a DNS zone, additional options are displayed.

DNS SERVERS DNS ZONES								
🕀 Add 🖉 Edit 🗟 DNS Records 🐵 Scan 🏦 Delete								
•	Zone name	View name	Zone status	Zone type	Lookup type	DNS server		
	🎭 _msdcs.demo.lab		Unreachable	Primary	Forward	📕 WESTADDS01v		
	🎚 1.196.10.in-addr.arpa		Unreachable	Primary	Reverse	📕 WESTADDS01v		

For information on using DNS zones, see Add a DNS zone and Edit a DNS zone.

## The IPAM DHCP & DNS Management (Legacy) view

The legacy IPAM DHCP & DNS Management page allows you to navigate through tabs to manage your DNS and DHCP servers.

 To toggle between new and legacy versions of the DHCP & DNS Management page, see <u>Switch</u> between versions.

solarwınds 🗲	MY DASHBOARDS → AI	LERTS & ACTIVITY - REPO	DRTS - SETTINGS -						
DHCP & DNS Management									
Group By:	DHCP DNS ZONES	DNS SERVERS						_	
[ric crouping]	🕀 ADD NEW -   👮 SCOPES	S-   🖉 EDIT   💿 SCAN   🖪	VIEW DETAILS   C GRAPH VIE	N 🛛 🖹 ADDRESS LEASES	REMOVE				
	Server/Scope 🔺	Server Type	Failover Server Address	Address Served	Scope Address	CIDR	Mask	Enabled	
	🔲 🔺 🛑 EASTADDS01v	Windows	🕆 Enable 10.1.40.7						
	EAST0021: Us	ers-1stFl			10.1.21.0	24	255.255.255.0	Yes	
	EAST0022: Us	ers-2ndFl			10.1.22.0	24	255.255.255.0	Yes	
	EAST0039: Ma	anagement	🗄 Hot Sta		10.1.39.0	24	255.255.255.0	Yes	
	EAST0122: IPT	T-2ndFl			10.1.122.0	24	255.255.255.0	Yes	
	EAST0300: Ex	ternal Acce	🕮 Hot Sta		10.196.3.0	26	255.255.255.192	Yes	
	EASTADDS02v	Windows	🖄 Enable 10.196.3.8					Yes	
	📃 🕨 🌒 infoblox.localdon	nain Infoblox	10.11.46.130					Tes	
	EAST0121: IPT	T-1stFl			10.1.121.0	24	255.255.255.0	Yes	

The DHCP & DNS Management page is divided into two panes.

The left pane can be used to group and select the items displayed by catagories.

The right pane provides three tabs, providing the following views:

- DHCP tab
- DNS Zones tab
- DNS Servers tab
- The columns in the DHCP, DNS Zones and DNS Servers views can be hidden or displayed by moving the cursor over any column heading, clicking on the down arrow that appears, selecting Add/Remove Columns, and selecting or deselecting the appropriate item. You can also drag and drop the columns into the order required in the DNS Zones and DNS Servers views. These changes will be retained for your login.

#### DHCP tab

DHCP	DNS ZONES	DNS SERVER	RS							
	🕀 ADD NEW +   🖳 SCOPES +   🖉 EDIT   💿 SCAN   🗟 VIEW DETAILS   🕒 GRAPH VIEW   🗟 ADDRESS LEASES   📾 REMOVE									
Server/	/Scope 🔺	Sei	rver Type	Failover	Server Address	Address Served	Scope Addr	ess CIDR	Mask	Enabled
	WESTLNXIP01V	ISC	C		10.129.40.32					
	🐅 <u>10.129.90.0</u>	/ 255.255.25					10.129.90.0	) 24	255.255.255.0	Yes

The DHCP Servers tab displays a list of all DHCP Servers that are monitored in IPAM. These can be grouped by server type, VLAD ID, server location or status, or by Scopes name or status.

For information on adding and editing DHCP servers, see Monitor and manage DHCP servers.



- Click the icon before a Server to display the scopes on this server.
- Click a scope to open the <u>IP Address View</u> details.

#### DNS Zones tab

DH	ICP DNS ZONES	DNS SERVERS										
(±) A	🕀 ADD NEW-   🖉 EDIT ZONE DETAILS   🖹 DNS RECORDS   🙆 SCAN   💼 REMOVE DNS ZONES											
	Zone Name	View Name	Zone Status	Zone Type	Lookup Type	DNS	5 Server	Server Type	Address	Prefer Zone Tr	Last Zone Transfer Time	Dynamic Update
	🐻 0.in-addr.arpa		Unreachable	Primary	Reverse		WESTLNXIP01V	BIND	10.129.40.32	No	10/9/2019 11:44 pm	No update
	1.196.10.in-add.	. DNS_View	Up	Primary	Reverse		EASTADDS01v	Windows	10.1.40.7	Yes	10/9/2019 10:41 pm	No update
	1.196.10.in-add.	. DNS_Lviv	Up	Primary	Reverse		EASTADDS02v	Windows	10.196.3.8	Yes	10/9/2019 09:33 pm	No update
	🍋 1.196.10.in-add.	. DNS_View	Up	Primary	Reverse		LOSAADDS01v	Windows	10.149.40.7	Yes	10/9/2019 09:01 pm	No update
	🍋 1.196.10.in-add.	. DNS_View	Up	Primary	Reverse		NEWYADDS01v	Windows	10.21.40.7	Yes	10/9/2019 09:48 pm	No update
	🍋 1.196.10.in-add.	. DNS_Brno	Up	Primary	Reverse	•	WESTADDS01v	Windows	10.129.40.7	Yes	10/9/2019 05:24 pm	No update

The DNS Zones tab displays all monitored DNS Zones. These can be grouped by zones by server or status, or servers by status or server type.

For information on DNS zones, see <u>Add a DNS zone</u> and <u>Edit a DNS zone</u>.

#### **DNS Servers Tab**

[	нср	DNS ZONES	DNS SERVER	s							
÷	🕀 ADD NEW -   🖉 EDIT DNS SERVER   💿 SCAN   💼 REMOVE DNS SERVERS										
	DNS	Server	Server Type	Address	Prefer Zone Tr	Last Update	No. of Zones	Location	VLAN ID	Description	
		EASTADDS01v	Windows	10.1.40.7	Yes	10/9/2019 08:35 pm	40				
		infoblox.localdo	Infoblox	10.11.46.130	Yes	7/27/2018 01:02 pm	9				
		NEWYADDS01v	Windows	10.21.40.7	Yes	10/9/2019 08:26 pm	40				
		WESTADDS01v	Windows	10.129.40.7	Yes	10/9/2019 09:58 pm	40				
		WESTADDS02v	Windows	10.129.40.8	Yes	10/9/2019 10:45 pm	40				
	٠	WESTLNXIP01V	BIND	10.129.40.32	No	10/9/2019 10:38 pm	9				

The DNS Servers tab displays all monitored DNS Servers. These can be grouped by zones by server or status, or servers by status or server type.

For information on adding and editing DNS servers, see Monitor and manage DNS servers.

• Click a server to display the DNS Zones tab, grouped by Server.

# Monitor and manage DHCP servers

IPAM integrates DHCP and DNS management with IP address management into one interface. You can manage Cisco, Infoblox, ISC and Microsoft DHCP servers.

(i) Since Infoblox monitoring is read-only certain DHCP operations are unavailable. For further information see Monitor the Infoblox environment.

This section covers:

- <u>Requirements for monitoring Cisco and ASA servers</u>
- Manage and monitor ISC DHCP servers
- Add, edit, or remove a DHCP server to IPAM
- DHCP Impersonation
- Edit a DHCP Server
- Create or edit a scope on a DHCP server
  - Define scope options on a DHCP server
  - Configure split scopes on DHCP servers
  - Discovered Scopes
  - Remove a scope
- Set up and monitor Windows DHCP server failover
- Reserve an IP Address on a Windows DHCP server
- Troubleshooting DHCP and DNS connections in IPAM
- ARP table

## **Requirements for monitoring Cisco and ASA servers**

To monitor Cisco and ASA DHCP servers in IPAM, the devices being added must support the following:

- Cisco devices commands:
  - 'show running-config'
  - 'show ip dhcp pool'
  - 'show ip dhcp binding'
- ASA device commands:

-show dhcpd binding-show running-config dhcpd-show dhscpd statistics



-show interface 1 inc interface 1 ip address

- Layer 3 switch or router
- IOS version 12.2(8)T or later
- Enable level 15

## Manage and monitor ISC DHCP servers

Use ISC DHCP management and monitoring support to create, edit, or remove DHCP subnets directly and update servers automatically through the SolarWinds Web Console. You can also manage ISC DHCP subnet options, ranges, pools, and monitor ISC shared subnet utilization. Monitor server status and availability and IP address static assignments within groups.

() Nested configurations are **not** supported.

The following settings and specifications are required for IPAM to access your ISC servers.

Base version for ISC	isc-dhcp-4.2.4-P1			
Operating system	POSIX compliant Linux distributions			
User access	<ul> <li>User account configured to enable remote telnet* or SSH access to IS DHCP machine</li> </ul>			
	* The root account cannot be used in telnet. Also, a banner is required in telnet in the form:			
	<empty line=""></empty>			
	Some customer telnet message			
	II			
	<ul> <li>Read and write file access for users on the configuration files</li> </ul>			



CLI commands	<ul> <li>dhcpdversion</li> <li>grep</li> <li>echo \$PATH_DHCPD_DB</li> <li>dhcpd -t -cf</li> <li>ps -w -A -o comm,pid,args   grep ^dhcpd -w (or) ps -A -o comm,pid,args   grep ^dhcp (or) ps -x -o comm,pid,args   grep ^dhcp</li> <li>[ -f "" ] &amp;&amp; echo 'true'</li> <li>uname -mrs</li> <li>shalsum (or) shal (or) digest -v -a shal</li> <li>[ -r "" ] &amp;&amp; echo 'true'</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>[ -w "" ] &amp;&amp; echo 'true'</li> <li>cat</li> <li>\cp -u -f -b -S.backup -p "" ""</li> <li>\rm -r -f ""</li> <li>mkdir</li> </ul>
Configuration file	IPAM seeks the configuration file in one of the following paths:
	<ul> <li>/etc/dhcpd.conf</li> <li>/etc/inet/dhcpd4.conf</li> <li>/etc/dhcp/dhcpd.conf</li> <li>/usr/local/etc/dhcpd.conf</li> </ul>
Lease file	<ul> <li>/var/db/dhcpd.leases</li> <li>/var/lib/dhcpd/dhcpd.leases</li> <li>/var/lib/dhcp/dhcpd.leases</li> <li>/var/db/dhcpd/dhcpd.leases</li> </ul>
Script file	<ul> <li>/etc/init.d/dhcpd</li> <li>/etc/rc.d/dhcpd</li> <li>/usr/local/etc/rc.d/isc-dhcpd</li> <li>/etc/init.d/isc-dhcp-server</li> <li>/usr/sbin/dhcpd</li> </ul>

## Configure an ISC DHCP server

On a new installation of ISC DHCP from a terminal prompt:



1. Enter the following command to install the DHCP server program, DHCPD:

sudo apt-get install isc-dhcp-server

2. To change the default configuration, edit the file:

/etc/dhcp3/dhcpd.conf

3. To specify the interfaces DHCPD listens to, edit:

/etc/default/isc-dhcp-server.

By default, DHCPD listens to eth0.

4. Assign a static IP to the interface that you use for DHCP.

(i) Verify that the ISC service is running so IPAM can communicate with your ISC DHCP server. After you edit the configuration file, restart the service.

To begin managing your ISC servers, they must first be added to IPAM. See <u>Add DHCP servers to</u> <u>IPAM</u> for more information.

## Add, edit, or remove a DHCP server to IPAM

Add a DHCP server to IPAM to manage its scopes and IP address leases. A scope is a range of IP addresses that the DHCP server leases to clients on a subnet.

In this topic:

- Add a DHCP server
- Edit DHCP server properties
- Remove a DHCP server

#### Add a DHCP server

- Before adding a DHCP server to IPAM, it must already exist as a node. Therefore, verify that you have completed the following tasks:
  - Discover devices using Active Directory domain controllers
  - Add discovered devices to SolarWinds IPAM
  - 1. Click Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings > Add DHCP server.
  - 2. Select the server from the Choose DHCP Server drop-down menu. You can group servers by a variety of methods to make finding the required server easier.



Choos	e DHCP Server
Group By:	_
Machine T	ype 🗸
<ul> <li>Window</li> </ul>	vs 2012 R2 Server (8)
0 (	EASTADDSALV
0 (	EASTADDS
0 (	LOSAADDS01V
0 (	NEWYADDS01V
0 (	NOCDOCSMPE01V
0 (	NOCEADDS01V
0 (	WESTADD501V
0	WESTADDS02V
▷ Window	rs 2016 Server (1)

3. Select a credential type, and either select the credential name to be used, or create a new credential.

(i) To create a new credential, you will need a valid user name and password, plus an Enable password for the Enable Level for CISCO or ASA. For information on creating a new credential, see <u>Manage credentials</u>.

The account specified in the credential must exist on the DHCP server and be a member of one of the three following groups:

- DHCP Users
- DHCP Administrators
- Local Administrators

IPAM impersonates the specified account on the local computer in order to gain access.

- (i) If the IPAM computer is not within the same domain as the DHCP server, the IPAM computer must have the identical account and password.
- 4. Click Test to verify the credential on the selected server.
- 5. Select your default DHCP Server Scan Settings, and click Add DHCP Server.
- 6. Select the scan interval. The default is set to four hours.
- 7. If you want to automatically add new scopes and subnets after scanning, check the box.
- 8. If you want IPAM to scan using ICMP and SNMP to obtain additional IP Address details, check the Enable subnet scanning box and select the scanning interval.
- 9. If you want to use or create an hierarchy group to which subnets discovered by this server are assigned, select the group name from the Hierarchy group name drop-down. If you leave this as IP Networks, all discovered subnets will be assigned to the IP Networks hierarchy group.



- 10. To create a new Hierarchy group, select New Hierarchy group name and enter the name for the group.
  - (1) Hierarchy groups enable you to have <u>overlapping IP addresses</u>, which can happen if you have identical subnets in different locations monitored by different DHCP servers on the same network.
  - (1) Hierarchy groups cannot be used for an Infoblox server, and the field is not available.

DHCP Server Scan Settings									
Scan DHCP Server for new scopes and leases every	4 Hours								
Automatically add new scopes and subnets									
Hierarchy group name	IP Networks								
New Scope and Subnet Settings These settings will be applied upon creation. They can be changed once a subnet or scope has been added to IPAM. Comparison of the subnet scanning to pick up additional IP Address details									
ADD DHCP SERVER CANCEL									

The DHCP Server is added to the DHCP & DNS Management page, and begins scanning IP address and scope lease activity.

On the new DHCP & DNS Management view:

DHCP SERVERS	DHCP SCOPES	HCP SCOPES DNS SERVERS DNS ZONES							
FILTERS	*	🕀 Add 🖉 Edit 💿 Scan 🕒 G	Graph View f Delete						
<ul> <li>Location</li> </ul>		✓ ✓ DHCP server name	Type IP address						
Server Type	1	ENG-AUS-NET-849	ISC 10.199.72.85						

On the legacy version:

DHCP	DNS ZONES	DNS SEF	VERS						
⊕ ADD NEW +   및 SPLIT SCOPE   Ø EDIT   Ø SCAN   & VIEW DETAILS									
Server/	/Scope 🔺	Server Type	Server Address						
	EASTADDS01V		Windows	10.1.40.7					

#### Edit DHCP server properties

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Click DHCP Servers (or DHCP if using the legacy dashboard) if not already selected.
- 3. Select the DHCP server to edit.
- 4. Click Edit.
- 5. Edit the server properties.

 The properties available are specific to IPAM and not related to any settings on the DHCP server.

6. Click Save.

#### Remove a DHCP server

Remove a DHCP server from the IPAM Web Console.

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Click DHCP Servers (or DHCP if using the legacy dashboard) if not already selected.
- 3. Select the DHCP server to be removed.
- 4. Click Remove.

A pop-up window is displayed, asking if you also want to removes scopes and corresponding subnets.

5. Click Delete Listed Items.

## **DHCP Impersonation**

IPAM impersonates the specified account on the local computer to gain access. If the IPAM computer is not within the same windows domain as the DHCP server, the IPAM computer must have the identical account and password.

## **Edit a DHCP Server**

The page for editing DHCP server properties can be accessed from the DHCP & DNS Management page by selecting the server and clicking Edit.

#### Properties



Server Type	The DHCP server type (for example, ISC or Windows). This cannot be changed.
IP Address	The IP address of this DHCP server . This cannot be changed.
Polling Engine	The polling engine / server name. This cannot be changed.
Description (optional)	A description for this DHCP server.
VLAN ID	The virtual LAN ID if applicable.
Location (optional)	The location of this DHCP.

#### **Statistics**

These fields are all display only.

#### Credentials

To change the credentials needed to access an existing DHCP Server, select the credential type and use an existing credential or create a new credential. See <u>DHCP Credentials</u>.

#### **Custom Fields**

Custom Properties can be used within IPAM the same way as with other SolarWinds products.

#### **Other Settings**

Edit Failover	Set up the <u>failover relationships</u> for this server. This feature is only available for Windows DHCP servers.
Server Scan	Specify the frequency of scans for new scopes and leases on this server.
Settings	Select whether or not to automatically add new scopes and subnets.
Scope and Subnet Settings	Select whether or not to scan subnet with ICMP and SNMP to pick up additional IP address details, and specify how often to scan.

### Create or edit a scope on a DHCP server

This topic includes the following sections:

A scope is a consecutive range of IP addresses that a DHCP server can draw on to fulfill an IP address request from a DHCP client. By defining one or more scopes on your DHCP server, the server can manage the distribution and assignment of IP addresses to DHCP clients.



#### Create a scope on a DHCP server in a non-shared network

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Select the DHCP scope tab and click Add. The Add DHCP Scope page is displayed.

Choose DHCP server	Define scope	IP address range	Properties	Options	Custom Properties	Summary
21122						
D1100						
oose DHCP server	ſ					
ecify the DHCP server th	r hat this scope will be a	applied to.				
ICP server	r hat this scope will be a	applied to.				

- 3. Choose the DHCP server where you want to apply the scope. Click Next.
- 4. On the Define Scope tab, enter the scope name, description, VLAN ID (Optional), and Location (optional). Click Next.
- 5. On the IP address range tab:
  - a. Enter the subnet address.
  - b. Click Add Exclusion to add any applicable exclusions. Enter the starting and ending ip addresses, then click Save.
  - c. Adjust the CIDR if applicable.
  - d. Click Next.
- 6. On the Options tab add any applicable scope options:

SOLARWINDS

a. Click Add option to open the Add DHCP options window.

ielect a DHCP scope option	
💿 002 - Time Offset	The offset of the client subnet, in seconds, from Universal Time (UTC). A positive offset indicates a location east of the zero meridian and a negative offset indicates a location west of the zero
O 003 - Router (Default Gateway)	meridian. How to calculate HEX value for Cisco devices: http://www.cisco.com/en/US/tech/tk86/tk804/technologies_tech_note09186a0080093d76.shtm
🔘 004 - Time Server	Value
🔘 005 - Name Server	Value.
🔘 006 - Domain Server	Only numbers are allowed, for example 12
🔾 007 - Log Server	
🔵 008 - Quotes Server	
🔿 009 - LPR Server	
🔵 010 - Impress Server	
🔾 011 - RLP Server	
🔿 012 - Hostname	
🔾 013 - Boot File Size	
🔵 014 - Merit Dump File	
🔵 015 - Domain Name	
🔿 016 - Swap Server	
O 017 - Root Path	

- b. Select and configure the desired scope option.
- c. Click save to save your scope option configuration.
- d. Repeat the steps above as necessary for additional scope options.
- e. Click Next.
- 7. On the Custom Properties tab, Click Manage custom properties to open Custom Properties. Click Next. See Custom Properties for information about custom properties.
- 8. Review your DHCP scope settings on the Summary tab. Click Add Scope.



#### Create a scope on a DHCP server in a Shared Network

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Select the DHCP scope tab and click Add. The Add DHCP Scope page is displayed.

hoose DHCP server	Define scope	IP address range	Properties	Options	Custom Properties	Summary
•	0	0	0			0
ose DHCP server	r					
cifv the DHCP server th	nat this scope will be a	applied to.				
	interno scope nin oce	-pp-rear ep-				
CP server						

- 3. Choose the DHCP server where you want to apply the scope. Click Next.
- 4. On the Define Scope tab:
  - a. Select whether to use a shared network (optional).
  - b. Enter the subnet address and adjust the CIDR.
  - c. Select whether to automatically add discovered IP addresses to this subnet.
  - d. Enter a scope description (optional), VLAN ID (optional), and Location (optional).
  - e. Click Next.
- 5. On the IP address range tab add pools and IP address ranges you want to include:
  - a. Click Add pool. Add a starting IP address and Ending Ip address. Click Save.
  - b. Click Add range. Add a starting IP address and Ending Ip address. Click Save.
  - c. Click Next.
- 6. On the Properties tab, specify a time period or set the lease time to unlimited for the Default lease time, Minimum lease time, and Maximum lease time. Click Next.
- 7. On the Options tab add any applicable scope options:
😴 SOLARWINDS

a. Click Add option to open the Add DHCP options window.

elect a DHCP scope option	(i) The offset of the client subnet, in seconds, from Universal Time (UTC). A positive offset indicates
🗿 002 - Time Offset	a location east of the zero meridian and a negative offset indicates a location west of the zero
O 003 - Router (Default Gateway)	meridian. How to calculate HEX value for Cisco devices: http://www.cisco.com/en/US/tech/tk86/tk804/technologies_tech_note09186a0080093d76.shtm
🔘 004 - Time Server	Value
🔵 005 - Name Server	
🔵 006 - Domain Server	Only numbers are allowed, for example 12
007 - Log Server	
008 - Quotes Server	
🔵 009 - LPR Server	
🔵 010 - Impress Server	
🔿 011 - RLP Server	
🔵 012 - Hostname	
🔵 013 - Boot File Size	
🔵 014 - Merit Dump File	
🔵 015 - Domain Name	
🔿 016 - Swap Server	
0 017 - Root Path	

- b. Select and configure the desired scope option.
- c. Click save to save your scope option configuration.
- d. Repeat the steps above as necessary for additional scope options.
- e. Click Next.
- 8. On the Custom Properties tab, Click Manage custom properties to open Custom Properties. Click Next. See Custom Properties for information about custom properties.
- 9. Review your DHCP scope settings on the Summary tab. Click Add Scope.

### Create a scope on a DHCP server (Legacy Wizard)

(1) Note: The following directions apply to the Legacy DHCP scope wizard.

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Select the DHCP scope tab, and click Add.

 If you are using the legacy version of this page, select the DHCP Server tab, click Add New and select DHCP Scope.

### The Add DHCP Scope page is displayed.

Add DHCP Scope	
DEFINING SCOPE IP ADDRESS RANGE SCOPE PRO	
Scope Name Define Scope	
A scope is a consecutive range of IP addres server to manage the distribution and assig	ises that a DHCP server is allowed to lease to a DHCP client. Defining one or more scopes on your DHCP servers allows the gnment of IP address to DHCP clients.
DHCP Server p Scope Name Scope Description VLAN ID	vrodmgmt-53
Location Custom Fields	Add custom fields NEXT CANCEL

- 3. On the Defining Scope tab, enter the scope name, description, and other information, and click Next.
- 4. On the IP Address Range tab, enter the start and end IP addresses for the scope.
- 5. If you need to exclude any IP addresses from this range:
  - a. Click Add Exclusion.
  - b. Enter the start and end IP addresses for the exclusion range, and click Save.
- 6. Click Next.
- 7. On the Define Scope Properties tab, click Next unless you need to amend the default DHCP Offer Delay period.
- 8. On the Scope Option, advanced users can add or edit DHCP Scope Options. Click Next.

(i) For more information, see <u>Define scope options on a DHCP server</u>.

9. Review the settings you have entered and click Create Scope to continue.

### Edit a scope on a DHCP server (Legacy Wizard)

(i) Note: The following directions apply to the Legacy DHCP scope wizard.



- 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Select the DHCP Scopes tab.

If you are using the legacy version, select DHCP Servers, and expand the Server containing the scope.

- 3. Select the checkbox for the required scope and click Edit.
- 4. Edit the contents of each tab of the Edit DHCP page as required.
- 5. On the Review tab, click Update Scope.

## Define scope options on a DHCP server

IPAM supports the majority of DHCP scope options defined within the RFC 2132 standard. The Scope Options tab is available when <u>creating or editing a scope</u>.

Add DHCP scope						
Choose DHCP server	Define scope	IP address range	Properties	Options	Custom Properties	Summary
Options	rendor. You may add.	additional configuration on	itions to Your DHCB sco	ne Some ontions ma	y not be deleted as they are i	mandatory on the
Depending on the server v device.	/endor, You may add a	additional configuration op	itions to Your DHCP sco	pe. Some options ma	y not be deleted, as they are r	mandatory on

The available options vary depending on the server vendor. Click **Add option** to add options.

Thoose DHCP server	Define scope	IP address range	Properties	Options	Custom Properties	Summary
tions						
ending on the server v	endor. You may add a	additional configuration op	tions to Your DHCP sca	pe. Some options may	/ not be deleted, as they are r	nandatory on the
		<u> </u>			,,,,,	nanaacory on ene
rice.	,	5 1			,	
(+) Add option				,		
Image: Add option       Image: Add option       Image: Description	n			Value		
Add option     Description     O51 - Addrese	n ss Time			Value 691200 seconds		

<ol> <li>Set up VoIP options</li> </ol>	(66 and 67) or	n your scopes.
---	----------------	----------------

### **Unsupported DHCP options**

The following options are unsupported:

### **Unsupported Windows DHCP Server options**

- 39 TCP Keepalive Data
- 58 Renewal Time Value
- 59 Rebinding Time Value
- There is no UI option to create option 58 and 59 on a Windows DHCP server. They are simply a function of lease time (option 51).

### **Unsupported Cisco DHCP Server options**

- 12 Host Name
- 50 Address Request
- 52 Overload
- 53 DHCP Msg Type
- 54 DHCP Server Id
- 58 Renewal Time
- 59 Rebinding Time
- 61 Client Id

#### Unsupported ISC DHCP server options

- 50 Address Request
- 53 DHCP Message Type
- 54 DHCP Server Identifier
- 56 DHCP Message
- 58 Renewal Time
- 59 Rebinding Time

### Configure split scopes on DHCP servers

You may want to split a DHCP scope in order to provide load balancing between two DHCP servers and ensure high availability DHCP services for your network.

- You must have two DHCP servers of the same type to be able to split a scope between them
  - Splitting scopes on some Cisco DHCP servers may require that you perform additional configuration steps on the servers themselves. See your Cisco documentation for more information.



Scopes are usually split into one of two configurations:

- 50/50: half of the IP addresses are on the primary DHCP server and half are on the secondary server. This configuration is usually used for load balancing.
- 80/20: 80% of the IP addresses are on the primary DHCP server and 20% are on the secondary server. This configuration is generally used to ensure high availability.

When a scope is split, the result is two scopes, each of which excludes the IP addresses the other scope (and server) manages.

When you split a scope, you can specify a delay for the secondary scope. If you are using a secondary scope to ensure high availability, this should be set to 1000 - 5000ms to ensures the primary server has time to respond to DHCP requests, so that the secondary scope is only used if there are problems. For load balancing however, this should be set to zero so that both scopes can respond to requests immediately.

For example, scope01 is on your primary DHCP server. Scope01 includes the entire subnet of 10.10.0/24 (254 IP addresses), with no exclusions. You split scope01, and name the second scope scope02 on your secondary DHCP server. You choose an 80/20 split.

Scope01 still spans the entire subnet, but excludes the last 20% of the addresses in that subnet (10.10.10.204-254). Scope02 also spans the entire subnet, but excludes the first 80% of the addresses in that subnet (10.10.10.1-203).

To split a scope:

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Select the DHCP Scope tab.

(i) If using the legacy version of this view, select the DHCP Server and expand the server with the required scope.

- 3. Select the scope to be split.
- 4. Click More, then select Split Scope from the menu.

🕂 Add	🖉 Edit 🛛 🕒 Graph view	v 🗟 Address leases	前 Delete	More 🗸
	Scope name	Server name	Failover	⊾ <sup>≉</sup> Split Scope
	lertScopeTest	ENG-AUS-NET-815		Replicate Scope
	State C&C Generals	BING-AUS-NET-815	<u>Load Balan</u> c	Deconfigure Failover

() If using the legacy view, select Split Scope from the Scopes menu.



The Define Split Scope page is displayed.

DHCP Split Scope			
DEFINE SPLIT SCOPE PERCENTAGE OF SPLIT			
Define Split Scope Create a new scope based on the selected scope:			
Splitting a scope between two DHCP servers allows you to load-back	alance you	r servers and/or provide h	nigh availability in case of a failover.
Current Scope: 10		New Scope	
Current Scope Name: 10		New Scope Name:	10-Split
DHCP Server: lab-tex-dc-01		DHCP Server:	– Select Server –
Description:		Description:	Select Server
			lab-Vm-cucm105.callman.lab
			lab-vnqm-cucm91.callman.lab
			lab-tex-dc-02
			NEXT CANCEL

5. Enter a name for the secondary scope, select the server, and click Next.

	10.10.10.10		10.10.10.50	
	0%     20%       505 Percentage of IP Addresses	%           80%	6     100%	
			😂 <u>Ho</u>	w should I configure my sp
Scope '10' on 'lab-tex-do	c-01' DHCP Server	Scope '10-Split'	on 'prodmgmt-53	3' DHCP Server
Scope '10' on 'lab-tex-do	80 %	Scope '10-Split' Percent of Addresse	on 'prodmgmt-53 es: 20	8' DHCP Server
Scope '10' on 'lab-tex-do Percent of Addresses: Include Addresses:	80 % 10.10.10.10 to 10.10.10.42	Scope '10-Split' Percent of Addresses	on 'prodmgmt-53	8' DHCP Server % to 10.10.10.50
Scope '10' on 'lab-tex-do Percent of Addresses: Include Addresses:	80         %           10.10.10.10         to         10.10.10.42           10.10.10.43         to         10.10.10.50	Scope '10-Split' Percent of Addresse Include Addresses: Exclude Addresses	on 'prodmgmt-53 es: 20 10.10.10.43 : 10.10.10.10	3' DHCP Server           %           to         10.10.10.50           to         10.10.10.42

6. Drag the slider to specify the split required. The default is 80%, as recommended for highavailability scenarios. Set to 50% for load balancing.



7. Set the Offer Delay for the secondary scope.

(1) This should be 1000-5000ms for high availability scenarios, zero for load balancing.

8. Click Finish.

### **Discovered Scopes**

If IPAM finds unmanaged scopes on your network, a message will be displayed on both the DHCP & DNS Management and IPAM Settings pages.



Click Add discovered scopes to display the Discovered Scopes, Not Added to IPAM page.

٦	HCP & DNS ma	anagement		
	DHCP SERVERS	DHCP SCOPES	DNS SERVERS	DNS ZONES
	🔺 One or more n	iew scopes have bee	en found on: 10.199	.2.20, ENG-AUS-NET-826. These new scopes have not been added. View new scopes

Click View new scopes to display the Discovered Scopes, Not Added to IPAM page.

Discovered	scopes not added to IPAM						
These scopes have been found during a scan, but they have not been added. If you choose to add a new scope, any new subnets will automatically be created. If you would like to always ignore a subnet, keep it in this list.							
No actions	available					Search	λ
	Scope address	CIDR	DHCP server	Enabled	Found		
	10.199.192.0	23	10.199.2.20	Yes	8/1/2023 11:55:00 AM		
	10.199.192.0	20	10.199.72.102	Yes	8/23/2023 8:32:09 AM		
< 1	>					1-2 of 2 10 🗸	
						Cancel Add selected scopes	

Here you can add the discovered scopes to IPAM, or ignore.



### Remove a scope

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > My Dashboards > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Click the DHCP Scopes tab, select the DHCP scope to be removed, and click Delete.

(i) If using the legacy version of this view, select the DHCP Server tab, expand the server on which the scope is located, and click Remove.

Information specific to the scope to be removed is displayed.

3. Select whether you want to remove the scope from the server.

Further information is displayed if removing the scope from the server will be harmful.

4. Click Delete.

### Address Leases for...

Go to My Dashboards > DHCP & DNS management, and click DHCP Scopes. Select a scope and click Address Leases to display the Address Leases window.

If address leases are found for the selected DHCP scope, the following information is displayed.

Client IP Address	The IP address leased to the client.
Client Name	The name of the client to whom this IP Address is leased.
Lease Expiration	The lease expiry time and date.
Туре	Dynamic or Static.
Client Status	The status of this lease, which can be reserved or used. If used, there will a lease expiry time and date.
Unique ID	The unique 12-character identifier for this lease.

## Set up and monitor Windows DHCP server failover

With IPAM you can configure failover across multiple scopes using a single screen, whereas in Windows Server you can only configure failover one scope at a time.

IP Address Manager fully supports the DHCP failover feature set implemented in Windows Server 2012 and later versions.



- For further information about DHCP failover options in Windows Server 2012 and later, see the Microsoft TechNet guide, <u>Understand and Deploy DHCP Failover</u> (© 2016 Microsoft, available at https://microsoft.com, obtained on November 26, 2018).
  - Failover is not supported for Cisco, ISC or Infoblox DHCP environments.

## View DHCP failover details in IPAM

 Open the SolarWinds Web Console and navigate to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > DHCP & DNS Management.

Select the DHCP Server tab.

(1) If using the legacy view, select the DHCP tab.

2. Select the required server, and move the cursor over the Failover column for the required Server.

(i) IPAM consolidates cluster details into a single pop-up, whereas Windows Server only displays failover details one scope at a time.

DHCP	DNS ZONES	DNS SERVERS					
	ew 🗸   🖳 scope	s 🕶   🖉 EDIT   💿	SCAN   🗟 VIEW I	DETAILS	🕒 GRAPH VIEW   🖹 AD	DRESS LEASES   💼 RE	MOV
Server/	/Scope 🔺	Server	Type Fail	lover Ser	rver Address Addre	ess Served	
	LAB-TEX-DC-01	Window	ws 🖗	Enable 14	Cluster Details:		-
	LAB-TEX-DC-02	Window	ws 🗗	Enable 10	validationTest (Load l	Balance)	
	Bazinga	-	면	Hot Sta			
	HotStandbyl	est	년 문	Hot Sta	LAB-TEX-DC-01	LAB-TEX-DC-02	
	Manitoba		면	Load B	30%	70%	
			品	Load P	<ul> <li>Okanagan</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Okanagan</li> </ul>	
				LOAU E			
	RomanTest0				HsTest1 (Hot Standby	<i>d</i> )	
	RomanTest1		Ð	Hot Sta			
	RomanTest2		臣	Hot Sta	LAB-TEX-DC-01	LAB-TEX-DC-02	
	Vancuver				ACTIVE	STANDBY	
					<ul> <li>Bazinga</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Bazinga</li> </ul>	
					Hstest2 (Hot Standby	)	
					LAB-TEX-DC-01	• <u>LAB-TEX-DC-02</u>	
					ACTIVE	STANDBY	
					RomanTest1	<ul> <li>RomanTest1</li> </ul>	
					Htest4 (Hot Standby)		
					• LAB-TEX-DC-01	• LAB-TEX-DC-02	+

## Create or Edit DHCP failover details in IPAM

- Open the SolarWinds Web Console and choose My Dashboards > IP Addresses > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Select the DHCP Server tab.

🐓 solarwinds

(1) If using the legacy view, select the DHCP tab.

3. Select the required server, and click Edit.

The Edit <Server> Properties dialog box opens.

4. Scroll down to the Edit Failover section, and edit the required information.

(1) To configure DHCP failover from IPAM, both DHCP servers must be managed by IPAM.

5. Click Save to save your changes.



## **Reserve an IP Address on a Windows DHCP server**

The following steps update the reservation status of an IP address on a Windows DHCP server:

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > Manage Subnets & IP Addresses.
- 2. Navigate to the subnet containing in the IP Address View.
- 3. Select the IP address and click Set Status.
- 4. Set the status to Reserved.
- 5. Select the type of reservation and the DHCP Server to use, if applicable.

DHCP S	ERVER RESE	RVATION		$\times$				
?	Do you want to create a reservation on the DHCP Server? The reservation will be created on the DHCP scope managing the subnet.							
	Supported types DHCP only BOOTP only Both DHCP Server: lab-tex-dc-01							
	» Learn More about DHCP reservations							
SEND R	RESERVATION TO	DHCP SERVER	MAKE RESERVATION IN IPAM ON	LY				

- Click Send Reservation to DHCP Server, if you want to make an actual reservation on the DHCP scope managing this subnet.
- Click Make Reservation in IPAM Only, if you only want to make the reservation in the IPAM database.

# **Troubleshooting DHCP and DNS connections in IPAM**

Problem	Description	Resolution
Bad username or password	This error may occur when the valid user account on the SolarWinds host has no meaning to the DHCP Server or when the provided password is not correct on the DHCP Server.	<ul> <li>Verify the account used is valid on the DHCP Server.</li> <li>Verify that the provided account and password is both identical and functional on both the SolarWinds host and DHCP Server.</li> </ul>



Problem	Description	Resolution			
The RPC Server is Unavailable	This error may occur when the DHCP Server is unable to receive or respond to RPC Requests.	<ul> <li>Verify that there is no firewall preventing the SolarWinds host from performing RPC calls by checking with Administrator accounts that Windows file sharing is possible. An alternate way to verify is a telnet to the IP address provided in the SolarWinds node on port 445.</li> <li>If this occurs intermittently, verify that the DHCP server has enough client access licenses.</li> </ul>			
Insufficient permissions	Insufficient permissions	<ul> <li>Verify that the provided user account is part of the DHCP Users group in the DHCP Server.</li> <li>For Cisco DHCP, verify the requirements on Cisco DHCP device for SolarWinds IPAM.</li> </ul>			
BIND Credential fails using ssh or telnet option	When adding a DNS Bind, in the BIND Credential option there is a space in the Credential name. For example:	Remove the space in the 'Credential Name' (should be Bind1)			
	Credential Name: Bind 1				
	Username: root				
	Password: 1234				
BIND DNS on AIX Symptom: Bind is not running error when testing the connection to implement BIND DNS Mgmt and add an AIX 6.1 Bind9 based DNS Server	When the named-V and ps -A - o comm,pid,args   grep ^named commands are issued and parsing returns a value that does not match the criteria, the application is not enabled: named9 vs named	Perform a manual configuration of the config file by renaming the file from named9 to named.			

## **IPAM BIND Requirements**

😴 SOLARWINDS

- User account needs to be configured to allow remote telnet or SSH access to BIND machine.
- Read and write file access is required for all BIND configuration files.
  - $^\circ$  /etc/named.conf, and all included files
  - all zone data files
- Read and write access to system temp directory /tmp
- IPAM utilizes both standard Linux commands (POSIX) and BIND specific commands that are required for IPAM BIND management functionality:

```
named
ps
grep
shalsum
cat
if [ -r "filepath" ] ; then echo 'true'; else echo 'false'; fi
if [ -w "filepath" ] ; then echo 'true'; else echo 'false'; fi
if [ $? -eq 0 ] ; then echo 'true'; else echo 'false'; fi
cp
mkdir
rm
named-checkconf
```

# **ARP table**

The ARP table is where the responses to previous ARP requests are cached. IPAM utilizes a feature called Neighbor Scanning as an additional method of retrieving information. Neighbor Scanning pulls information from the ARP table of neighboring devices when ICMP and SNMP is blocked or disabled.

IPAM first checks if the device is capable of SNMP and supports ARP table:

To check whether SNMP is available, use the following OID:

 OidSysContact "1.3.6.1.2.1.1.4.0" iso.org.dod.internet.mgmt.mib-2.system.sysContact.0

To check whether the ARP table is available, use the following OID:

 OidIPNetToMediaTable "1.3.6.1.2.1.4.22" iso.org.dod.internet.mgmt.mib-2.ip.ipNetToMediaTable

The IPNetToMediaTable is pulled for client information. If the device supports this table, then IPAM can work with it.

# Monitor and Manage DNS servers in IPAM

The following section covers how IPAM can monitor and manage your DNS servers.

ISC DNS server settings in IPAM	
Add a DNS server	
DNS server WMI permissions	
BIND permissions	
IPAM DNS records	
DNS Records Mismatch	
Edit a DNS server	
Remove DNS servers in IPAM	
Add a DNS zone	
Edit a DNS zone	
DNS secondary zones and zone transfers	

(1) Since Infoblox monitoring is read-only certain DNS operations are unavailable. For further information see <u>Monitor the Infoblox environment</u>.

# **ISC DNS server settings in IPAM**

The following settings and specifications are required for IPAM to access your ISC DNS servers.

() Nested configurations are **not** supported.

Base version for ISC BIND9.1+

Operating system POSIX compliant Linux distributions

🗲 sol	ARWINDS
-------	---------

User access	<ul> <li>User account configured to enable remote telnet* or SSH access to ISC DS machine</li> </ul>				
	* The root account cannot be used in telnet. Also, a banner is required in telnet in the form:				
	"				
	<empty line=""></empty>				
	Some customer telnet message "				
	<ul> <li>Read and write file access for users on the configuration files</li> </ul>				
CLI commands	• dhcpdversion				
	<ul> <li>named -V</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>named-checkconf -z "\$FILE_PATH"</li> </ul>				
	uname -mrs				
	<ul> <li>ps -A -o comm,pid,args   grep ^named</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>if [ -r '\$FILE_PATH' ]; then echo 'true'; else echo 'false'; fi</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>if [ -w '\$FILE_PATH' ]; then echo 'true'; else echo 'false'; fi</li> </ul>				
	• sha1sum				
	• cat				
	<ul> <li>mkdir -p "/tmp/SolarWinds/IPAM/var/cache/bind"</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>rm -r -f "/tmp/SolarWinds/IPAM"</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>cp -f -pparents /etc/\$FILE_PATH /tmp/SolarWinds/\$FILE_PATH</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>cp -r -u -f -b -S.backup -p "/tmp/SolarWinds/IPAM/\$FILE_PATH" "/var/cache/\$FILE_PATH"</li> </ul>				
	rndc reload				
	• kill -s SIGHUP \$PID				
Configuration file	IPAM seeks the configuration file in one of the following path:				
	<ul> <li>/etc/named.conf</li> </ul>				
	If the default file path is different for your distribution you may of course create a soft link. Or create /etc/named.conf file, and include rest of configuration files in it.				

Lease file	• "/var/db/dhcpd.leases"
	• "/var/lib/dhcpd/dhcpd.leases
	<ul> <li>"/var/lib/dhcp/dhcpd.leases"</li> </ul>

"/var/db/dhcpd/dhcpd.leases"

leases"

## Configure an ISC DNS server

On a new installation of ISC DHCP from a terminal prompt:

1. Enter the following command to install the DNS server program:

```
apt-get install bind9 bind9utils
```

or:

apt install bind9 bind9utils

(depending on the Debian/Ubuntu version)

For Centos/RHEL, enter:

yum install bind

2. To change the default configuration, edit the file:

/etc/named.conf

3. Assign a static IP to the interface that you use for DHCP.

(i) Verify that the ISC service is running so IPAM can communicate with your ISC DNS server. After you edit the configuration file, restart the service.

To begin managing your ISC servers, they must first be added to IPAM. See Add DNS servers to IPAM for more information.

# Add a DNS server

All DNS servers must already exist as nodes in your installation before they can be added to IPAM.

(i) Windows DNS Servers 2003, 2008, 2012, 2012R2, 2016 2019, and 2022 are supported.

Bind DNS 9.1 through 9.11.*n* are supported.

Some environments may require you to grant read-only access to a non-administrator account. See Grant read-only access to non-administrator accounts for IPAM DNS Monitoring for more information.



- 1. Go to My Dashboard > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Click on the DNS Server tab to display the current list of DNS servers.
- 3. Click Add.

() If using the legacy view, click Add New > DNS Server.

4. Select a DNS Server from the list. If the server is not shown, use the Group By menu to sort the DNS servers listed to aid identification.

All DNS servers must already exist as nodes. You may <u>manually add nodes</u> or add nodes with <u>Network Sonar Discovery</u> .     Only BIND, Infoblox and Microsoft DNS Servers (Windows 2003, 2008, 2012, 2012R2 and 2016) are supported at this time.
Choose DNS Server
Group By:
<ul> <li>BIG-IQ Virtual Edition (1)</li> <li>Brocade SilkWorm Switch (2)</li> <li>Catalyst 37xx Stack (1)</li> <li>Cisco 1921/K9 (1)</li> <li>Cisco 2811 (1)</li> <li>Windows 2012 R2 Server (4)</li> <li>Windows 2016 Server (1)</li> </ul>
Choose Credentials for [ No Selected Node ]
Inherit credentials from Orion node
WMI Credential
BIND Credential
Infoblox Credential
TEST
DNS Server Scan Settings and DNS Zone Transfer
Enable scanning
Scan DNS Server for new Zones, settings and DNS Zone transfer every 4 Hours >
Prefer incremental DNS Zone transfer
ADD SERVER CANCEL

5. Enter or select the credentials for this server. WMI credentials can be inherited from the node to the DNS server.

6. Click Test to confirm.

SOLARWINDS

- If you provide Windows credentials for accessing and receiving information through WMI, you must provide the account name in the following order: Domain or Computer Name\User Name for domain level authentication or user name for workgroup level authentication.
- 7. Select Enable Scanning to enable incremental DNS Zone transfers. IPAM scans the DNS server for new zones and settings based upon the interval time.
- 8. Click Add Server. The DNS Zones are displayed.

# **DNS server WMI permissions**

The following section details the permissions required for IPAM users to monitor DNS servers.

## Enable an account for WMI

A DNS server administrator account that can make changes on the DNS server is required to manage DNS servers. If you have a stand-alone DNS server, you can use a local administrator account configured for WMI access.

(1) Administrator accounts are configured to make DNS server management tasks by default. For an AD and DNS setup, this is an account with full DACL (discretionary access control list) with remote WMI management enabled

# Grant read-only access to non-administrator accounts for IPAM DNS monitoring

To poll the DNS server without an administrator account, you must add the user to the DNS Admin group. The account must have Read/Write permissions for DNS management so the account is able to write itself to the DNS server as a zone transfer server. Administrators can specify the rights of a user within their account settings to have just read only access to the DNS portion of IPAM.

### Enable an account for WMI

Use the DNS Server Administrator account based on your network configuration.

• In Standalone DNS, administrators are configured to make DNS server management tasks by default.



• In a AD+DNS setup, use the account with full DACL to manage the DNS Server. The account must have remote WMI for management enabled.

The following steps detail how to use a non-administrator account.

### To configure DCOM services

- 1. Start dcomcnfg.
- 2. Expand Component Services\Computers, right-click My Computer, and select Properties.
- 3. Click the COM Security tab.
- 4. In the Access Permissions group:
  - Click Edit Default, add your account, and select Enable Local Access and Remote Access.
  - Click Edit Limits, add your account, and select Enable Local and Remote Access.
- 5. In the Launch and Activation permissions:
  - Click Edit Default, add your account, and select Allow all.
  - Click Edit Limits, add your account, and select Allow all.

To configure access to the WMI branch

- 1. Start the MMC console and add the WMI Control Snap-in.
- 2. Right-click Snap-in and click Properties.
- 3. In the Security tab, select MicrosoftDNS and CIMV2 branch, and then click Security.
- 4. Add your account, and Allow Execute Methods, Enable Account, Remote Enable.
- 5. On the DNS Security tab, verify that the new user you created has DNSAdmin rights.
- 6. Start dnsmgmt.msc.
- 7. Right-click the server or service and view properties to confirm that all the options for the user are selected.

To test the connection to a DNS server with specific credentials, use the Windows Management Instrumentation Tester, wbemtest, and connect to a machine using namespace, such as: \\remote hostname\root\MicrosoftDNS

# **BIND permissions**

IPAM offers support for Linux-based BIND DNS server monitoring and management.

The following are the minimum requirements needed to monitor BIND DNS.

- IPAM supports Debian 8.6 and 9.5, and RHEL/CentOS version 6 and 7.
- IPAM supports BIND versions BIND 9.9+, BIND 9.10+, and BIND 9.11+.

SolarWinds recommends using BIND 9.11+, as it supports commands for checking configuration syntax, which IPAM is able to use for configuration change validation during management operations.

### **Required permissions**

SOLARWINDS

The user account needs to be configured to enable remote telnet or SSH access to the BIND machine.

Read and write file access is required for:

- the /etc/named.conf directory and all included files
- the system temp directory / tmp for all zone data files
- the /var/named directory

The DNS zone configuration files are stored here by default - without this permission it is impossible to create/modify them.

By default IPAM preserves mode, ownership and timestamps during file copying (IPAM works on copies so that it will not break anything during error) and if the user (in IPAM credentials) is not an owner of the configuration files (e.g. /var/named) then an Operation not permitted error will occur as preserving timestamps is only allowed for the target file owner (Unix/Linux mechanics).

There are two options:

- 1. Administrator can disable timestamps preservation in the IPAM system settings by checking the "No preserve timestamps" checkbox:
  - No additional configuration on the OS side is required timestamps will not be preserved
- 2. OS Administrator can change the owner of the configuration files to the desired user:
  - Not always possible (which is why the first option was implemented)
  - This requires additional OS configuration

### **CLI Commands**

IPAM uses both standard Linux commands (POSIX) and BIND specific commands. The following are the commands used by IPAM for both management and monitoring:



- named
- ps
- grep
- shalsum
- cat
- if [ -r "filepath" ] ; then echo 'true'; else echo 'false'; fi
- if [ -w "filepath" ] ; then echo 'true'; else echo 'false'; fi
- if [ \$? -eq 0 ] ; then echo 'true'; else echo 'false'; fi
- cp
- mkdir
- rm
- named-checkconf

After you add a BIND in IPAM, your device syncs and imports BIND DNS configurations which can then be monitored or managed.

## Troubleshooting

If you are unable to add a DNS server set up using the BIND 9 package for Debian distribution, and testing the credentials results in the following error:



then please apply the following steps:

- 1. Log in on your DNS server machine.
- 2. Open the /etc/default/bind9 file
- 3. Edit the OPTIONS variable by adding the configuration file path flag:

```
OPTIONS="-u bind -c <path to named.conf>
```

(i) By default <path to named.conf> on Debian BIND 9 is /etc/bind/named.conf

4. Save this change and restart the Bind9 daemon.

You should now be able to add the DNS server to IPAM without any issues.



(i) The reason for specifying the -c flag, even if you have the default configuration, lies in the Bind9 Debian package configuration (specified during build time). One of the commands that IPAM executes to get information about the environment is "named -V". Normally it outputs a lot of information including a sysconfdir flag pointing to the directory containing the named.conf file. Unfortunately, in the Bind9 package, the sysdirconf flag occurs twice (also pointing to /etc & /etc/bind) which is ambiguous to the IPAM results parser and causes it to output the "Test Failed: Unable to find configuration file" error.

## **IPAM DNS records**

IPAM supports five DNS record types.

А	Address Mapping/Host	An A record provides the IP address of a domain.				
		Examples. www, mail, hp, webmail, wwwz, secure, store, dev				
AAAA	IP Version 6 Address	Returns a 128-bit IPv6 address, most commonly used to map host names to an IP address of the host.				
CNAME	Canonical Name/Alias	CNAME records map aliases with domain names. Example: Record: webmail Address: mail.hostedmail.com				
MX	Mail exchanger	MX records use your external mail servers to process your email. Example: Priority: 10 Record: @ Address: mail.domain.com				
PTR	Reverse-lookup Pointer	A domain name pointer maps a network interface (IP) to a host name.				

Currently you cannot edit HINFO, ISDN, NS or SOA records.

Each DNS record can be customized as needed.

- IPAM automatically detects DNS forward and reverse mismatches.
- IPAM automatically creates DNS PTR records when new devices are added into DNS zones.
- From this location you can manage all aspects of your domain registration. You can also change your domain name servers.



## View DNS records

- 1. Go to My Dashboard > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Click on the DNS Zone tab and select a zone name.
- 3. Click DNS Records.

前 Delete
e Zone status
Up

The DNS Records for this zone is displayed.

DNS Records for DNS zor	e '0.0.12	7.in-addr.a	irpa'				
FILTERS	«	🕀 Add	Search	Q			
▼ Data		•	Name	Туре	Data	Server name	
0 ad.	1		0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	NS	eng-aus-net-826.	ENG-AUS-NET-826	
1.2.34.4	1		0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	SOA	eng-aus-net-826. admin. 186 900 600 86400 3600	ENG-AUS-NET-826	
10 awd3.com.	1		0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	Mall exchange record (MX)	10 awd3.com.	ENG-AUS-NET-826	
10 mailserver1.exan	1 nple 1		0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	Host (AAAA)	4321:0:1:2:3:4:567:89ac	ENG-AUS-NET-826	
10.0.0.2	1		1.0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	Pointer record (PTR)	whatever.0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	ENG-AUS-NET-826	
10.0.0.3	1		122.0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	Pointer record (PTR)	qwe.	ENG-AUS-NET-826	
10.0.05	2		124.0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	Pointer record (PTR)	witam.com.pl.	ENG-AUS-NET-826	
show all (38)			15.0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	Pointer record (PTR)	mple.microsoft.com.	ENG-AUS-NET-826	
▼ Type			2.0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	Pointer record (PTR)	adawd.e.com.	ENG-AUS-NET-826	
Host (A)	18		2.0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	Pointer record (PTR)	someHostNew.0.0.127.in-addr.arpa.	ENG-AUS-NET-826	
Host (AAAA)	2						
Mail exchange recor	d (MX)4						
Pointer record (PTR)	11						
SOA	1	< 1	2 3 4 5 >			1-10 of 46	10 🛩



## Edit DNS records

- 1. Go to My Dashboard > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Click on DNS Zones and use the filters on the left to find the required zone if necessary.

DHCP SERVERS DHCP SCOPES DNS SERVERS DNS ZONES											
FILTERS	<b>«</b>	🕀 Add							Search		Q
<ul> <li>Lookup Type</li> </ul>			Zone name	View name	Zone status	Zone type	Lookup type	DNS server		Server type	IP address
Forward	5		🖳 hl.local		Up	Primary	Forward	leng-aus	-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85
<ul> <li>Server Name</li> </ul>			PAM1594test		Up	Stub	Forward	Ping-Aus	-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85
SING-AUS-NET-849	5		E localhost		Up	Primary	Forward	Ping-Aus	-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85
<ul> <li>Server Type</li> </ul>			Socalhost.localdomain		Up	Primary	Forward	Ping-Aus	-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85
Bind	5		testsZone		Up	Primary	Forward	leng-aus	-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85

- 3. Select the required zone and then click DNS Records. The DNS Records details page for this zone is displayed.
- 4. Select a single record, and click Edit.

Edit record	۲
Record name (optional)	
0.in-addr.arpa.	
Record type	
Host (AAAA)	~
Data	
::1	
[IPv6 address] - Example: 4321:0:1:2:3:4:567:89ab	
<ul> <li>DNS server details</li> </ul>	
DNS server node: ENG-AUS-NET-441	
DNS server zone: 0.in-addr.arpa	
Cancel	ave

5. Update the Data fields as appropriate.



## Add a DNS record

- 1. Go to My Dashboard > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Click on DNS Zones and use the filters on the left to find the required zone.

DHCP SERVERS DHCP SCO	PES	DNS SERVE	ERS DNS ZONES								
FILTERS	«	(+) Add							Search		Q
<ul> <li>Lookup Type</li> </ul>		-	Zone name	View name	Zone status	Zone type	Lookup type	DNS server		Server type	IP address
Forward	5		🖲 hl.local		Up	Primary	Forward	Ping-Aus	-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85
<ul> <li>Server Name</li> </ul>		D	PAM1594test		Up	Stub	Forward	leng-aus	-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85
SIG-AUS-NET-849	5		🖲 localhost		Up	Primary	Forward	leng-aus	-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85
• Server Type		D	🖲 localhost.localdomain		Up	Primary	Forward	Ping-Aus	-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85
Bind	5		testsZone		Up	Primary	Forward	leng-aus	-NET-849	Bind	10.199.72.85

- 3. Select the required zone and then click DNS Records. The DNS Records details page for this zone is displayed.
- 4. Click Add. The Add new record window is displayed.

Add new record		۲
Record name (optional)		
Record type		
Host (A)		~
Data		
[IPv4 address] - Example: 10.10.10.10		
Create associated pointer (	(PTR) record	
<ul> <li>DNS server details</li> </ul>		
	Cancel	Add



5. Enter a record name, select the record type, and enter the appropriate data:

6.	Host (A)	IPv4 Address record	Enter the IPv4 address, and check the box if you want to create an associated pointer (PTR) record.
	Host (AAAA)	IPv6 address record	
			Enter the IPv6 address
	Alias (CNAME)	Canonical name record	Enter the canonical name.
	Mail exchange record (MX)	Mail exchange record	Enter the mail exchange domain name.
	Pointer record (PTR)	PTR resource record	Enter the targeted domain name.

7. Click Add to add your record.

# **DNS Records Mismatch**

The DNS Records Mismatch widget shows mismatches between host (A) records and Pointer (PTR) records in the same DNS zone. For example, if there was an A record stating:

lab-ibm-direct.somezone. IN A 10.199.6.55

And a PTR record stating:

52.6.199.10-in-addr arpa IN PTR lab-ibm-direct.somezone.

This mismatch would result in the following line being displayed in the DNS records mismatch widget:

DNS Records	Mismatch	[	Search	Q EDIT HELP
DNS SERVER	DNS ZONE	CLIENT HOST NAME	IP IN FWD ZONE	IP IN BWD ZONE
lab-tex-dc-01	someZone	lab-ibm-direct.somezone	10.199.6.55	10.199.6.5 <mark>2</mark>

The inconsistencies are displayed in red.

Click Edit to:

• Change the widget title and subtitle.

## Edit a DNS server

🗲 SOLARWINDS

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > DHCP & DNS Management .
- 2. Select the DNS Server tab.
- 3. Select the server, and click Edit.

(1) If using the legacy view, click Edit DNS Server.

The Edit DNS Server windows is displayed for this server.

4. Edit the properties as required, and click Save.

## **Remove DNS servers in IPAM**

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Select the DNS Servers tab.
- 3. Select the server and click Delete.

(1) If using the legacy view, click Remove DNS Server.

The DNS zones that will also be removed when you delete the server are displayed. You are given the option to remove zones from the physical DNS Server.

4. Click Delete Listed Items to confirm deletion.

# Add a DNS zone

A DNS zone is a contiguous portion of DNS domain namespace over which a DNS server has authority. A DNS server can be authoritative for multiple DNS zones.

A DNS zone contains the resource records for all of the names within that zone. Zone files are used if DNS data is not integrated with Active Directory. If DNS and Active Directory are integrated, then DNS data can be stored in Active Directory.

The following types of DNS Zones are supported in IPAM:

Primary zoneA zone is a primary zone if the DNS server is the authoritative source for all<br/>domain in the zone.A primary zone can be stored in Active Directory if the DNS Server is a domain<br/>controller.



Secondary zone	A read-only copy of a zone copied from the primary server using zone transfer, used for load balancing and fault tolerance. For more information on Zone transfers, see <u>Understanding zones and zone transfers</u> (© 2019 Microsoft, available at <u>https://docs.microsoft.com</u> , obtained July 29, 2019).
Stub zone	A stub zone is similar to a secondary zone except it contains only those resource records necessary to identify the authoritative Domain Name System (DNS) servers for that zone. For more information, see <u>Understanding stub zones</u> (© 2009 Microsoft, available at <u>https://docs.microsoft.com</u> , obtained July 29, 2019).

There are two kinds of DNS Lookup that can be applied to primary and secondary zones.

Forward lookupThis is the default. This resolves fully qualified domain names to IP address.Reverse lookupResolves IP addresses to resource names on the network. For more information,<br/>see Reverse lookup (© 2019 Microsoft, available at <a href="https://docs.microsoft.com">https://docs.microsoft.com</a>,<br/>obtained July 29, 2019).

To create a DNS Zone:

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > IP Addresses > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Select the DNS Zones tab, and click Add.

 If using the legacy view, you can also select a server on the DNS Server tab and click Add New > DNS Zone.

3. Select the DNS server to which this zone will be applied, and click Next.

Add DNS Zone				
Choose DNS server	DNS zone & lookup	File name & transfers	Custom Properties	Summary
Choose DNS server Specify the DNS server to DNS server	hat this zone will be ap	plied to.		
ENG-AUS-NET-826		~		
			Cancel	Next >



- 4. Select the zone type.
  - For a Primary zone, you can choose to store the zone in Active Directory if the DNS server is a domain controller.
  - If you select Secondary or Stub, you will need to specify the Master DNS server.

dd DNS Zone						
	Choose DNS server	DNS zone & lookup	File name & transfers	Custom Properties	Summary	
DNS zone & lookup						
Zone type						
O Primary Zone Choose this option if this DNS server is the authoritative	source for all the domains in the zone.					
O Secondary Zone Choose this option if this DNS server is the secondary so	urce for information about this zone. Second	ary zones are read-oni	y and can only be updated th	ough zone transfer. Used to he	ip load balance and provide fault tolerance.	
• Stub Zone Choose this option to provide name resolution in domain	is, for which a local DNS server is not author	itative. The stub zone c	ontains the resource records	needed to identify the authorit	ative DNS servers, including Name Server (NS), Start of Authority (SOA), and g	lue address (A) record:
Add master DNS server						
Order		DNS IP address				
		:				
			No data to show			
	Point to a m	naster DNS server th	hat DNS servers can auto	matically transfer zone file	s from.	
			+) Add a master DNS ser	ver		
< 1 >						0 of 0 10 🗸

- 5. Select the DNS Lookup Type:
  - For Forward lookup, enter the name for this DNS Zone.
  - For Reverse lookup, enter the Network ID or Reverse lookup zone name.
- 6. Click Next.
- 7. Enter the Zone File Name, or use the default. The zone file is used to store zone data on the DNS server computer. The default is the DNS Zone Name with a .dns extension.
- 8. If you want to enable Zone Transfers, check Enable Zone Transfer, and either accept the default transfer interval, or enter the interval required.
  - (i) <u>Zone transfers</u> are used to keep a secondary or stub DNS zone synchronized with its primary DNS server. You can choose to either perform a full transfer at set intervals or use incremental zone transfers to only pulls the zone changes needed to synchronize the copy of the zone with its source.

9. Click the Custom DNS zone transfer interval, and set the time interval if you want to use this method rather than full transfer of the entire zone database.

Add DNS Zon	e				
	Choose DNS server	DNS zone & lookup	File name & transfers	Custom Properties	Summary
File name & t	transfers				
Zone file name					
zone1.dns					
Provide a descriptiv	ve name for the DNS Zone, su	ch as 'example.com.zone'.			
Zone Transfers H Enable 2 Default z Uses the d Custom I 4	nelp provide availability a zone transfer tone transfer interval lefault value from 🗗 DNS Se DNS zone transfer interv Hours 🗸	nd fault tolerance when rver settings page al	resolving name queries	by allowing DNS to be ava	ilable from more than one DNS server.
V Prefer in	cremental DNS Zone trar	nsfer			
				Cancel	K Back Next >

- 10. Click Next.
- 11. Click Manage Custom Properties to open custom properties settings. Add or import any applicable custom properties. Click Next to continue.



12. Review the information, and click Add zone.

Add DNS Zone	9
Choose DNS se	erver DNS zone & lookup File name & transfers Custom Properties Summary
Summary	
DNS server:	ENG-AUS-NET-826
Zone name:	zone1
Zone type:	Primary
Lookup type:	Forward lookup zone
Zone file name:	zone1.dns
Zone transfers:	Zone transfer interval set to 240 minutes Prefer incremental DNS Zone transfer enabled
	Cancel K Back Add zone

### 13. Click Close.

Adding DNS zone	$\overline{\otimes}$
ONS zone was successfully added.	
	Close

## Edit a DNS zone

- 1. Go to My Dashboards > DHCP & DNS Management.
- 2. Click the DNS Zones tab.
- 3. Select a zone to edit.
- 4. Click Edit.

If using the legacy view, click Edit Zone Details.



- 5. Edit the zone type, the DNS file name, and transfer details as required.
- 6. Review the details and click Update Zone.

## DNS secondary zones and zone transfers

DNS zones should be available on more than one DNS server to ensure availability. If a zone is only available on one server, name queries for that zone will fail if the server goes down or is otherwise unreachable. To ensure the information in the secondary zone remains synchronized with the primary zone, you can specify the frequency of polls and use incremental zone transfers.

### Set up a secondary DNS zone

1. From the DHCP & DNS Management screen, select DNS Zones and click Add.

The Add DNS Zone window is displayed.

	Choose DNS server	DNS zone & lookup	File name & transfers	Custom Properties	Summary
	•		0	0	0
IN LINES WHITE		-			
	oose DNS servei	r			
cify the DNS server that this zone will be applied to.	<b>oose DNS serve</b> ccify the DNS server th	r hat this zone will be appl	lied to.		
ecify the DNS server that this zone will be applied to.	noose DNS server ecify the DNS server th	r hat this zone will be appl	ied to.		
becify the DNS server that this zone will be applied to.	noose DNS server ecify the DNS server th IS server	r hat this zone will be appl	ied to.		
Decify the DNS server that this zone will be applied to.  NS server ENG-AUS-NET-441	noose DNS server ecify the DNS server th IS server :NG-AUS-NET-441	r hat this zone will be appl	ied to.		

- 2. Select the server that the secondary DNS Zone (see <u>warning</u> below) should be applied to, and click Next.
- 3. The DNS Zone & Lookup tab is displayed.

😴 SOLARWINDS

d DNS Zone	00 DIAS 20116				
	Choose DNS server	DNS zone & lookup	File name & transfers	Custom Properties	Summary
NS zone & lookup	ı				
NS view					
No DNS view			~		
NS views allow the DNS :	server to respond to queries dif	ferently (for example, an int	ternal or external query).		
ne type					
Primary Zone Choose this option if t	his DNS server is the authoritat	ive source for all the domai	ins in the zone.		
Secondary Zone Choose this option if t balance and provide fi	his DNS server is the secondary ault tolerance.	source for information abo	out this zone. Secondary zone	s are read-only and can only b	e updated through zone transfer. Used to help load
Stub Zone Choose this option to servers, including Nam	provide name resolution in do le Server (NS), Start of Authority	mains, for which a local DN: (SOA), and glue address (A)	S server is not authoritative. ٦ ) records.	The stub zone contains the reso	urce records needed to identify the authoritative DNS
🕀 Add master DNS	server				
Order		DNS	IP address		
		:			
			No data to show		
	Pointt	o a master DNS server t	hat DNS servers can autor	matically transfer zone files	from.
		6	+) Add a master DNS ser	ver	
< 1 >					0 of 0 10 👻
NS lookup type					
no lookap cype					

- 4. Click Add Master DNS Server and enter the URL for the primary DNS zone.
- 5. Select the lookup type for the secondary zone, enter a name for it, and click Next.

The File Name & Transfer tab is displayed.

	Choose DNS server DNS zone & lookup File name & transfers Custom Properties Summary
File nam	e & transfers
Zone file na	me
sec-zoner	dns
Provide a de	cristive pame for the DNE Zope, such as 'example com zope'
	anpuve name for the bits zone, such as example.com.zone.
Zone trans	erpuve name for the biva zone, such as example contizone.
Zone trans Zone Trans	erpuve name for the bits zone, such as example component. 'ers ers help provide availability and fault tolerance when resolving name queries by allowing DNS to be available from more than one
Zone trans Zone Trans	enpuve name for the bird zone, such as example component. ers ers help provide availability and fault tolerance when resolving name queries by allowing DNS to be available from more than one ible zone transfer
Zone trans Zone Trans	iers iers help provide availability and fault tolerance when resolving name queries by allowing DNS to be available from more than one ible zone transfer
Zone trans Zone Trans Cone Trans En Def	iers iers help provide availability and fault tolerance when resolving name queries by allowing DNS to be available from more than one ible zone transfer ult zone transfer interval ult zone transfer interval
Zone trans Zone Trans En Def	iers iers help provide availability and fault tolerance when resolving name queries by allowing DNS to be available from more than one ible zone transfer ult zone transfer interval the default value from C DNS Server settings page
Zone trans Zone Trans En Def Use: Cuse	iers iers help provide availability and fault tolerance when resolving name queries by allowing DNS to be available from more than one ible zone transfer iult zone transfer interval the default value from C DNS Server settings page iom DNS zone transfer interval

- 6. Check the Enable Zone Transfer box, and either select to use the default zone transfer interval (inherited from the primary DNS Server settings) or enter a specific value here.
- 7. Click Manage custom properties to add any custom properties. Click Next.
- 8. Verify the details displayed, and then click Add zone.

😴 SOLARWINDS

Choose DNS server	DNS zone & lookup File name & transfers Custom Properties Summary
	$\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$
Summary	
DNS server:	ENG-AUS-NET-441
View name:	No DNS View
Zone name:	x
Zone type:	Secondary
Lookup type:	Forward lookup zone
Zone file name:	sec-zone1.dns
Master DNS servers:	10.10.10
Zone transfers:	Zone transfer interval set to 240 minutes

The secondary zone is created.



**Warning:** IPAM uses the DNS Zone Transfer mechanism to get information about DNS records. To achieve this on Windows servers, IPAM poller must be added to the list of servers allowed for zone transfer. This results in IPAM automatically switching the Windows Server setting to "Only to following servers" upon every scan. This means only secondary DNS Zones that are on the servers in the "following servers" list are updated.

cvrenergy.com Properties ? >								
General WINS	Start of Authority (SOA Zone Transfers	A) Name Servers Security						
A zone transfer sends a copy of the zone to the servers that request a copy.								
✓ Allow zone trans ○ To any serve	ers: r							
<ul> <li>Only to servers listed on the Name Servers tab</li> <li>Only to the following servers</li> </ul>								
IP Addres	s Se	erver FQDN						
10.1.25.2	16 <u< th=""><td>Unable to resolve&gt;</td><td></td></u<>	Unable to resolve>						
10.1.25.2	29 da	alvsolaw02.enterprise.local						
		Edit						
To specify seco updates, click N	To specify secondary servers to be notified of zone updates, click Notify.							
0	K Cancel	Apply Help						

Therefore you must ensure that the servers on which you want to create Secondary Zones are included in the list.

# Monitor the Infoblox environment

# Requirements

Infoblox servers have to be added as SolarWinds nodes and monitored by SolarWinds (Polling Method cannot be set to External Node).

Infoblox servers have to support wAPI v2.5 (wAPI of Infoblox is backward compatible).

The user needs to have following permissions on Infoblox servers:

- MEMBER\_DHCP\_PROPERTIES
- MEMBER\_DNS\_PROPERTIES

To set permissions:

- 1. Go to the Infoblox Management UI.
- 2. Navigate to Administration > Administration > Permissions.
- 3. Select the user or group used by IPAM to connect with Infoblox.
- 4. Add read only (RO) permissions for:
  - DHCP Permissions/IPAM Permissions (for resource type Network View)
  - DNS Permissions (for resource type DNS View)
| 1   | Dashboards       | Data Mana       | gement                 | Smart Folders        | Grid          | Administra      | tion                  |                     |
|-----|------------------|-----------------|------------------------|----------------------|---------------|-----------------|-----------------------|---------------------|
| Ad  | Iministrators    | Workflow        | Logs                   | Network Views        | Extensible    | e Attributes    | Authentication Se     | rver Groups         |
|     |                  |                 |                        |                      |               |                 |                       |                     |
| led | in the User Prof | ile, but the ti | me zone c              | ould not be detected | . It is curre | ntly set to UTC | C. Please set the tin | ne zone in the User |
|     | Admins Gro       | oups Roles      | Permi                  | ssions Authentica    | tion Policy   | SNMPv3 Us       | ers                   |                     |
|     |                  |                 |                        |                      |               |                 |                       |                     |
|     |                  | Create N        |                        | ermission            |               |                 |                       |                     |
|     | <b>T</b>         | Ulcale I        |                        | 51111351011          |               |                 |                       |                     |
|     | Admins Sho       | w All           |                        |                      | Grou          | ps Show All     |                       |                     |
|     | TestUser         |                 |                        |                      | TestGr        | oup             |                       | A                   |
|     |                  |                 |                        |                      |               |                 |                       |                     |
|     |                  |                 |                        |                      | *             |                 |                       |                     |
| I   | TestGrou         | p Permi         | ssions                 |                      |               |                 |                       |                     |
|     | Quick Filter     | All Cont        | igured Per             | missions 🔻 All Pern  | nission Type  | es 🔻            |                       |                     |
|     | Group/Rol        | le P            | ermission <sup>•</sup> | Туре                 | Res           | ource           |                       | Resource Type       |
|     | TestGroup        | ) D             | HCP Perm               | issions/IPAM Permiss | ions All N    | letwork Views   |                       | Network view        |
|     | TestGroup        | ) D             | NS Permis              | sions                | All E         | NS Views        |                       | DNS View            |

## **Known limitations**

SOLARWINDS

Scanning and monitoring of Infoblox DNS and DHCP server is performed in the same way as with other types of DHCP/DNS servers in IPAM, except that it is read only. This means there is no way to modify any settings on the Infoblox server from the IPAM interface. Therefore the following operations are **not** available:

- Edit DHCP Scope details (name, address range, options)
- Set a lease time for scopes
- · Set reservations for IP address managed by Infoblox directly in IPAM
- Edit details of DNS zones
- · Add new DNS records into DNS zone managed by Infoblox DNS server
- Remove scopes on server when removing server monitored in IPAM
- Remove DNS zones from Infoblox Server when removing DNS server from IPAM
- Monitoring of IPv6 is not available in this release

# Integrate IPAM with VMware

IPAM 4.6 introduced integration with VMware® vRealize Orchestrator (vRO). You can use the vRO plug-in to:

- · Automate the IP address provisioning process
- Automate DNS updates

The plug-in is available from the IPAM Settings page, and includes over a dozen workflows and actions that you can leverage to script or seamlessly integrate with vRealize Automation (vRA).

The IPAM plug-in supports vCenter Server 6.5, vRealize Orchestrator 7.2, and vRealize Automation 7.2 implementations.

For information, see:

Integrate IPAM with VMware vRealize Orchestrator	146
Integrate IPAM with VMware vRealize Automation	

## Integrate IPAM with VMware vRealize Orchestrator

vRealize Orchestrator is a workflow tool that automates tasks in a VMware vSphere infrastructure. You can run or script over a dozen different IPAM actions, such as:

- Add or remove a DNS "A" records for an IP address
- Create or remove an IP address reservation on a DHCP server
- Change IP node status, and more

This version of IP Address Manager is compatible with the following VMware products:

- vCenter Server 6.5
- vRealize Orchestrator 7.2
- vRealize Automation 7.2

Adding IPAM support to vRealize Orchestrator is an easy two-step process:

- 1. Import the VMO package for IPAM (com.solarwinds.ipam.package) into vRealize Orchestrator.
- 2. Run the "Add IPAM host" workflow. The workflow prompts you to enter host properties, proxy settings, and authentication details.

For details, see the following sections.



#### Import the IPAM package into Orchestrator

1. Open the SolarWinds Web Console and choose Settings > All Settings > IPAM Settings.

The IP Address Manager Settings page opens.

Adn	Admin >								
IP Address Manager Settings SolarWinds IP Address Manager: v4.8.0									
ii ii	Manage Subnets & IP Addresses Add, remove, and edit subnets, supernets, and IP addresses.					Getting Started with IP Address Manager Learn more about setting up IPAM to manage your IP Addresses.			
		> Manage Subnets & IP Addresses	<ul> <li>Subnet allocation wizard</li> </ul>	» Add Subnets & IP Addresses		= Getting started witard = Importing Subness from Toolset's IP Address Manager? = Addrice SUMP Createrate?			
	$\overline{\mathbf{O}}$	HCP & DNS Management     Add, remove, and edit DHCP and DNS servers, scopes, and zones.				Cathing			
		<ul> <li>Manage DHCP servers</li> </ul>	» Manage scopes	» Add DHCP server	203	Set global IP Address Manager settings such as retention times, maintenance.			
		<ul> <li>Manage DNS servers</li> </ul>	» Manage zones	* Add DNS server		* Maintenance Settings * System Settings * Manage Roles & Permissions			
	<b>&gt;</b>	Subnet Scans Globally configure subnet scan options &	settings.		R	Manage Credentials Add, remove, and edit credentials used to scan IP Addresses, subnets & scopes.			
		<ul> <li>Manage subnet scan settings</li> </ul>	» View scan job status			* SNMP Credentials * Credentials for scope scans			
C	75 75	VMware vRealize Orchestrator In Creates package with selected workflows - Create package	itegration		t	thwack L is a community site for SolarWinds users: thwack features helpful resources, tips and downloads from over 20,000 network engineers.			

2. In the VMware vRealize Orchestrator Integration section, click Create package.

The console prompts you to download the com.solarwinds.ipam.package file.

3. Download the file to your local system.



- 4. Open the Orchestrator client and import the package:
  - a. Choose the Administer view from the drop-down list on the main menu (see 1 in the following diagram).

VMware vRealize Orchestrator - admin @ 10.199.1.129 - UNLICENSED!											
vmware vRealize d	vmware vRealize C 3.trator Administer I										
	Q Q & 0 Q /										
🛃 🗐 🗈 🧿	(Import package vs Polic)	Templates Actions Configurations Resources Used Plug-Ins Permissions									
Cons vider videral series of the series	Import package_vs Policy     Import package_vs Policy     Name com.vmware.lit     Legal owner VIIIware     Global tags     User tags      Description	remplates Adons Configurations Resources Used Plug-Ins Permissions									

- b. Click the Packages view (see 2 in the above diagram).
- c. Click the Import package icon (see 3 in the above diagram).
- d. Browse to the com.solarwinds.ipam.package file that you downloaded and click Open.
- e. Import the package. Select all of the elements and click Import Selected Elements.

Orchestrator imports the package.

#### Run the Add IPAM host workflow to configure the IPAM host

Before you begin, import the IPAM package into Orchestrator using the steps in the previous section.

1. Choose the Run view from the drop-down list on the Orchestrator client main menu (see 1 in the following diagram).



Viviware vicealize orchestrator - admini @ 10.199.1.129 - Divicice				
vmware vRealize Orchestrator Run				
2	► # G Q /			
_ ▲ 🕹 🗏 💽 🛃	General Inputs Outputs	Schema Presentation Parameters References Workflow Tokens Events Permissions		
	Name ID Version			
HTTP-REST Samples     JDBC	Workflow icon			
▶ 🛄 Locking ▶ 🥅 Mail	Owner	Check signature		
Microsoft     Orchestrator	User permissions	☑ View contents ☑ Add to package ☑ Edit contents		
► PowerShell ► SNMP	Server restart behavior	Resume workflow run		
► SNMP Samples ► SOAP	Resume from failed behavior	System default		
V Solarwinds IPAM	Global tags			
V 🖾 Add IPAM Host	Usertags			
	Description	Adds a REST host to the plug-in's inventory.		
Genter     Vealize Automation	* Attributes			
Workflow documentation	R+ X > 0 0			
	A Name	Туре	Value	Description
	errorCode	string		a# ¥ Error code
	host	string		N <sub>N</sub> ×
	certificateAlias	string	SolarWinds Orion	2 X 5
		sing		<u>в</u> . «

- 2. Click the Workflows view (see number 2 in the diagram).
- 3. In the Orchestrator workflow library, navigate to SolarWinds IPAM > Hosts > Add IPAM Host (see number 3 in the diagram).
- 4. Right-click the Add IPAM Host workflow and select Start workflow.



- 5. Complete the workflow steps:
  - a. Configure the Host Properties screen, and then click Next. The Name should uniquely identify the host.

G Start Workflow : Add IPAM Ho	st	×
1 Add IPAM host 1  Host Properties 1  D Proxy settings 1  C Authentication	Properties to create a new host. The name is the host's unique identifier.  * Name 10.11.78.133  * IPAM host IP adress or domain name 10.11.78.133 Connection timeout (seconds) 30.0 Operation timeout (seconds) 60.0	
	Cancel Back Next Subm	nit

b. (Optional) Configure the Proxy Settings screen, and then click Next.



c. Configure the Authentication screen, and then click Submit. Enter the login credentials for the IPAM host.

🍯 Start Workflow : Add IPAM Ho	G Start Workflow : Add IPAM Host ×								
<ul> <li>✓ 1 Add IPAM host</li> <li>✓ 1a Host Properties</li> <li>✓ 1b Proxy settings</li> <li>1c Authentication</li> </ul>	* Authentication user name test  * Authentication password  **								
	Cancel Back Next Subm	nit							

The IPAM host is now configured.

#### Perform IPAM operations in Orchestrator

Before you begin—Configure the IPAM host using the steps in the previous section.

The following steps demonstrate how to run the Change IP Node Status operation using the Orchestrator client.

- 1. Choose the Run view from the drop-down list on the Orchestrator client main menu.
- 2. Click the Workflows view.
- 3. In the Orchestrator workflow library, navigate to SolarWinds IPAM > Operations.
- 4. Right-click the "Change IP Node status" workflow and select Start workflow.

Locking			(			
▶ 🧰 Mail	Owner		Check signal	ure		
Microsoft		<i>i</i>			~	
Orchestrator	User pe	Start Workflow : C	hange IP Node s	itatus	^	
PowerShell	Converse	Common na	rameters			
SNMP	Serverite	common pa	ameters	* Host		
SNMP Samples	Desures			🕓 Not set		
SOAP	Resume					
Solarwinds IPAM	Global ta			★ IP address		
V Hosts	Cit Suit a					
🔻 😫 Add IPAM Host	Usertag					
Add IPAM Host [8/18/17 16:32]				* Address status		
Add IPAM Host [8/21/17 17:16]				* Address status		
😣 Add IPAM Host [16:35:36]				Available	•	
<ul> <li>Add IPAM Host [16:36:50]</li> </ul>						
Operations	Descript					
Add 'A' record with associated PTR for zone						
Add DNS 'A' record for IP address						
Add PTR To DNS 'A' record						
Second Paddress reservation						
A Change DNS 'A' record for IP address						
🔻 😫 Change IP Node status	👻 Attrik					
🚫 Change IP Node status [8/18/17 16:39]	D					
<ul> <li>Change IP Node status [8/18/17 16:40]</li> </ul>	H+ X					
Sector Create Custom Property	a Nam					
Create IP Address reservation on DHCP server	🗖 requ					
E Create new subnet	🗖 payl					
Delete custom property						
E Finish IP address reservation						
Get 'A' record an PTR records for DNS zone						
🔁 Get first available IP Address	1					
Remove DNS 'A' record for IP address						
Remove IP address reservation from DHCP ser						
Reorder custom property				Cancel	Submit	
Start IP address reservation						
Update custom property						

5. Enter values in the fields and click Submit.



G Start Workflow : Change IP Node	status	×
Common parameters	* Host	
	10.11.78.133: nttps://10.11.78.133:17778/	
	* IP address	
	Reserved	T
	Cancel	Submit

IPAM completes the operation.



## Integrate IPAM with VMware vRealize Automation

See <u>Integrate SolarWinds IPAM with VMware vRealize Orchestrator</u> for information on importing the IPAM package into Orchestrator.



#### vRealize Automation integration

IPAM Endpoint type

- 1. Open Design > Workflows > Library > SolarWinds > vRAM, and run Register IPAM Endpoint.
- 2. Enter the vRA URL, and administrator credentials, and then click Next and Submit.

😳 Yilliawe ofteniae Goolaesiaeice - Ialacae 🖗 ore-bibliki.aa - (Decee)		1013010 -		- 0 X
vmword vRealize Orchestrator One				0   * (10 *   100 +   100 +   04 familie
	FaGe/			Register #300 Endpoint
🗑 🖲 🖻 🗟 🕁	Garanal Inputs Outputs Scheme Presentation Par	unates Releances Visities Totars Events Permissio	-	
<ul> <li>Butters of the initialities</li> <li>Bu</li></ul>	Contractions: Trappet Red Lage ✓ 1 total ✓ 1 total ✓ 3 PPAM Endpoint Type	In the subject energy registered with the offic accurf failer for ⓐ '14a ∰ 15a # (R. Menode 16a for ' = -0.4 Advected for Operand advected for Operand advected for Operand = -0.4 Advected for Operand =		

The Endpoint type is registered as shown below.





Register IPAM endpoint

- 1. Log in into vRA.
- 2. Go to Infrastructure > Endpoints > Endpoints.

<b>vm</b> ware vRealize Automation										
Home Catalog	Items R	equests	Inbox	Design	Administration	Infrastructure				
Recent Events			Recent View recen	Events t events for y	our infrastructure r	esources.				
Managed Machines	s		Severity			Time				
Endpoints		>	AI			×				
Reservations		>	<ul> <li>Inform</li> <li>Inform</li> </ul>	ation ation		1/17/2018 9: 1/17/2018 9:				
Compute Resource	es	>		ation		1/17/2018 9:				
Administration		>	Inform	ation		1/17/2018 9:0				
Monitoring		>	Inform	ation		1/12/2018 4:				
			Inform Inform	ation		1/12/2018 4:1				

Home	Catalog	Items	Requests	Inbox	Design	Administration	Infrastructure	Containers
∢ Infra	structure			Endpoir Manage en	nts dpoints that	represent infrastruct	ure sources or exte	rnal systems.
Age	nts			+ New -	🥒 Edit	🗙 Delete   🎲 Ac	ions •	
			_	Name 🔺			Platform Type	
Fab	ric Groups			lab-mad-v	csa60.lab.tex	t	vSphere (vCen	ler)
End	points							
_								



3. Click New > IPAM > SolarWinds.

< Infrastructure	Endpoints Manage endpoints that re	epresent	t infrastructure sources or external systems.	
Agents	💠 New 👻 🥒 Edit 👘	X Dela	is   🤃 Actions •	
	Cloud	•	Platform Type	Addres
Fabric Groups	IPAM	Þ	SolarWinds re (vCenter)	https://
	Management	P T	owary/inds	10.199
Endpoints	Network and Securi	ty≱	vRealize Orchestrator	https://
	Orchestration	Þ		
	Storage	Þ		
	Virtual	÷.		
		_		

4. Enter name, IP address (or hostname of installed IPAM), and SolarWinds credentials.

< Intrastructure	Edit Endpoint - SolarWinds	
	Manage a specific endpoint.	
Agents	General Properties	
Fabric Groups	*Name: SolarWinds	
	Description:	
Endpoints		
	Address: 10.199.24.16	
	User name: admin	
	Password:	

5. The following properties can be defined for endpoint connection on the Properties tab.

Property	Default value
connectionTimeout	30
operationTimeout	60
proxyHost	
proxyPort	0

6. Click OK.



#### Network profiles and reservations

1. Go to Infrastructure > Reservations > Network Profiles, and then New > External to create anew network profile.

< Infrastructure	Network Profiles
	Network profiles specify network settings in reservations and b
Key Pairs	🕂 New 🗸 🥒 Edit 👔 Copy 🛛 🗙 Delete
Decenveliene	External
Reservations	NAT Deuted
Reservation Policies	Routed
Network Profiles	
Placement Policy	

- 2. Define Name, and select SolarWinds in the IPAM endpoint combo box.
- 3. Open Network Ranges tab, and select Address Space,

General Network Ranges	•					
Address space:	Any 🗸 🔂					
	Name -	Description				
💠 Add 🛛 🗙 Remove	Discovered Subnets		-			
Start IP ▲	Group 1	my folder 1				
	Group 10	my folder 10				
No items exist.	Group 100	my folder 100				
	Group 11	my folder 11				
	Group 12	my folder 12				
	Group 13	my folder 13				
	Group 14	my folder 14				
	Group 15	my folder 15				
	Group 16	my folder 16				
	Group 17	my folder 17				
	Group 18	mv folder 18	*			
	4 4 Page 1 of 4	Displaying 1 - 30 o	of 105			



4. Click Add, and click the search button to display available the subnets in IPAM group.

Beneral Network Ranges					
Address space: Test0roupM	~ 0				
🔶 Add 🛛 🕱 Remove					
Statte *	END P	Name		Description	n
No. Seven dolat					
	Select Network Range				
	Search	9	0		
	Start IP +	End P	Name	Description	
	10.196.1.0	10.196.1.255	10.195.1.0 (24		
	10.199.3.0	10.199.2.1	10.189.3.0/31		
	2 10.199.24.0	10.159.24.255	10.189.24.0 /24		
	4 4   Page 1 at	비논비율			Displaying 1 - 9 of 9
					OK Cancel

- 5. Select the subnets, click OK, and click OK again to save the profile.
- 6. Go to Reservations, edit existing one and assign just created Network Profile for Network Adapter on Network tab.



#### Blueprint

1. Open Design > Blueprints and New.

Home	Catalog	tens	Requests	Introx Design	Administration	Infestructure	Containers		
BI	ueprints			Blueprints Create and manage b	lueprinta. Publish e blu	eprint to allow and	iffects to reuse your blueprint, i	and to allow catalog a	dministrators to antitle usars to request your bluepri
50	ativare Compor	nents		🕂 New 🥖 Edit	🔁 Copy 🛛 Publish	🖰 Urpablish	X Delete		Test -
308	185		>	New Blueprint			Description		(N) 0
				General NSX	Settings Properties "Narre: "ID: Description: Doploymont limit: Leose (days): *Archive (days):	WS2K12R29 WS2K12R29 Assign a permanent Minimum	. unique ID to this blueprint.	] <b>0</b>  0	0 0 0 K Cancel

- 2. Define Nameand the other.parameters, and click OK.
- 3. Add vSphere (vCenter) Machine and Existing Network components to Canvas.

SOLARWINDS

#### 4. Click Network component, and select Network Profile

	SolarWindsProfile1 ×
SolarWindsProfile1	
General IP Ranges	
*Network profile	SolarWinds - Profile1
Description	
IPAM endpoint	SolarWinds
Gateway	



- 5. Click on the added machine component and:
  - On the Properties tab, add SolarWinds-Default properties.

		Existing_verwork_1					
				▼ WS2K12R2	×		
1	Add	Property Groups				×	
		Name + Container host properties with certificate authe Container host properties with user/password Salar/Winds-Detault TestGroup1	Description Sample property group with custom propertie Sample property group with custom propertie	es for container host using	certificate a user and pa	nd private key f	
Property Groups Custom Properts							
Nordate to display	14	4   Page   1 of 1   2 2   02			OK	Cancel	

• On the Network tab, add network and select used profile,

	SolarWindsProfile1 ×
SolarWindsProfile1	
General IP Ranges	
* Network profile:	SolarWinds - Profile1
Description:	
IPAM endpoint:	SolarWinds
Gataway	
Gateway.	

6. Click Save.



#### Publish the blueprint

1. Open Administration - Catalog Management - Services and click New.

* Name:	SolarWinds IPAM					
Description:						
lcon:	Browse					
Preview:						
Status:	Active	v				
Hours:	✓ UTC-06:00 to	v	UTC-06:00	0		
Owner:		×	0			
Support Team:	Search	9	0			
Change Window:	~	UTC-	05:00 to		UTC-06:0/	

- 2. Enter details and click OK.
- 3. Open Administration Catalog Management Entitlements and click New.
- 4. Define name.

Edit Entitlement		
General Items & Approvals		
*Name:	SolarWindsIPAM	
Description:		
Expiration Date:	· · ·	
* Status:	Active 🗸	0



5. On the next tab add Services, and the blueprintyou created.

revisience. To apply other	DOTE NEW RECORD DISAGED DOTE NOT	and the second sec	the exception of actions and bit	ueprint components, entit	led items appea	er in the service catalog. Actions	are available only after it	INTEL AND
	ant areas of garantianos, you	can configure in	dividual services, items, and ac	tons with different appre-	alpencies. You	can change the approval police	is associated with emitted	t itemo at a
Search		0	Search		0	Actions only apply to terns?	defined in this entitlement	t
Name	Approval Policy		Name	Approval Policy		Search		
SolarVinda IPAM	(7074)	•	Add IPAM Host	(none)	•	Kane	Approval Palicy	
vRA Configuration	(7074)	•	Change IP Node status	(none)	•	Associate Reating IP Mac	(none)	
			Get first available IP Address	(none)	•	Cascel Reconfigure (Mach	(none)	
			W52K12R2	(none)	•	Change Lease (Deployment)	(none)	
						Charge Leane (Machine)	(none)	
						Change NAT Rules (Netv	(none)	
						Change Ovmer (Deployme	(none)	
						Change Security (Deploy	(none)	
						Correct to Rende Corso	(none)	
						Connect using Console TL	(mone)	

6. In the Catalog Items grid, select the blueprint you created, and activate it.

Catalog Items									
Catalog items are published blueprints, XaaS blueprints, and software components. These blueprints and components are published on the Design ta in the service catalog, add the item to a service and then entitle the catalog item to a business group. Software components can also be entitled to entitle blueprint. If you unpublish a catalog item, it will no longer be available in the service catalog.									
Advanced Search									
View Details 💽 Acti	vale								
Name +	Status	Source	Ŧ	Resource Type	Scope	Appears in Catalog			
Add IPAM Host	Published	XaaS			Shared	Yes			
Change IP Node status	Published	XaaS			Shared	Yes			
Docker - CoreOS	Published	Blueprint Service		Deployment	Shared	Yes			
Docker - PhotonOS	Published	Blueprint Service		Deployment	Shared	Yes			
Get first available IP Ad	Published	XaaS			Shared	Yes			
Create Machin	Retired	Blueprint Service		Deployment	Shared	No			
vSphere Initial Setup	Published	XaaS			Shared	Yes			
W52K12R2	Published	Blueprint Service		Deployment	Shared	Yes			



New machine

1. Click Catalog > SolarWinds IPAM, and then click Request on WS2K12R2 (the blueprint just created).

	Catalog	ens Reque	dis Index	Design	Administration	Inhastructure	Containers		
Service	Catalog								
frouise the o	atalog for serv	ices you need.							
( <b>22</b> )	Services		SolarWi	inds IPAM (	3)				
-			0						
1	SolarWinds IP	АМ	e C	Add IPA Adds a R	AM Host EST host to the plug-	O O	Get first available IP Add New workfow	W\$2K12R2	
				in's inven	tory			_	
	RA Configurat	ion	0		Request		Request		Request

2. Select the machine to create.

vmware vRealize Autom	nation	
Home Catalog Items Reque	sts Inbox Design Administration	Inflastructure Containers
New Request		
THE R. L.	4 🔝 W52812R2	vSphere (vCenter) Machine: WS2K12R2
11.11	W\$2K12R2	General Storage Properties
		Instances: 1
W52K12R2		CPUs: 1
		Memory (MB): 4096
		Storage (GB): 40
		Description:



3. Define DNS properties if needed.

# 🔣 W52K12R2	vSphere (vCenter) Machine: WS2K12R2							
WS2K12R2	General Storage Properties							
	💠 New 🥒 Ecit 🛛 🗙 Delete							
	Name	Value						
	PrimaryONS							
	DNSSearchSuffixes							
	SecondaryDNS							
	SecondaryWINS							
	Gateway							
	PrimaryWINS							
	DNSSuffx							

4. Click Submit. The VM will appear in the Items grid.

vmw	are	vRea	lize <sup>.</sup> A	utomat	tion			Ê.						Welcome	titurer.	Prefe
Hara	• e	atolog	tomo	Requests	INDEX	Dosign	Administration	Infrastructuro	Containors							
	Deploym	neets			Deployr	nents					Owned by: Me	* Overan			۹,	B
-					Select an its	en type from	the monu on the le	ft to view your pre	visioned items.	Use the Actions me	inu to manage your its	inu.				
	Machines				New D	otatio 📄 N	Inv Parent Defails	🔂 View Compone	nin   🔅 Acti	- 878						
					Name			Des	cription	Over	Expense (North L.,	Component	IP Address	Espires	Destroy	ûn
					# 🔜 W3	001282-7119	3447			bita awagi ab an	Not applicable			blever	Never	
						onfigure 800	12	Pro	islaned by VMvs	istuar@ist.no	Not Applicable	W52K12R2	10.198.24.11	Never	Never	
						iolarWindsPi	uffiet .			interengi ab en	Not Applicable			Never	Never	



# Amazon Route 53 and Azure DNS monitoring

From version 4.7, IPAM enables you to monitor cloud DNS Zones and records from Amazon Route 53 and Azure DNS services. DNS zones from multiple cloud accounts for both services are displayed in a centralized view.

Add a Cloud account with DNS scanning in IPAM	
Manage IPAM settings for a cloud account	
Add new Cloud DNS zones to IPAM	
Monitoring Cloud DNS zones and records in IPAM	
Monitor cloud instances and VMs	

For more information on setting up cloud instances, please see <u>Manage your cloud infrastructure</u> in the SolarWinds section of this documentation for further information, or visit the Amazon and Azure support sites.

## Add a Cloud account with DNS scanning in IPAM

1. Go to My Dashboards > Home > Cloud.

The Cloud dashboard is displayed.

2. Click on the Cloud Infrastructure Monitoring Settings link in the upper right corner.

The Cloud Infrastructure page is displayed.



3. Click Add Cloud Account.

The Add Cloud Account page is displayed.

(1) The stages shown, starting with Cloud Service Provider and ending with IPAM Settings, will depend on the SolarWinds products you have installed.

Admin   Cloud Infrastructure Monitoring   Manage Cloud Account   Add Cloud Account		
Add Cloud Account		? Help
Cloud Service Provider      Cloud Settings	— O API Polling Options — O IPAM Settings	
Choose Your Cloud S Configuring a cloud account allows <b>Orion to monitor your cloud servers us</b> visibility doesn't use Orion licenses for the cloud servers. For full details on perf <b>Orion nodes</b> , which will d	Service Provider sing data from the cloud provider's respective API. This basic cloud formance and availability, you can optionally manage cloud servers as consume licenses.	
web services	Microsoft Azure	
Amazon AWS	Microsoft Azure	
	CONTINUE > CAN	NCEL

4. Select the cloud service provider for which you want to add an account, and click Continue.

(i) The Continue button will change to Monitor AWS or Monitor Azure depending on your selection.

- 5. Enter the Cloud account display name.
- 6. Enter the Credentials for the account. For information finding these for both AWS and Azure accounts, see Find cloud account credentials.
- 7. Complete the other stages as relevant to your account.

See Manage your cloud infrastructure for more information.

Edit IPAM Settings Of Amazo	onTest		
<ul> <li>Enable DNS scanning</li> <li>Scan for new Zones and settings</li> </ul>	4 V A Hours V		
		SAVE	CANCEL



8. At the IPAM Settings stage, select Enable DNS scanning, specify the scan time interval, and click Finish.

The Manage Cloud Accounts page is displayed, showing the account you added, showing the access key ID.

Manage Cloud Accounts				(?) Help
<ul> <li>➢ FILTERS</li> <li>➢ Cloud Service Provider (1)</li> <li>➢ Auto Monitoring On/Off (1)</li> </ul>	ADD CLOUD ACCOUNT	Search		Q
	AmazonTest	AWS	AKIAJD2OLVN76I2DLXXA access key id	auto monitoring
	< 1 > 1-1 of 1			

## Manage IPAM settings for a cloud account

1. Go to My Dashboards > Cloud.

The Cloud dashboard is displayed.

2. Click on the Cloud Infrastructure Monitoring Settings link in the upper right corner.

The Cloud Infrastructure page is displayed.



3. Click Manage Cloud Accounts.

The Manage Cloud Accounts page is displayed. Here you can enable or disable auto-monitoring.

 	-	-	-	-	-	_	 _	 	_	-	-	_	_	_	-	 	 -	 -	 

Manage Cloud Accounts				(?) Help
<ul> <li>FILTERS</li></ul>	ADD CLOUD ACCOUNT	Search		Q
	AmazonTest	AWS	AKIAJD2OLVN76I2DLXXA access key id	auto monitoring
	< 1 > 1-1 of 1			

4. Select the required account or accounts.

When you select accounts, a number of options are displayed.

Manage Cloud Accounts			(?) Help
∀ FILTERS 🖉 ≪	$\mathcal{O}$ Edit IPAM SETTINGS $\mathcal{O}$ Edit properties		1 item(s) selected. Clear selection
<ul> <li>Cloud Service Provider (1)</li> <li>Auto Monitoring On/Off (1)</li> </ul>	Vame V	Search	Q
	AmazonTest	AWS AKIAJD2OLVN76i2DLXXA access key id	auto monitoring
	< 1 > 1-1 of 1		

5. Click Edit IPAM Settings.

Here you can:

- Enable/disable DNS scanning
- Change the scanning interval

Edit IPAM Settings Of <b>Amazo</b>	nTest				
<ul> <li>Enable DNS scanning</li> <li>Scan for new Zones and settings</li> </ul>	4 🗸 ۸ Hou	ours V			
				SAVE	CANCEL

### Add new Cloud DNS zones to IPAM

You cannot add new Cloud DNS zones/records to a Cloud account from within IPAM. You need to add these to the account via the Azure or AWS web site. See the documentation for the appropriate service for further information:

- Amazon Route 53 (external link)
- Microsoft Azure (external link)

## Monitoring Cloud DNS zones and records in IPAM

From the release of IPAM 4.7, you can view your Amazon Route 53 and Azure DNS zones and corresponding records.

1. Go to My Dashboards > Cloud.

The Cloud dashboard is displayed.

2. Click on the Cloud DNS Zones icon 🖪 in the left column.

(1) If the icon is not displayed, check that IPAM 4.7 or higher is installed.

The Cloud DNS Zones page is displayed.

Cloud DNS Zor	nes					
FILTERS «	↑ Domain Name 🗸		Search			Q
<ul> <li>Provider (1)</li> </ul>	test-z.com.	Public	/hostedzone/ZIGKW2K3B58W7	AmazonTest	AWS	>
Zone Type (2)	super-puper-longdnszonenametotestsidebar-layout.kaboom.	Public	/hostedzone/Z3HFWD37E59QQE	AmazonTest	AWS	>
	roman-test.com.	Private	/hostedzone/Z29YGHI3SIVO7X	AmazonTest	AWS	>
	1 > 1-3 of 3					

- 3. Here you can:
  - Filter the list of DNS Zones being monitored by account, provider or zone type (public or private).
  - List zones by domain name, type, account or provider.



• See further information by clicking the blue chevron

Cloud DNS Zones						
	*	↑ Domain Name 🗸		Search.	test-z.com.	۲
<ul> <li>Provider (1)</li> </ul>		test-z.com.	Public	/hostedzone/	Туре	Public
Zone Type (2)		super-puper-longdnszonenametotestsidebar- layout.kaboom.	Public	/hostedzone/	Record Set Count	6
		roman-test.com.	Private	/hostedzone/	Comment	updated-comment4
		< 1 > 1-3 of 3			Hosted Zone ID	/hostedzone/ZIGKW2K3B58W7
					Name Servers	ns-1155.awsdns-16.org. ns-1790.awsdns-31.co.uk. ns-509.awsdns-63.com. ns-713.awsdns-25.net.,ns-1155.awsdns- 16.org.
					Tags	

4. Click a domain name to display the Cloud DNS Records page for that domain.

Cloud DNS Re	ecords - Test-Z.Com				
<pre> Filters ≪ </pre>	↑ Record Name 🗸		Search		Q
Type (4)	hellotest.test-z.com.	А	20.20.20.20	60	>
	newsupertest.test-z.com.	A	10.10.10.20	60	>
	ronan.test-z.com.	NS	ns-1155.awsdns-16.org.	60	>
	test-z.com.	NS	ns-1155.awsdns-16.org. ns-1790.awsdns-31.co.uk. ns-509.awsdns-63.com. ns-713.awsdns-25.net.	300	>
	test-z.com.	SOA	ns-1155.awsdns-16.org. awsdns- hostmaster.amazon.com. 1 7200 900 1209600 86400	60	>
	updated.test-z.com.	TXT	ns-1155.awsdns-16.org. ns-1790.awsdns-31.co.uk.	300	>
	< 1 > 1-6 of 6				

- 5. Here you can:
  - Filter the list of DNS Records being monitored by type.
  - List records by record name, type, value or TTL.



• View further information by clicking the blue chevron.

Cloud DNS Records - Tes	t-Z.Com.					
FILTERS	★ Record Name		Search.	hellotest.test	-z.com.	۲
r lyhe (*)	hellotest.test-z.com.	A	20.20.20.20	Туре	A	
	newsupertest.test-z.com.	A	10.10.10.20	Alias	No	
	ronan.test-z.com.	NS	1155	TTL (Seconds)	60	
	test-z.com.	NS	ns-1155.awsons-16.org.	Value	20.20.20.20	
			ns-1155.awsdns-16.org. ns-1790.awsdns-31.co.uk.	Routing Policy	Failover	
			ns-509.awsdns-63.com. ns-713.awsdns-25.net.	Failover	PRIMARY	
	test-z.com.	SOA		Set ID	hellotest-Primary	
			ns-1155.awsdns-16.org. awsdn hostmaster.amazon.com. 1 72 900 1209600 86400	Associate with Health Check	Yes	
	updated.test-z.com.	ТХТ	ns-1155.awsdns-16.org. ns-1790.awsdns-31.co.uk.	Health Check ID	cebd8543-2655-43a2-842f- f3f3a2281118	
	< 1 > 1-6 of 6					

## Monitor cloud instances and VMs

Cloud service platforms provide on-demand computing resources to third-party organizations over the Internet. As organizations migrate systems to the cloud to distribute workloads, deliver applications, and expand resources for growing databases, infrastructure can become difficult to map in sprawling environments, leading to lost resources or hidden instances.

To support hybrid environments, the IP Address Manager can retrieve data from the <u>Amazon Web</u> <u>Services (AWS)</u> and <u>Microsoft Azure</u> cloud service platforms to track availability, performance, applications, and more for instances and VMs. Examples of data gathered include status, storage capacity, memory usage, and IP addresses.

Using the Cloud Infrastructure Monitoring feature with IP Address Manager products such as <u>SolarWinds SAM</u> and <u>VMAN</u> provides several benefits, including the ability to:

- Manage hybrid environment metrics and status through a single console. Displaying onpremises, virtual, and cloud systems together helps you compare performance, locate bottlenecks, and better plan capacity and resource allocation.
- Track end user and business context for performance by using SolarWinds SAM to gather extended metrics that provide visibility into cloud and on-premises systems.
- Dynamically monitor cloud instances and VMs to better handle resource churn during provisioning. Instances and VMs can be removed as needed to support expanding environments or performance peaks.
- Determine usage trends and troubleshoot issues. Captured metrics over time provide historical references to track trends for resource consumption (such as CPU spikes and lulls) and help determine when those trends become issues.



 Use cloud monitoring data, SolarWinds alerts, and the <u>Performance Analysis dashboard</u> (<u>PerfStack</u>) to review historical performance and pinpoint when significant usage changes began to trigger issues.

To enhance cloud monitoring, configure cloud instances/VMs as <u>managed nodes</u> in the IP Address Manager so that you can:

- Poll specific metrics beyond the basic metrics gathered by cloud service APIs, including <u>OS</u>, memory, and other detailed metrics retrieved by SAM application monitors.
- Use <u>SAM application monitors and templates</u> to poll applications deployed in the cloud.
- Display cloud instance/VM details in <u>AppStack</u> for quick troubleshooting across your environment.
- Develop and deploy custom script monitors for PowerShell, Nagios, Linux/UNIX, and Windows.
- Assign Custom Properties to nodes.

To learn more, see Manage a cloud instance/VM as an IP Address Manager node.

#### Cloud monitoring recommendations

For optimal performance, SolarWinds recommends the following limits for cloud monitoring:

- Up to 10 cloud service accounts
- Up to 1,000 instances/VMs to monitor
- Up to 1,000 volumes to monitor
- Up to 1,000 instances/VMs managed as nodes
- Up to 1,000 SolarWinds agents deployed on managed nodes

Before exceeding recommended limits, consider the impact on polling load, <u>costs incurred due to API</u> request overages, and the possible need to expand hardware, CPU resources, memory, etc.

### Cloud monitoring requirements

Several IP Address Manager products support the Cloud Infrastructure Monitoring feature, including <u>SolarWinds SAM</u> and <u>VMAN</u>.

Functionality	Requirements
Monitor AWS cloud metrics	An <u>AWS account configured for cloud monitoring</u> . You will need the following <u>credentials</u> to add an account to the IP Address Manager or <u>deploy SolarWinds agents</u> to instances:
	Access Key ID

Secret Access Key



Functionality	Requirements
Monitor Azure cloud metrics	An <u>Azure account configured for cloud monitoring</u> . You will need the following <u>credentials</u> to add an account to the IP Address Manager or <u>deploy SolarWinds agents</u> to VMs:
	<ul> <li>Subscription ID</li> <li>Tenant/Directory ID</li> <li>Client/Application ID</li> </ul>
	Application Secret Key
	(i) The IP Address Manager supports VMs deployed via the <u>Azure</u> <u>Resource Manager</u> but not VMs created using a <u>classic</u> <u>deployment model</u> .

 The SolarWinds server must be <u>configured to communicate with public services</u> to collect data from cloud service APIs. Use the default setting – public – in community strings for polled devices to allow read access.

After you <u>configure a cloud account</u> and <u>add an initial cloud account</u> to the IP Address Manager, cloud services start polling for metrics, as displayed on the Cloud Summary page in the SolarWinds Platform Web Console. See <u>Explore cloud instances and VMs on the Cloud Summary page</u>.

### Cloud metrics vs. OS metrics

Cloud services APIs, such as the <u>Amazon CloudWatch API</u> and <u>Azure Rest API</u>, capture basic metric data for instances/VMs and volumes so you can allocate resources as needed, such as partial CPU processing and disk space across multiple instances/VMs. These resources can change through direct interactions and automation. For example, when the <u>Amazon EC2 web service</u> reports data to the IP Address Manager, it calculates the percentage of assigned resources shared between instances.

Cloud metrics differ with OS metrics due to the fluid nature of cloud computing. OS metrics directly capture values from the core system, not the assigned amounts. This data does not calculate shared resources or other users attached to the instances and volumes. This data directly displays the actual usage at a polled point in time.

Both cloud metrics and OS metrics provide insight into potential and actual issues with performance and resources. Metrics report vastly different information to the cloud and OS based on allocated resources and metric calculations.



*CPU steal* is an example of cloud vs. OS metrics. When CPU usage and metrics spike in a cloud environment, multiple processes and instances/VMs in the cloud may access the CPU as multiple owners. Typically, OS metric spikes tend to look like noisy neighbors. The cloud metric data better represents the data as shared resources usage across multiple owners with metrics broken down by owner.

To better define resource usage and alerts, SAM and integrated VMAN display cloud instance/VM metrics throughout all cloud resources in SolarWinds Platform Web Console views, resources, hover-over data, and reports. Cloud metrics, including calculated health status, CPU load, and IOPS data, are used to apply global cloud thresholds that trigger alerts and status changes. For a list of cloud metrics gathered by cloud service APIs, see the table included in the Edit global thresholds for cloud monitoring topic.

For <u>instances and VMs managed as nodes</u>, the IP Address Manager pulls specific OS data for memory and provides additional data through SolarWinds agent, WMI, and SNMP polling methods.



# Use the SWIS API to perform IPAM operations

You can use Windows PowerShell and the SolarWinds SDK to manage IP addresses in IPAM. The IPAM-specific API fields are documented on the IPAM API wiki page in the SolarWinds SDK.

() Currently IPAM API does not support parallel execution of tasks.

Supported operations:

- · Get the first available IP address for a specified subnet
- Change IP node status
- Start, finish, and cancel an IP address reservation
- Create a new subnet
- Add a DNS 'A' record for an IP address
- Change a DNS 'A' record for an IP address
- Remove a DNS 'A' record for an IP address
- Add an 'A' record with an associated PTR for a zone
- Add PTR to a DNS 'A' record
- Create an IP address reservation on a DHCP server
- Remove an IP address reservation from a DHCP server
- Get an 'A' recorde and PTR records for a DNS zone
- Create a custom property
- Update a custom property
- Reorder a custom property
- Delete a custom property
- CRUD operations for subnets
- CRUD operations for IP addresses

#### **Pre-requisites**

- Verify that at least PowerShell 4.0 is installed:
  - Open PowerShell and enter \$PSVersionTable.PSVersion to determine the PowerShell engine version.
  - The major version should be 4 or higher.
- Install the SolarWinds SDK if you have not yet installed it:
  - <u>Download the OrionSDK.msi installer</u> from GitHub.
  - Run the installer and complete the setup wizard.
- Learn the basics of using the SolarWinds SDK in PowerShell.



- In PowerShell, add the SwisSnapin if you have not yet added it:
  - Add the SwisSnapin by running the Add-PSSnapin cmdlet: Add-PSSnapin -Name SwisSnapin

For more information, open the <u>SolarWinds SDK PowerShell page</u> and follow the steps in the "Using SwisSnapin" section.

## Get started with the API

This section provides instructions on how to use Windows PowerShell, although you can also use Python OrionSDK to call to the API.

1. Open Windows PowerShell ISE to test the example(s).

Enter Windows-key+R to open the Run dialog.

Type powershell ise and press OK.

2. In PowerShell ISE, create a SWIS connection object using the Connect-Swis cmdlet.

For details, open the <u>SolarWinds SDK PowerShell page</u> on GitHub and follow the steps in the "Cmdlets Provided by SwisSnapin" section.

3. In PowerShell ISE, enter the IPAM API cmdlets and run them. See the <u>IPAM API</u> reference for documentation.

# **IPAM status icons**

In IPAM, network components are represented by colored icons indicating the extent to which each component is used, as shown in the following table.

lcon	Component	Status	Status Description
	Group	Used (Closed)	The group is closed, but it contains at least one other component (group, subnet, or supernet).
<b>-</b>	Group	Used (Opened)	The group is open, and it contains at least one other component (group, subnet, or supernet).
Green	IP Address	Available	All addresses in defined groups, subnets, and supernets are, by default, considered Available unless they are typically reserved, as in the case of the network and broadcast addresses, or until they are otherwise assigned.
Purple	IP Address	Reserved	Typically, in subnets defined to contain more than two IP addresses, the smallest address—the network address—identifies the subnet to the rest of the network and the largest address—the broadcast address—is used to communicate to all addresses within the subnet. Both addresses are considered to be Reserved for a defined subnet.



lcon	Component	Status	Status Description
⊡ <b>∎</b> Cyan	IP Address	Transient	Addresses that are dynamically assigned to devices that may power on and off regularly or that may enter and exit the network frequently are designated as Transient.
Pellow	IP Address	Used	Any address currently assigned to a monitored device is considered Used.
 Grey	IP Address	API Blocked	This indicates that the status is being modified by the API
& <u>∧</u> Red	Subnet	Critical	At least 80 percent of all possible addresses in the subnet are designated as Used.
Ճ <u>⊾</u> Yellow	Subnet	Warning	60 to 80 percent of all possible addresses in the subnet are designated as Used.
å● Green	Subnet	Good	Less than 60 percent of all possible subnet addresses are designated as Used.
<ul><li>→</li><li>Red</li></ul>	Supernet	Critical	At least 80 percent of all possible addresses in the supernet are designated as Used.
<ul><li>△●</li><li>Yellow</li></ul>	Supernet	Warning	60 to 80 percent of all possible addresses in the supernet are designated as Used.
<b>○●</b> Green	Supernet	Good	Less than 60 percent of all possible addresses in the supernet are designated as Used.
Sreen	DHCP Scope	Good	Less than 60 percent of all possible addresses in the Scope are designated as Used.



lcon	Component	Status	Status Description
- <b>≅</b> ⊗	DHCP Scope	Unreachable	DNS Scope is unreachable.
Grey			